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Stakeholder Engagement Channels Concerns, Aspirations, & 
Perspectives

Relevant Material Matters

Local Communities •	 Charitable contributions
•	 CSR events
•	 Website and social media

•	 Community outreach •	 Local communities

Media •	 Websites and social media •	 Corporate governance
•	 Regulatory compliance
•	 Economic performance
•	 Product delivery

•	 Product quality
•	 Global supply and demand 

dynamics
•	 Regulatory engagement and 

compliance
•	 CG and anti-corruption

	 IPB’s Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) 2024

IPB held its 30th AGM in FY2024, serving as a key platform for transparent and accountable business operations to 
stakeholders. During the AGM, the Group presented its annual reports and audited financial statements, offering 
insights into its performance over the past year. The meeting also included the re-election of several directors, 
ensuring leadership continuity in line with corporate governance practices.

In line with its commitments to stakeholder engagement, the AGM proceedings were made accessible through 
publication on IPB’s official website. This practice reinforces its dedication to keeping shareholders and the wider 
public informed about the Group’s strategic direction, governance matters, and overall performance. It also reflects 
IPB’s broader approach to maintaining open communication channels and building long-term stakeholder trust.
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Relevant Material Topics:
•	 Corporate Governance 

and Anti-Corruption
•	 Data Privacy and Security

UN SDG Linkage:
	 SDG 10: Reduced Inequalities
	 Promote inclusive and equitable corporate governance practices by ensuring fair 

treatment, equal opportunities, and non-discriminatory policies

	 SDG 16: Peace, Justice, and Strong Institutions
	 Contribute to the rule of law and protection of fundamental freedoms by 

ensuring accountability and transparency

IPB's Aim: 
Building a culture of trust and accountability by upholding high standards of integrity and ethics in all business dealings, in line 
with legal and regulatory requirements

GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES

IPB is dedicated to upholding the highest governance standards in promoting ethical business practices across all operations in line 
with the Group’s strict adherence to local laws and regulations. This dedication fosters a culture of integrity and responsibility that 
builds trust with stakeholders and contributes to the long-term success of IPB.

To maintain transparency and accountability, the Group consistently engages with internal and external stakeholders, fostering 
a culture of integrity, responsibility, and ethical decision-making. This collaborative approach is guided by a comprehensive 
governance framework that ensures strategic oversight, drives informed decision-making and enables effective risk management.

By embedding these principles into its operations, IPB not only fortifies its governance foundation but also creates a robust 
platform to advance the Group’s sustainability priorities, achieve long-term business objectives, and deliver enduring value to all 
stakeholders.

Achievements in FY2024:

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE 

IPB implements a top-down approach in its approach to governance, overseen by the Group’s Board. Directly under them, the 
Sustainability Department takes charge of implementing any sustainability-related initiatives.

This division is led by the Executive Director, who manages and implements the sustainability initiatives throughout all levels of 
IPB’s operations, including maintaining regulatory compliance by bodies such as the MSPO and Sabah Forestry Department. 
The Sustainability Manager then communicates sustainability strategies with all other departments and business units while also 
ensuring that the created targets and KPIs are aligned and feasible for operational staff to execute.

Zero
cases of corruption  
or bribery

95 hours
of anti-corruption  
training provided

Successful receipt of 
Compliance Certificate 
from Sabah Forestry 
Department
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Board of 
directors

Executive Director
(Head of Sustainability)

Sustainability
Manager

Senior 
Manager -
Administration 
& Planting

Assistant 
Manager -
Internal Audit

Manager -
Finance

Assistant 
Manager -
Procurement

Senior 
Assistant 
Manager -
Project Engineer 
Survey & Mapping

Manager - 
QA 
(Sustainability
Coordinator & PIC - 
Legal & Social Issue)

Manager -
Human 
Resource

Assistant Manager -
OSH Officer 

(PIC - Environment
& OSH)

Assistant Manager -
QA (Estate 

Sustainability 
Coordinator)

Executive - Mill QA 
(Mill Sustainability 

Coordinator & PIC - 
OSH)

Estate Dresser -
Central Clinic

PIC OSH
(Assistant Managers)

6 Estates

PIC Environment
(Assistant Managers 

& Engineer)
6 Estates & 1 Mill

PIC Social
(Assistant Managers 

& Engineer)
6 Estates & 1 Mill

Document 
Controller Clerk

6 Estates

The various departments implement sustainability directives from the Sustainability Department and regularly update their 
progress and issues to both the Sustainability Head and Manager. This provides IPB with a clear communicational hierarchy that 
allows the Board to create and communicate sustainability initiatives effectively while reviewing strategies as necessary.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

IPB takes matters of corruption and bribery very seriously 
and does not tolerate any such activities within the Group’s 
operations and supply chains. To solidify and enforce this 
commitment, the Group has established the Anti-Bribery 
and Corruption (“ABC”) Policy that details the protocols and 
mechanisms used to prevent corruption and bribery within the 
Group.

For more information on this Policy, see: https://innoprise.com.
my/governance/

To ensure that the ABC practices are implemented throughout 
the Group, IPB communicates the ABC Policy during the 
employee’s induction process. The ABC Policy is also 
communicated through periodic training, attended by a total 
of 173 employees throughout FY2024. Training aside, 99% of 
IPB’s employees have also signed their acknowledgement of 
the Group’s ABC Policy by the end of FY2024.

As IPB only began tracking anti-corruption data in the previous 
financial year, the Group only has historical data for two years 
and will fully establish the three-year benchmark by FY2025.

Percentage of Employees Who Received Anti-Corruption 
Training over Total Workforce by Employment Category in 
FY2024

Employment Category Percentage of Employees Who 
Received Training (%)

FY2023 FY2024

Management 83.33 73.68

Executive 66.67 93.48

Non-Executive 12.71 86.26

General Worker 0.00 0.36

	 “Strengthening ethical leadership! Our managerial team participated in the Anti-Bribery & Corruption Training held on 17 th July 2024”

	 Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Internal Training for all Field Executives and 
Staffs

In events where employees suspect that acts of corruption are in 
place, employees are encouraged to report such activities even 
if they prove detrimental to the Group’s financial performance 
and brand image. Employees will be protected from any 
penalisation for reporting acts of corruption and bribery as 
outlined in the ABC Policy, showing the Group’s dedication 
to eradicating corruption. Through this stringent approach, 
the Group faced 0 cases of corruption or bribery throughout 
FY2024.

CODE OF ETHICS

To ensure that the highest levels of IPB’s governance continue 
to operate with integrity and accountability, the Group has 
formed the Code of Ethics for Company Directors (“Code”) 
that guides the expected ethical behaviour of the Directors of 
IPB and its subsidiaries. By enforcing the Code to the Directors, 
IPB’s management can lead the Group by example and develop 
a culture of high integrity and professionalism.

Beyond serving as a behavioural guide, the Code defines 
the relationship of the Board with the rest of the Group, 
which includes stakeholders, creditors, and customers. This 
also extends to the Group’s supply chain, who are expected 
to conduct their business with the utmost dedication to 
accountability and transparency.
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WHISTLE BLOWING POLICY

In IPB’s efforts to uphold ethical conduct within its operations, 
the Group has created a Whistle Blowing Policy that provides 
individuals, whether internal or external, with a safe and 
anonymous channel to report any actions of potential or real 
wrongdoing. This channel is created in accordance with the 
Whistleblower Protection Act 2010, ensuring that the identities 
of whistle blowers are kept to the highest confidentiality to 
protect them from any possible acts of retribution from other 
individuals or groups. For more information on the Policy, 
readers may refer to the following link: https://innoprise.com.
my/governance/

Individuals seeking to report acts of wrongdoing can directly 
file a report to the line manager. However, individuals reluctant 
to do so can also file a report directly to the Audit Committee 
Chairman. Reportable acts may include, but are not limited to 
bribery and corruption, abuse of power, non-compliance with 
the Group’s established policies, and other activities that may 
lead to reputational damage or financial loss of IPB.

Upon receiving a report, IPB’s management will conduct 
a series of investigations to collect evidence to determine 
whether there are sufficient grounds for concern. U pon the 
identification of misconduct, the issue will be escalated to the 
Audit Committee to collect further evidence. The results of 
the investigation will be compiled into a report and sent to the 
Board, where a decision on the required course of action is 
made. After deliberation, the Board will issue a penalty ranging 
from suspension up to dismissal and potential involvement of 
the relevant authorities, in accordance with the scale of the 
misconduct. Throughout FY2024, the Group received 0 whistle 
blowing reports.

ETHICAL SUPPLY CHAIN

While IPB upholds the highest standards in maintaining the 
integrity of its operations, the Group expects suppliers and 
business associates to maintain an equivalent level of integrity 
and accountability throughout all business dealings. The Group 
requires all suppliers and contractors that conduct business 
with IPB to provide any form of endorsement to the ABC Policy. 
Suppliers who fail to comply with this requirement will be given a 
warning and any further escalation will lead to IPB terminating 
contracts with non-complying parties. If necessary, the 
Group may also report non-complying parties to the relevant 
authorities.

Through this implementation, the Group has obtained an ABC 
endorsement from 95% of its supply chain. 

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

IPB takes a proactive approach to regulatory compliance, 
ensuring that all operations are aligned with the standards and 
expectations set by relevant authorities such as the Malaysian 
Sustainable Palm Oil (“MSPO”) certification scheme and the 
Sabah Forestry Department. Recognising that non-compliance 
could result in operational disruptions or legal penalties, the 
Group has tasked its Quality Assurance Department with 
closely monitoring daily operations and updating internal 
control systems to reflect current regulatory requirements. This 
department, along with all employees, is expected to identify 
and report any potential non-compliance issues, reinforcing 
a culture of accountability and vigilance. Ongoing reminders 
and training sessions further embed this compliance-focused 
mindset throughout the organisation. As a result of these 
efforts, there were no reported cases of non-compliance in 
FY2024.

In the same year, IPB strengthened its regulatory compliance 
efforts by achieving key milestones aligned with the 
requirements set by the Sabah Forestry Department. One of 
the major accomplishments was the successful receipt of the 
Compliance Certificate, which necessitated meeting 100% 
of the silviculture targets across a 500-hectare area. This 
milestone not only demonstrates IPB’s dedication to sustainable 
forestry practices but also affirms its alignment with regulatory 
benchmarks essential for uninterrupted operations.

Operationally, the Group met its FFB production targets for 
FY2024, which reflects both effective plantation management 
and adherence to sustainable agriculture standards. 

DATA PRIVACY AND SECURITY

The Group takes matters of data privacy and security seriously 
and implements safeguards and measures to ensure that 
the data of its staff, operations, and customers are always 
protected. This commitment is aligned with the Personal Data 
Protection Act (“PDPA”) 2010 and ensures that the Group only 
collects relevant data with the explicit consent of the respective 
data owners. Collected data will not be sold or made available 
to any third party except when summoned to be used as 
evidence to resolve issues by enforcement authorities.

The Group also has internal control systems that ensure data 
remains secure. The Group’s cybersecurity measures are 
implemented by the IT Department, which is also responsible 
for monitoring the Group’s digital network and conducting 
routine maintenance to safeguard servers from unrestricted 
access. Throughout FY2024, there were 0 instances of data 
breaches.
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Relevant Material Topics:
•	 Product Quality
•	 Product Traceability

UN SDG Linkage:
	 SDG 8: Decent Work and Economic Growth
	 Promote sustained economic growth and ensure productive employment through 

ethical business practices

	 SDG 9: Industry, Innovation, and Infrastructure
	 Invest in resilient infrastructure and drive innovation to enhance productivity and 

competitiveness

	 SDG 12: Responsible Consumption and Production
	 Support responsible value creation by integrating environmental and social 

sustainability initiatives throughout core operations

IPB's Aim: 
Promoting sustainable agricultural practices to ensure long-term economic viability and growth for stakeholders

ECONOMIC DISCLOSURES

Sustainability and continued economic growth are deeply interconnected. By embedding sustainable practices into the IPB’s 
economic strategies, the Group not only enhances its financial performance but also contributes to long-term environmental and 
social well-being.

Sustainable initiatives drive innovation and operational efficiency. At the same time, these efforts have economic impacts, 
resulting in cost savings, improved market competitiveness, and strengthened stakeholder relationships. The Group’s dedication 
to sustainability also fosters resilience and adaptability to an ever-changing economic landscape. By proactively identifying and 
addressing environmental and social challenges, IPB mitigates risks and identifies new growth opportunities. 

By integrating sustainability into its core business model, the Group ensures long-term economic success while contributing 
to national and global efforts towards a more sustainable future. This holistic approach underscores the belief that economic 
prosperity and sustainability are equally important to IPB’s corporate strategy.

Achievements in FY2024:

Overall increase  
in FFB, CPO, and PK production

DIRECT AND INDIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACTS

IPB’s daily business operations create direct economic value, consisting of revenues and profits. This revenue generation contributes 
to the local and national economy by creating more jobs, prioritising local suppliers, and paying taxes to the government. Since 
most of IPB’s operations are located in rural areas, the Group’s operations help develop communities located far from economic 
centres.

The Group also fosters indirect economic value through strategic investments in its stakeholders and partners, promoting ethical 
and sustainable business practices throughout its supply chain and business relationships.

100%  
local procurement



35Annual Report 2024

Sustainability

sustainability 
report 

Economic Value FY2022 
(RM ’million)

FY2023 
(RM ’million)

FY2024 
(RM ’million)

Revenue 269.20 223.64 276.82

Total Monetary 
Value/Spend on 
Procurement

81.12 93.85 70.64

Total Payout 
in Salaries and 
Benefits

12.79 12.69 13.99

Taxes Paid to 
Government

65.43 47.16 56.20

Dividend Returns 
to Shareholders

105.35 45.49 57.70

Economic Value 
Retained (Profit 
After Tax)

82.62* 52.39* 86.55

*	 FY2022 and F Y2023 figures for Economic Value Retained have been 
restated for a more accurate and comprehensive representation of financial 
performance

For a more detailed snapshot of the Group’s FY2024 financial 
performance, readers can refer to the Management Discussion 
and Analysis section of the AR2024.

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

IPB’s primary source of revenue is from the production of oil 
palm products which includes FFB, CPO, and PK. 

Operational 
Performance

FY2022 
(MT)

FY2023 
(MT)

FY2024 
(MT)

Production:

FFB 245,189 271,493 275,124

CPO 48,196 54,467 58,881

PK 8,126 9,430 10,056

In FY2024, IPB recorded an increase in FFB production, 
primarily driven by the maturation of oil palm trees into their 
prime-yielding age. As these trees transition from the young 
mature stage to peak productivity, they naturally produce a 
higher volume of FFB. Despite the planted area remaining 
unchanged at 12,246 hectares, the improved age profile of the 
plantations has contributed to enhanced overall yield.

This increase in FF B production has directly influenced the 
growth in crude palm oil (“CPO”) and palm kernel (“PK”) output. 
Higher FFB availability, coupled with improved Oil Extraction 
Rate (“OER”) and Kernel Extraction Rate (“KER”), has also 
resulted in greater efficiency in extracting palm oil and kernel 
from harvested fruits. 

Notably, there has been no reallocation of land resources for 
alternative agricultural purposes. The increase in production 
is solely attributed to biological yield improvements and 
better extraction efficiencies, reinforcing IPB’s commitment 
to sustainable plantation management and operational 
excellence.

ECONOMIC VALUE VS ENVIRONMENTAL FOOTPRINT

As the Group’s primary source of revenue is centred around 
cultivating oil palm crops and processing CPO, most of the 
metrics used to calculate and track resource intensity are 
focused on these products. Water consumption is linked with the 
total plantation area as most of the Group’s water consumption 
is utilised for irrigation, whereas electricity is mostly sourced 
from the Group’s biomass power plant and biogas generators, 
converting oil palm waste to energy.

Details of the Group’s environmental footprint relative to its 
economic output are shown below:

Absolute Figures FY2022 FY2023 FY2024

Total Electricity 
Generated (kWh)

7,758,710 8,479,000 8,562,350

Total Electricity 
Intensity (kWh/
MT product)

25.73* 25.28* 24.89

Total Water 
Consumption 
(Megalitre)

2,284.20 2,386.99 1,995.15

Total Water 
Intensity 
(Megalitre/ha)

0.19 0.19 0.16

*	 Electricity intensity for FY2022 and FY2023 have been restated for more 
accurate and comprehensive representation of performance

More information on the Group’s absolute environmental 
performance, strategies, and plans are provided in the 
Environmental Disclosures section.

FY2024FY2022 FY2023

11,985
12,190

12,246

Total Active Cultivation Area (ha)
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LOCAL PROCUREMENT AND SUPPLY CHAINS

In line with IPB’s dedication to generating economic value, the Group’s prioritisation of local suppliers minimises transportation 
distances, providing the Group with greater oversight and control over its supply chains, reducing transportation expenses and the 
waste and pollution associated with logistics.

Outside of the Group’s operations, prioritising local procurement supports the local economy and advances the socio-economic 
development of rural communities. This has a cascading effect that leads to the economic growth of the region, resulting in higher 
tax contributions to the country.

In IPB’s commitment to local procurement, the Group has maintained a completely local supplier base, totalling 345 suppliers for 
IPB and its subsidiaries.

PRODUCT QUALITY AND SATISFACTION

To nurture the growing demand for IPB’s products, the Group takes measures to ensure that all goods are produced with the 
highest quality. IPB enforces strict quality requirements on its CPO to provide customers with the best possible oil palm products 
available in the market. This quality control process is overseen by a dedicated lab team that operates within the Group’s mill, 
which is responsible for conducting meticulous quality checks throughout the entire production line to ensure that no sub-standard 
product will be shipped further downstream.

Despite its best efforts, the Group received four quality-related complaints from customers in FY2024. These complaints were 
primarily associated with Moisture and Impurity (“M&I”) levels that did not meet the specified compliance thresholds set by the 
customers. In order to preserve customer trust and ensure compliance with contractual obligations, a quality claim will be initiated 
for products that fail to meet the specified standards.
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Relevant Material Topics:
•	 Waste and Effluents
•	 Water Consumption

UN SDG Linkage:
	 SDG 7: Affordable and Clean Energy
	 Enhance energy efficiency and drive renewable energy adoption to reduce 

reliance on fossil fuels

	 SDG 12: Responsible Consumption and Production
	 Adopt environmentally sustainable practices that support responsible 

consumption and production, ensuring a balanced and healthy ecosystem

	 SDG 13: Climate Action
	 Implement sustainable agricultural practices and reduce carbon emissions to 

mitigate climate change impacts

	 SDG 15: Life on Land
	 Promote biodiversity conservation and sustainable land management practices 

to protect natural ecosystems and prevent deforestation

IPB's Aim: 
Fostering a holistic approach to environmental stewardship that promotes responsible resource consumption and minimises 
environmental harm

ENVIRONMENTAL DISCLOSURES

IPB’s commitment to environmental stewardship is a fundamental aspect of its business strategy. The Group recognises that its 
operations have a significant impact on the natural environment and is committed to minimising this impact through comprehensive 
and proactive management practices.

Moving beyond compliance, IPB aims to set industry standards by adopting best practices in environmental conservation and 
management. Through collaboration with key stakeholders, the Group works towards a shared goal of ecological balance and 
sustainability.

Ultimately, this dedication is driven by a commitment to create lasting value for all stakeholders. As such, by embracing a culture of 
environmental sustainability, the Group demonstrates its commitment to protecting the environment and promoting sustainable 
development.

Achievements in FY2024:

101,462 Trees
planted

Conducted climate scenario 
planning as part of a
Climate Risk  
Assessment Workshop

Approximately 11%
reduction in effluent  
discharge

95%
renewable energy  
consumption

More than 80% 
of automotive  
waste recycled

654 hectares
of Laran tree planting
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ENERGY CONSUMPTION

IPB recognises the significance of energy consumption in its 
contribution to climate change. The Group has constantly 
monitored and made improvements on the energy consumption 
of its operations, launching initiatives such as continuous 
renewable energy adoption that have led to IPB becoming one 
of the most environmentally sustainable oil palm organisations 
in Malaysia.

DIRECT ENERGY CONSUMPTION

IPB’s direct energy consumption is primarily driven by diesel 
fuel, which powers the Group’s equipment and vehicles. 
However, diesel consumption has been reduced since the 
adoption of the Group’s biogas engines, which provide a more 
efficient and lower-emission alternative. However, IPB still relies 
on a backup diesel generator to handle surge power demand 
during the start-up and shutdown of the milling process as well 
as for emergency use in case there are issues with the biogas 
generator. This ensures there is a consistent supply of power 
that allows the Group to operate normally despite certain 
circumstances. 

*	 Data from FY2022 and FY2023 have been restated

Diesel consumption figures for FY2022 and FY2023 have been 
restated to include usage by lorries under the Group’s Central 
Operation Unit, which was previously not captured. This 
adjustment allows for a more accurate and comprehensive 
picture of IPB’s energy consumption.

INDIRECT ENERGY CONSUMPTION

Indirect energy consumption is contributed by the Group’s 
electricity consumption throughout its operations. As IPB 
operates far from urban centres, the Group has limited access 
to the national electric grid and relies on renewable energy 

FY2024FY2022* FY2023*

Total Diesel Consumption ('million litres)

FY2024FY2022* FY2023*

7.76

8.48
8.56

Total Electricity Consumption (GWh)

generated from its biomass plants, biogas generators, and 
solar panels to power its operations. This reduces energy 
losses and additional costs from the development of long 
transmission lines while simultaneously reducing the Group’s 
Scope 2 emissions.

The main source of renewable energy in IPB is its 1.8 MW biomass 
power plant and 850 kW biogas generators that convert 
biomass and biomethane into usable energy. These are used to 
power the Group’s mill, as well as generate electricity for three 
estates, namely Imbak, Gunung Rara, and Labau. In FY2024, 
IPB’s renewable energy coverage was further increased with 
energy demands for the Luasong estate also being supplied 
by this renewable energy source. In addition to reducing 
transmission costs from sourcing energy from the national grid, 
the utilisation of bioenergy sources allows the Group to convert 
its oil palm waste into energy (more information in the Waste 
Management section). 

Additionally, solar energy is also used to supplement the 
Group’s electricity consumption, primarily for streetlights along 
the main roads of its estates.

*	 Data from FY2022 and FY2023 have been restated due to double 
entry in the previous disclosure 

Throughout the past three years, the Group’s renewable 
energy capacity was consistently above 90%, showing that 
the large majority of IPB’s electricity consumption comes from 
renewable sources. However, in FY2024, there was a slight dip 
to 95.37% following the temporary breakdown of the biogas 
engine. During this period, the Group had to rely on its backup 
diesel generators to ensure a consistent electricity supply 
throughout the mill and estates.

1.66

2.08 2.03
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FY2024FY2022* FY2023*

98.01%
97.89%

95.37%

Renewable Energy Capacity

FY2024FY2022* FY2023*

28,498.28
31,181.99

32,321.37

Total Energy Consumption (GJ)

*	 Data from FY2022 and FY2023 have been recalculated due to 
double entry in the previous disclosure

The Group’s total energy consumption, consisting of both fuel 
and electricity throughout FY2024, was measured at 32,321.37 
GJ (or 8,978.99 MW). This energy data has been following an 
upward trend in line with IPB’s growth, with overall energy 
consumption slightly increasing year-on-year – from 28,498.28 
GJ (7,916.18 MW) and 31,181.99 GJ (8,661.43 MW) in FY2022 and 
FY2023 respectively.

*	 Data from FY2022 and FY2023 have been recalculated to match  
the restated fuel and electricity figures

CLIMATE CHANGE AND EMISSIONS

Climate change is a pressing global issue, affecting not only the 
Group’s operations but the livelihoods of communities, with far-
reaching impacts on the ability of flora and fauna to survive. 

Thus, IPB is committed to minimising the impacts of climate 
change while simultaneously building the Group’s climate 
resilience.

As a player in the oil palm industry, IPB recognises that its 
operations are commonly perceived by stakeholders as a 
significant contributor to climate change. To mitigate this, 
the Group has enlisted numerous initiatives ranging from 
the utilisation of renewable energy to more sector-specific 
initiatives that align with the best management practices 
outlined by regulatory bodies such as the MSPO.

TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED DISCLOSURE 
STATEMENT

In its dedication to improving the Group’s climate resilience, 
IPB has incorporated the Task Force on Climate-Related 
Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”) to identify, strategise, and 
address the climate risks encountered by the Group. The TCFD 
disclosures, developed during the Climate Risk Assessment 
(“CRA”) workshop in September 2024, enable IPB to prepare 
for potential physical and transition risks associated with 
climate change. This includes damages and disruptions caused 
by natural disasters, as well as the increasing regulatory 
compliance and market transition towards sustainable and 
low-carbon products.
 

Governance

IPB’s structured organisational framework enables effective 
governance over climate-related matters, led by the Group’s 
Sustainability Manager and overseen by the Executive Director, 
who also serves as the Head of Sustainability. In this leadership 
capacity, the Executive Director ensures that the Board of 
Directors (“Board”) is regularly informed of key developments, 
including climate-related risks, opportunities, and strategic 
initiatives. This high-level engagement facilitates timely, 
informed decision-making that aligns with both the Group’s 
operational needs and its broader sustainability goals. 

	 Management-level employees attending a CRA workshop, facilitated by 
external ESG Consultants
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At the operational level, the Sustainability Manager works closely with departmental representatives to maintain ongoing 
communication and coordination on climate-related strategies. A key player in this process is the Quality Assurance Department, 
which acts as a vital link between the management and ground-level operations. This department ensures that strategic directives 
from the Board are effectively implemented while facilitating upward reporting of climate performance metrics and potential 
climate risks. This systematic flow of information reinforces accountability and enhances the Group’s ability to respond to emerging 
climate challenges.

By adopting this robust top-down governance structure, IPB is well-positioned not only to mitigate the potential impacts of climate 
change but also to capitalise on related opportunities. This approach strengthens both the Group’s operational resilience and its 
long-term sustainability performance.

For more information on IPB’s sustainability and climate governance structure, please refer to the sustainability governance 
structure section.

Strategy

Through the CRA workshop conducted in FY2024, IPB was able to identify the following climate risks likelihood of occurring over 
the short- (“S”), medium- (“M”), and long-term (“L”) time horizons, along with planned mitigation measures to prevent or control 
these issues, as shown below:

Physical Risks

Identified Risks Likelihood of 
Occurrence

Mitigation Measures

S M L

Extreme Precipitation and Flooding

Inventory damage •	 Infrastructure: Conduct regular maintenance 
of drainage systems to prevent flooding and 
disease.

•	 Natural Barriers: Creating forests to slow runoff, 
mitigating flash flood impacts.

•	 Early Warning: Advanced weather monitoring 
systems to provide timely flood warnings.

•	 Financial Protection: Expanded insurance to 
cover flood-related losses and damages.

Accommodation (housing) floods

Supply chain delays and disruptions

Road blockage (supply chain and workforce)

Propagation of diseases (e.g., dengue fever)

Rising Global Temperatures

Overheating equipment •	 Soil Management: Mulching and efficient water 
use to optimise soil regulation.

•	 Worker Management: Reduced work hours 
during extreme heat and schedule optimisation.

•	 Fire Prevention: Improve monitoring systems 
and fire watch rotations to minimise fire risk.

Palm tree health deterioration

Increased occupational safety and health (“OSH”) 
issues

Lower productivity from heat exposure

Increased fire hazard

Drought and Water Scarcity

Water unavailability for irrigation •	 Water Conservation: Tracking consumption, 
efficient milling, and water recycling to minimise 
demand.

•	 Effluent Management: POME irrigation to 
recycle nutrients and reduce waste; Maintain 
regulatory compliance.

Water stress on crops

Higher procurement costs for alternative water 
sourcing
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Transition Risks

Identified Risks Likelihood of 
Occurrence

Mitigation Measures

S M L

Evolving Climate Regulations

Increasing requirement for green-certified 
suppliers

•	 Industrial Tree Plantations (“ITPs”): Continues 
expansion of ITPs for carbon sequestration. 
Planned creation of carbon credit facility.

•	 Deforestation Prevention: Protect the forest 
and HCV species and targeting 90% vacant land 
restoration goal for reforestation.

•	 Stakeholder Collaboration: Engagement with 
government agencies to stay updated with 
regulatory developments.

Carbon taxation

Higher interest rates due to climate risks

Fines for non-compliance

Delays in regulatory approvals

Rising Global Temperatures

Higher capital expenditures for low-carbon 
equipment

•	 Renewable Energy: Continuous implementation 
of biofuel from palm waste and solar panels.

•	 Technology Integration: Optimise irrigation 
schedules with soil moisture sensors and weather 
stations optimise irrigation.

Increased costs and downtime for training

Beyond these identified risks and mitigation measures, the Group has created several additional initiatives aiming to remediate 
and prepare for the impact of climate change:

The Group has also estimated the financial and operational impacts of climate change based on the Representative Concentration 
Pathway (“RCP”) 4.5 introduced by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (“IPCC”), and the Net Zero 2050 scenario by 
the Network for Greening the Financial System (“NGFS”) recognised by financial institutions and national banks across the globe. 
The details of both scenarios are shown below:

Aligned practices as recommended 
by MSPO certification standards in 
oil palm best practices.

RCP 4.5: A moderate emissions scenario with some 
mitigation efforts by entities across the globe, but not 
enough to achieve net zero carbon. This pathway projects 
2-3°C warming by 2100 and carries moderate to high 
physical risks.

NGFS Net Zero 2050: A scenario aiming to limit global 
warming to 1.5°C by achieving net-zero CO2 emissions 
around 2050 through strict climate policies and 
technological advancements. This projection presents high 
transition risks.

Invested in more research in  
climate-resilient oil palm cultivars 
that can withstand climate change 
and other changes in weather 
patterns.

Developed Disaster Preparedness 
Plans and Emergency Response 
strategies to equip employees with 
climate-mitigation techniques to 
better control the impacts of extreme 
weather events such as wildfires and 
floods.
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IPB estimated the financial and operational impacts under both scenarios, with various increments in risk severity to better equip 
the Group’s emergency response plans and build its climate resilience before such incidents occur. These incidents and response 
plans are shown below:

Scenarios Severity Level Impacts and Mitigation

Yield Reduction 
(Drought/Scarcity)

5% Negligible impact
•	 Lower revenue is within the expected range of productivity decrease.
•	 Basic preventative measures like rainwater harvesting and water conservation 

pits can improve resilience.
•	 Alternate water sources can be secured.

10% Material impact on financial performance
•	 This may hamper the ability to fulfil customer demands and lower profit margins.
•	 Crops may experience water stress.
•	 Alternate water sources and more workers are needed.

15% Significant impact
•	 Drastic measures are needed to ensure operations can resume while minimising 
financial losses.

•	 Thorough preparation of watering equipment and securing alternate water 
sources is needed.

•	 Lower overall yield productivity but prevent the death of crops.
•	 May impact customer confidence and reduce mill efficiency.
•	 Expenditures will need to be minimised by reducing staff and fertiliser dosage.
•	 May require communication of the inability to fulfil demands, impacting brand 

image and trust.

Supply Chain 
Disruptions

1-5 days 
delays

Negligible impact
•	 Harvested fruit can still be processed without considerable loss in quality.
•	 Fruit spoilage begins, reducing oil quality.
•	 Losses are manageable and have a negligible impact on finances.
•	 Preventative measures like road infrastructure maintenance and contacting 

suppliers to manage delays are important.

5-10 days 
delays

Considerable impact on financial performance
•	 Increased FFA generation leads to oil yield losses during processing.
•	 Reduces the quantity of processable fruit, lowering revenue and impacting 

production targets.
•	 Upstream disruptions may cause shortages in critical supplies.
•	 Material shortages can impact crop growth and yield long-term.

10+ days 
delays

Significant impact
•	 High likelihood of rotting fruits and a potential halt in mill operations due to full 

storage tanks.
•	 Plantations may halt operations, leading to significant financial and yield losses.
•	 May disrupt the downstream value chain, eroding customer trust.
•	 Immediate measures to alleviate the issue are needed, including fixing road 

blockages.
•	 Alternate roads may be needed, shifting priority to meeting customer demands 
at the cost of financial losses.

•	 Sourcing from diverse suppliers becomes an operational necessity.
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Scenarios Severity Level Impacts and Mitigation

Worker Productivity 
Reduction

1-10 days/
month

Negligible to Minimal Impact
•	 Lost man-hours can be covered by other workers.
•	 Shortage of manpower needed to operate the plantation and mills.
•	 Increased temperature will accelerate spoilage.
•	 Reallocating more workers and providing more breaks can resolve this.

10-15 days/
month

Moderate Impact
•	 Losses from unprocessed crops and lower oil production will lower revenue.
•	 Workers may become less vigilant, increasing the risk of accidents and quality 

issues.
•	 More frequent rotations are needed, decreasing productivity, which increases 

downtime for transportation and travelling.
•	 Reallocating staff and providing medical equipment to address health issues may 

be needed.
•	 Adjusting work schedules to less physically demanding tasks and offering 

incentives may help.

15+ days/
month

Significant Impact on operations
•	 FFB spoilage will occur more frequently.
•	 Mills will operate very inefficiently, causing a loss of revenue.
•	 Higher expenditures to reduce heat-related injuries.
•	 Lower worker morale, reducing productivity further.
•	 Closure of sites, causing long-term yield losses and costs for cleanup.
•	 This may cause difficulty in meeting production targets and impacting customer 

demand, which will impact the company’s brand image.

Risk Management

IPB adopts a structured and pragmatic approach to managing climate-related risks, particularly those that may carry financial 
or operational implications. Aligned with the Group’s governance framework, climate risks are first identified and monitored at 
the operational level by the Sustainability Manager in close collaboration with representatives from various departments. These 
assessments are grounded in real-time, on-the-ground insights, allowing for the timely detection of emerging issues.

When a climate risk is assessed to be material in nature, it is escalated to the Executive Director, who functions as the Head of 
Sustainability. The Executive Director ensures that the matter is deliberated with the same level of scrutiny as other strategic or 
financial risks. If necessary, the issue is further escalated to the Board for high-level strategic direction and decision-making.

This tiered escalation mechanism enables the Group to proactively address climate risks through targeted, department-
led initiatives. These initiatives are designed to mitigate the impact of the risk while preserving operational continuity. Once 
implemented, each initiative is closely monitored, with progress and effectiveness periodically reported back to management. This 
feedback loop allows IPB to evaluate whether further intervention is required, ensuring a responsive and adaptive approach to 
climate risk management across all levels of the organisation.
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Metrics and Targets

The Group accounts for Scope One, Two, and Three 
greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions as part of its monitoring 
and commitment to reducing climate change impacts. The 
calculated emissions from each GHG scope are defined below:

In FY2024, IPB’s Scope One carbon emissions were calculated 
by the Roundtable for Sustainable Palm Oil (“RSPO”) GHG 
Calculator. Scope Three emissions were calculated based on 
the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (“IPCC”) Sixth 
Assessment Report (“AR6”) and the GHG Protocol.

EMISSIONS PERFORMANCE

IPB’s emissions have mostly remained unchanged compared to 
the previous year. The Group’s fleet of vehicles and equipment 
are mostly unchanged, resulting in minor changes in Scope 
One emissions. Meanwhile, Scope Two emissions remain non-
existent as the Group sources all of its electricity needs from 
renewable energy sources. 

Contributed by fuel consumption and combustion 
from the Group’s vehicle fleet and fuel reserves. This 
encapsulates all vehicles, which includes FFB and CPO-
carrying vehicles and others used for maintenance and 
harvesting work.

Scope 1 Emissions

Derived from electricity sourced from the national grid. 
As IPB’s mill and estates are located in rural areas, the 
Group has opted for a 100% renewable electricity source, 
obtaining all its electricity demands from the Group’s in-
house bioenergy sources and solar panels. This results in 
the Group emitting no Scope 2 emissions.

Scope 2 Emissions

Calculated from employee commuting and business 
travel.

Scope 3 Emissions

FY2024FY2022 FY2023

0.46

0.22
0.24

Gross Global Scope 1 Emissions (tCO2e)

Business Travel

2.4 7.9

Employee Commuting

0.2

258.25

Gross Global Scope Three Emissions (tCO2e)

Note: Emissions calculations were from the RSPO Palm GHG Calculator

In FY2024, IPB expanded the scope of its carbon reporting to 
further enhance the comprehensiveness of its GHG emissions 
accounting. This included the incorporation of additional 
Scope Three emission sources, specifically focusing on fuel 
consumption from employees travelling between the Group’s 
headquarters in Tawau and its various estate locations. As a 
result of this expanded coverage, there was a notable increase 
in reported Scope Three emissions, particularly in the Employee 
Commuting category. 

FY2023 FY2024
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EMISSIONS MANAGEMENT

IPB has continued to engage in initiatives that address climate 
change, aligning its efforts with the commitments made by the 
Malaysian government. This is evident through the Group’s 
allocation of resources towards minimising emissions and 
enhancing operational efficiency. A key outcome of these 
financial investments is the development of a biogas generator 
that captures methane emissions from palm oil mill effluent 
(“POME”) and converts them into electricity. This move has 
enabled the Group to fully offset its Scope Two emissions by 
eliminating its dependence on the national electricity grid.

Additionally, the biogas system has significantly reduced Scope 
One emissions as well by displacing the use of diesel-powered 
generators, which are now only used during emergency 
scenarios such as scheduled maintenance or temporary 
outages. This shift underscores IPB’s proactive approach to 
integrating low-carbon technologies into core operations and 
reducing its overall emissions footprint.

Human capital development also plays a vital role in IPB's 
emission management strategy. The Group actively provides 
training and capacity-building programmes to ensure that 
employees across all levels understand and support the Group’s 
sustainability objectives. This creates a workforce that is 
both aware and capable of driving emissions reduction and 
environmental compliance.

Beyond reducing emissions, IPB is also committed to enhancing 
carbon sequestration through reforestation efforts. U nder 
this initiative, Laran trees (Neolamarckia cadamba) are 
systematically planted in suitable vacant areas throughout its 
estates, with the long-term goal of planting 1 million trees by 
FY2026. These trees not only absorb atmospheric carbon but 
also contribute to soil regeneration and ecosystem restoration.

To address non-carbon airborne emissions, IPB has also 
implemented Vortex Separation (“VORSEP”) technology in 
its boilers. This advanced system utilises multiple vertical 
cyclone cones to capture fine particulate matter from boiler 
flue gases. With this technology, the Group effectively keeps 
particulate emissions below the Department of Environment’s 
(“DOE”) threshold of 150 mg/m³, ensuring full compliance with 
national air quality regulations while enhancing operational 
performance.

Overall, the Group continues to prioritise the adoption of 
energy-efficient equipment, responsible land and waste 
management, and consistent environmental monitoring and 
reporting. These efforts are embedded within a broader 
emissions management framework that emphasises both 
reduction and mitigation. Through these multifaceted efforts, 
IPB continues to strengthen its emissions management 
capabilities, contributing meaningfully to both climate 
resilience and national sustainability targets.

WATER MANAGEMENT

As oil palm cultivation is water-intensive, IPB acknowledges that 
effective water management is essential not only for optimising 
crop yields and reducing costs but also for safeguarding local 
ecosystems. Oil palm trees require a consistent water supply to 
maximise productivity, directly influencing the Group's revenue. 
At the same time, proper water management mitigates 
environmental risks such as pollution, habitat degradation, 
and water scarcity that could impact both biodiversity 
and nearby communities. To ensure compliance and avoid 
regulatory penalties, IPB aligns all practices with environmental 
regulations, particularly the MSPO standards, integrating 
water stewardship into daily operations.

	 The Group’s biogas generator



INNOPRISE PLANTATIONS BERHAD 46

Sustainability

sustainability 
report 

Operating in remote areas, IPB relies entirely on surface water 
sources like Sungai Imbok and surrounding water conservation 
zones, all located in non-water-stressed areas, reducing 
drought-related risks. The Group conducts daily monitoring 
of water use and continuously enhances efficiency through 
initiatives such as upgrading milling systems to minimise 
water use, recycling treated POME, using recycled water in 
CPO extraction, and harvesting rainwater for non-potable 
purposes. On the estates, moisture retention is improved 
using cover crops and mulching. These integrated strategies, 
aligned with MSPO best practices, underscore IPB's ongoing 
commitment to sustainable water resource management.

FY2024FY2022 FY2023

2,284.20
2,386.99

1,995.15

Total Water Consumption (ML)

FY2024FY2022 FY2023

177,977
192,114

170,986

Effluent Discharge (m3)

In addition to managing water consumption efficiently, the 
Group has several initiatives targeting effluent management. 
The effluents generated from IPB's operations are mostly 
derived from the milling process for CPO production. These 
mill effluents are systematically redirected to designated land 
for irrigation, facilitating nutrient recycling and establishing a 
closed-loop system. This strategy not only enhances waste and 
resource reduction but also allows the Group to utilise effluent 
waste as fertiliser. IPB is vigilant in maintaining compliance 
with the regulatory standards to ensure that the physical and 
chemical contents inside the Group's effluents remain within the 
established limits. Furthermore, IPB conducts its mill desludging 
activities with careful planning on an annual basis, highlighting 
the Group’s dedication to responsible effluent management.

WASTE MANAGEMENT

In IPB’s dedication to establishing a circular economy, the 
Group has developed numerous waste initiatives that aim to 
minimise waste disposal and utilise by-products in other areas 
of the Group’s operations. Not only does this safeguard the 
environment, but proper waste management also safeguards 
the health of employees and the health of nearby flora and 
fauna preventing pollution and reducing the odds of disease 
propagation from unmanaged waste.

The Group further affirms this commitment through its 
comprehensive waste management policies that promote 
principles of circular economy to employees and act as a 
guideline to reduce IPB’s waste-related environmental impacts, 
simultaneously maintaining compliance with the relevant 
regulatory bodies. This is disseminated to employees through 
the Group’s training programmes, regularly communicated 
to keep all staff updated with ongoing waste management 
developments. Employees are also encouraged to participate 
in waste reduction and efficiency initiatives, cultivating a culture 
of sustainability. In line with initiatives that promote sustainable 
behaviour, IPB provides incentives and creates recycling 
programmes while setting recycling rates that aim to maximise 
employee participation in sustainable waste management 
practices.

To ensure a better assessment of the Group’s waste 
performance, IPB has developed a waste identification 
data sheet outlining the source, disposal method, and other 
relevant information for each waste type. Waste is constantly 
monitored through checklists and real-time metrics in addition 
to the datasheet to ensure that all operations have proper 
waste management implementations in place. 

Particular attention is given to scheduled waste due to its 
hazardous nature. This includes the proper handling and 
disposal of potentially toxic materials such as used lubricants, 
agrochemicals, and other by-products that could pose risks 
to both the environment and the health and safety of IPB’s 
workforce. All scheduled waste is stored in clearly designated 
containment areas at each site, with safety protocols in place 
to prevent leakage, contamination, or accidental exposure. 
IPB engages DOE-registered contractors for the periodic 
collection and disposal of such waste, ensuring that it is 
disposed of according to regulatory guidelines. Additionally, 
IPB actively explores opportunities to reduce waste generation 
and promote reuse wherever feasible. For example, in FY2024, 
the Group successfully recycled over 80% of its automotive 
waste, demonstrating its commitment to circular economy 
principles and resource efficiency.
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FY2024FY2022 FY2023

44,105.82

49,462.94 49,432.52

Total Biomass Waste (tonnes)

FY2022

FY2023

896.80 

386.59 

381.65 

 25.35 

 52.55

 18.43

Waste Management (tonnes)

As of FY2024, the Group has established a three-year 
benchmark on its waste performance, shown below:

Despite an increase in waste due to population growth and the 
upgrade of workers’ housing quarters to permanent structures, 
IPB’s waste management performance reflects its commitment 
to ongoing improvement. In FY2023, IPB initiated its waste 
recycling initiatives as a strategy to minimise disposal. As a result, 
360kg or close to 10% of the total solid waste has been recycled. 

As IPB processes FFB, the Group generates a considerable 
amount of biomass waste in the form of shell, fibre, and 
other wastes from its milling activities. In line with the Group’s 
commitment to achieving circularity, the Group has repurposed 
100% of this waste to serve as feedstock for energy production 
in boiler operations.

FY2024

 0.36

 0.37

 -

Looking ahead, the Group has already established internal 
targets to improve recycling rates. To support these targets, 
the Group plans to enhance awareness and participation in 
FY2025 by conducting training sessions on recyclable items and 
implementing a Recycling Collection Day programme across 
all operational units. These initiatives aim to strengthen waste 
segregation practices and embed a culture of responsible 
waste management throughout the organisation by ensuring 
that almost all employees actively participate in the Group’s 
waste reduction efforts.

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

IPB’s commitment to environmental stewardship extends 
to effective resource management. This not only reduces 
environmental impacts associated with the production and use 
of materials but also maximises profits by reducing material 
expenditures. Some of IPB’s products that have the most 
substantial environmental impacts include agrochemicals such 
as fertilisers, pesticides, and herbicides. While they significantly 
boost crop growth and yield, eliminating the need for plantation 
expansion to remain competitive, they are known to contribute 
to pollution, nutrient leaching, and greenhouse gas emissions 
from the release of nitrous oxide into the atmosphere.

The Group’s efforts to proper resource management align 
with standards such as the MSPO certification. This is done 
through its integrated pest management (“IPM”) which reduces 
IPB’s reliance on agrochemicals. IPB also actively invests in 
research that advances the Group’s sustainability in areas 
such as agricultural management, infrastructure, and other 
eco-friendly approaches. Among these research initiatives, 
IPB is exploring the applicability of sustainable agrochemical 
substitutes such as biopesticides and biofertilisers. Employees 
and stakeholders are also updated on sustainable resource 
management through communication and training 
programmes.

The sustainability team at IPB is essential in formulating and 
executing strategies aimed at reducing the environmental 
footprint of agricultural practices, particularly concerning 
the use of agrochemicals. Thorough monitoring during the 
production cycle ensures compliance with sustainability 
standards, including the implementation of soil and nutrient 
management practices that align with circular economy 
principles. IPB's operations produce considerable amounts of 
biomass waste, including POME from processing facilities and 
EFB from plantations which are repurposed to enhance organic 
matter in plantations, acting as an alternative to chemical 
fertilisers.

	 Beneficial plants play a vital role in sustainable plantations by enhancing soil 
health, supporting biodiversity, and promoting natural pest control.

Hazardous WasteSolid Waste Recycled Waste
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To further enhance IPB’s resource efficiency, the Group has 
set various targets that include reducing agrochemical use 
intensity and pesticide use, improving nutrient use efficiency, 
adopting IPM, ensuring constant compliance with MSPO, and 
further nurturing the Group’s research division.

Key materials used throughout the Group’s operations 
throughout FY2024, and the previous three years are shown 
below:

FY2024FY2022 FY2023

56,357
65,047

54,925

Total Repurposed Biomass (tonnes)

Furthermore, the Group’s commitment to establishing a 
circular economy has led to the repurposing of biomass waste 
shown below.

operations with MSPO certification requirements and the 
Sabah Forestry Department. The Group also employs policies 
that outline the monitoring and management of biodiversity-
related affairs, ensuring flora and fauna are not threatened by 
agricultural activities. 

To further reinforce IPB’s commitment to safeguarding 
biodiversity, the Group employs various schemes including 
the High Conservation Value (“HCV”) assessment. This 
assessment identifies and conserves key habitats within and 
in the surrounding areas of the Group’s operations. To date, 
the Group has taken measures to protect the natural habitats 
within Gunung Rara Forest Reserves and regions of Gunung 
Magdalena that are in close proximity to IPB. The Group 
further safeguards the livelihoods of flora and fauna through 
the creation of buffer zones around sensitive areas and water 
bodies to protect locations of HCV and life further downstream. 
An added benefit of these buffers is their purpose as a natural 
corridor, allowing wildlife to pass through undisturbed and 
ensuring that IPB’s operations do not cut off migration patterns 
or animal access to key areas.

As part of IPB’s active biodiversity procedure, the Group 
conducts annual biodiversity audits by third-party specialists. 
This audit provides details of the region, including their 
conservation value status and list of endangered species 
inhabiting the area to act as input for the Group’s biodiversity 
management approach. In cases where cultivation areas are 
planned for expansion, biodiversity audits are used to fulfil EIA 
requirements. This ensures that the biodiversity of the regions 
where IPB operates remains intact, preventing habitat collapse 
and cultivating a harmonious relationship between the Group 
with the surrounding flora and fauna. The latest biodiversity 
audit reported a total of 102 protected mammal, bird, and 
reptile species inside conservation areas and outside of the 
Group’s operational areas. 

BIODIVERSITY

As a player in the oil palm industry, IPB’s operations revolve 
around the cultivation of palm crops over large areas of land 
in rural regions. If not managed properly, oil palm operations 
could lead to environmental degradation, subsequently leading 
to loss of biodiversity in these regions. Thus, the Group takes 
matters of biodiversity to utmost concern, aligning all its 

	 A young Changeable Hawk-Eagle (Nisaetus cirrhatus) observed within the 
Group’s operational area. This is an uncommon species that is Totally Protected 
under Malaysian law

FY2024FY2022 FY2023

Resource Consumption ('million tonnes)

Fertiliser Herbicides/Pesticides

17.09

1.72
2.08

0.4518.23

7.69
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HABITAT RESTORATION

IPB’s dedication to maintaining the ecosystems surrounding the Group’s operations has led to habitat restoration initiatives. One 
such initiative is the reforestation of Laran trees, done on uncultivated or steep areas that are marked as biodiversity buffer zones. 
This allows for degraded habitats to be restored, while simultaneously providing wildlife corridors for animal migration. Laran 
trees are chosen in particular due to their adaptable and fast-growing nature, allowing for ecosystems to be established faster, 
subsequently attracting a wider array of flora and fauna species. The ecosystem then balances itself through nutrient cycling 
and biological pest control, which also benefits the Group’s operations. Furthermore, these restoration efforts contribute towards 
carbon sequestration, reducing the impacts of climate, in line with the Group’s commitment to eradicating climate change impacts.

	 Lar Gibbons (Hylobates lar) are an Endangered species of ape that has been sighted

	 Reptiles observed within IPB’s estate 	 Tree bark mimicking insect
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As of FY2024, IPB has planted a combined total of 3,389 ha of 
suitable vacant land with Laran trees. This represents a 75% 
coverage of land allocated for tree planting. The Group aims 
to expand this coverage to 89% in the coming year.

HUMAN-WILDLIFE INTERACTIONS

While habitat restoration efforts are underway, the Group 
understands that human interference may disrupt the natural 
behaviour of flora and fauna. Interactions between IPB’s 
workforce and wildlife also pose safety risks as they might feel 
threatened by the presence of humans, leading to attacks and 
subsequent safety incidents.

To prevent such occurrences, the Group deploys electric fences 
around its operational boundaries, especially in buffer zones 
and forested regions near operational zones. While this may 
prevent smaller animals from disrupting IPB’s operational 
activities, larger species such as elephants can breach these 
areas and cause significant damage to the Group’s crops. 
Thus, IPB has established the annual Human-Elephant 
Conflict programme where the Group cooperates with other 
plantations in the area in sharing and strategising biodiversity 
monitoring and management initiatives. While the main topics 
discussed in this programme revolve around elephants, all 
participants are free to discuss any other biodiversity-related 
matters. This programme enlists the participation of the Sabah 
state government, relevant non-governmental organisations 
(“NGOs”) and wildlife researchers, ensuring all strategies for 
human-wildlife interaction management stay relevant.

The commitment to safeguarding biodiversity extends within 
the Group’s operational boundaries. Plantation workers are 
regularly trained and communicated on human-wildlife and 
biodiversity management procedures, building awareness on 
the importance of maintaining buffer areas, wildlife conflict 
methods, and prevention of illegal hunting. Through this 
initiative, the Group creates a culture of coexistence, allowing 
operations to continue without harming the local ecosystem.

	 Herd of wild elephants crossing the road leading into IPB’s estates

FY2024FY2022 FY2023

137,461
122,400

101,462

Number of Trees Planted
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Relevant Material Topics:
•	 Labour Availability
•	 Human Rights
•	 Occupational Health and 

Safety
•	 Diversity and Equal 

Opportunity

UN SDG Linkage:
	 SDG 3: Good Health and Well-Being
	 Support public health and well-being by promoting safe working conditions 

	 SDG 5: Gender Equality
	 Promote gender equality by ensuring equal opportunities, fair treatment, and 

representation of women in the workforce, especially in leadership roles

	 SDG 8: Decent Work and Economic Growth
	 Provide decent and productive employment opportunities that uplifts 
communities and drives inclusive economic growth

	 SDG 10: Reduced Inequalities
	 Foster social inclusion and reduce inequalities by promoting diversity, equitable 

practices, and equal opportunities for all

IPB's Aim: 
Promoting social well-being both within the Group’s workforce and with local communities by providing fair opportunities for 
employment, professional growth, and community development

SOCIAL DISCLOSURES

The Group understands that its success is intrinsically linked to the well-being of its employees and the communities where it 
operates in. Given this relationship, IPB aims to contribute to the social development of these areas with the belief that sustainable 
business practices must also include the social dimension of the Group’s operations.

IPB’s approach to social responsibility is characterised by transparency, accountability, and continuous improvement. The Group 
regularly assess the effectiveness of its social programmes and seeks feedback from both internal and external stakeholders to 
ensure all initiatives align with their needs and expectations.

This approach underlines the Group’s unwavering commitment to social obligation and ensures it remains committed to advancing 
its social sustainability agenda, where nobody is left behind in the process of economic value creation. By integrating social 
considerations into its business strategy, IPB aims to create shared value and contribute to a more equitable future for all.

Achievements in FY2024:

Zero
cases of human or 
labour rights violations

Invested over

RM205,000 
in CSR initiatives

Conducted over 

12,000 hours 
of training

HUMAN AND LABOUR RIGHTS

IPB respects the rights of every individual and does everything in its power to protect the human and labour rights of its employees 
and surrounding communities. This measure not only ensures compliance with relevant laws but also fosters a safe space that 
upholds fundamental human rights and boosts the productivity of the Group’s workforce.

To ensure that all rights are protected, IPB aligns its operations with the Malaysia Employment Act 1955, the Sabah Labour 
Ordinance, and the International Bill of Human Rights. The Group ensures that its operations are in compliance with every other 
relevant regulation, including maintaining the Malaysian government’s minimum wage policy for its local and foreign workers. 
Throughout FY2024, the Group had no reported cases of human rights violations.
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Concurrently, the Group constantly monitors its operations to 
ensure that there is no employment of child labour or actions 
of forced labour, which are strictly prohibited by IPB. This 
extends to acts of modern slavery, debt bondage, human 
trafficking, and any other activities that infringe on the basic 
rights of people. Any discriminatory behaviour observed in 
employees, which includes actions that are conducted due to 
an individual’s race, religion, gender, disabilities, nationality, 
or other socioeconomic background, is not tolerated in will be 
met with strict disciplinary action. These efforts are enshrined 
within the Group’s Human Rights and Responsible Business 
Practices Policy and are constantly monitored through field 
audits and plantation inspections.

To further protect the rights of IPB’s workforce, the Group 
provides regularly maintained equipment and infrastructure 
in line with safety regulations. Workers are also provided with 
funded healthcare, decent living quarters, fair wages, clean 
sanitation, access to food, and rights related to the freedom of 
association, religious freedom, and collective bargaining.

To empower individuals and discourage acts in violation of 
human and labour rights, the Group provides a formal grievance 
mechanism that can be used by any individual experiencing 
abuse or mistreatment. This mechanism is aligned with IPB’s 
Whistle Blowing Policy, providing a safe and anonymous space 
to report wrongdoings while the Group conducts investigations. 

For more information on the Whistle Blowing Policy, readers 
can refer to the Whistle Blowing section.

FREEDOM OF ASSOCIATION AND COLLECTIVE 
BARGAINING

IPB recognises that all employers and employees retain the 
right to form and join organisations of their choosing as an 
integral part of a pluralistic society. 

IPB does not place any restrictions on its employees, neither 
encouraging nor discouraging employees from joining any 
trade union. The Group utilises management and worker 
representatives to integrate workplace welfare committees as 
part of its internal control in all estates. This ensures that the 
rights of their workers are protected with the existence of a 
safe and structured communication channel regardless of the 
availability of a union.

IPB values the essence of collective bargaining and practises 
such avenues to resolve workplace issues, prioritising the  
well-being and advancement of the company and its personnel.

HIRING AND ATTRITION

Given the labour-intensive process of oil palm operations, 
the Group actively recruits workers to operate its mills and 
plantations while providing formal appraisals to improve the 
happiness of employees and the Group’s overall retention rate. 
New employees are briefed on the Group’s organisational 
structure, employee benefits, relevant rules and regulations, and 
IPB’s policies before they begin operations in their respective 
departments. This induction process is outlined within the 
Group’s Human Resource Manual and can be accessed by all 
employees for their reference. Foreigner workers employed 
in IPB are given further guidance, introducing the Malaysian 
culture, safety rules, language, and labour laws.

Employees resigning from IPB will be provided with an exit 
interview by the Group’s Human Resources (“HR”) Department, 
allowing individuals to provide feedback on the positive and 
negative experiences they underwent throughout their tenure 
with the Group. This provides IPB with insights for further 
improvement in HR management, allowing the Group to 
strategise and create more initiatives to improve employee 
well-being, happiness, and retention.

Management Executive Non-Executive General Workers

- 1 17

133

Total New Hires by Employment Category in FY2024

135

275

1310 57 12

Total Turnover by Employment Category

FY2023 FY2024

Management Executive Non-Executive General Workers
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Total Employees by Employment Category

APPRAISALS

Every employee at IPB is entitled to an annual formal 
appraisal, allowing the Group to provide bonuses and salary 
increments alongside assigning training programmes based 
on the employee’s performance and established KPIs. This 
also provides a platform for open communication between 
employees and supervisors, allowing for more accurate 
performance evaluations.
 
In FY2024, all management and executive-level employees 
received their performance appraisal.

​DIVERSITY, EQUITY, AND INCLUSION

The Group encourages a culture of diversity and has a zero-
tolerance policy against any form of discrimination, which 
includes gender, ethnicity, religious beliefs, or any other 
demographic characteristic. Talents are evaluated solely on 
their proficiency, credentials, experience, and professional 
accomplishments. All policies, including hiring, remuneration, 
promotions, compensation, gifts, and benefits decisions are 
made entirely on the performance and contributions of each 
individual.
 
This prioritisation of diversity as a core value of IPB encourages 
a company culture that retains openness towards different 
ideas and perspectives, which allows for innovativeness that 
ultimately increases the quality of decision-making across the 
organisation. To further support their employees, IPB ensures 
that all employees have access to the working environment and 
tools necessary for them to perform their responsibilities and 
functions.
 
IPB recognises that gender equality is a fundamental 
human right and crucial in the advancement of sustainable *	 Data for Non-Executives and General Workers were combined in FY2023

development. Female empowerment is interlinked with several 
of the UN SDGs, including education, poverty, and climate 
change, further showcasing IPB’s integration of sustainability 
objectives in its management.
 
The Group’s Reproductive Rights Policy Statement also outlines 
IPB’s prioritisation of their employees’ reproductive rights 
and access to maternal healthcare. This commitment is fully 
integrated into the Group’s operations, protecting expecting 
mothers from occupational hazards such as chemical exposure 
that could cause harm to both the mother and child.
 
Additionally, the Group also firmly enforces a zero-tolerance 
policy for sexual harassment in any form throughout its 
company and its operations.
 
The Group received zero reported cases of discrimination and 
harassment throughout FY2024.

Senior Management Management Executive

Non-Executive General Workers

669

42178 8

835

131
4619

FY2023 FY2024

Employee Gender by Employment Category

Economic Value

Percentage per Employment Category (%)

FY2023 FY2024 

Senior 
Management

Male 87.50 87.50
Female 12.50 12.50

Management
Male 87.50 84.21
Female 12.50 15.79

Executive
Male 80.95 82.61
Female 19.05 17.39

Non-Executive
Male 54.69 52.67
Female 45.31 47.33

General Worker
Male 68.02 68.98
Female 31.98 31.02
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Total Employees by Nationality in FY2024

Total Employees by Ethnicity in FY2024*

*	 Data only covers Malaysian employees

As of FY2024, all of IPB’s employees are permanent employees. 

TRAINING AND EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT

IPB recognises that adequate training and education are 
necessary to create a competent and capable workforce. 
Employees are given opportunities throughout their tenure 
through training programmes and workshops that can 
be attended voluntarily or as part of their performance 
improvement programmes. The forms of training provided 
to employees vary, including technical expertise, soft skill 
development, leadership training, and OSH training.

In addition to providing financial and non-financial benefits to 
the Group, these training programmes facilitate succession 
planning as employees are prepped with the necessary skills 
and knowledge that allow them to take on more roles and 
responsibilities when such opportunities arise.

To ensure that all training initiatives can be implemented 
effectively, the HR Department works closely with the Finance 
Department to provide a sufficient budget allocation, alongside 
handling all logistical needs, to provide employees with all the 
necessary training. 

Throughout F Y2024, the Group conducted 265 different 
training programmes, which generally covered:

•	 Technical Skills – these enhance the workforce’s ability to use 
the relevant tools, software, and techniques they need for 
efficient job performance. 

	 Example: Harvesting Training, Machinery Drivers Training, 
Powerbarrow Training

Employee Age by Employment Category

Economic Value

Percentage per Employment Category (%)

FY2023 FY2024 

Senior 
Management

< 30 years old 0.00 0.00
31 – 50 years old 14.29 0.00
> 50 years old 85.71 100.00

Management

< 30 years old 0.00 0.00
31 – 50 years old 41.67 36.84
> 50 years old 58.33 63.16

Executive

< 30 years old 23.81 23.91
31 – 50 years old 42.86 52.17
> 50 years old 33.33 23.91

Non-Executive

< 30 years old 46.88 48.09
31 – 50 years old 49.22 48.85
< 30 years old 3.90 3.05

General Worker

31 – 50 years old 21.07 24.43
> 50 years old 64.70 62.63
< 30 years old 12.23 12.93

Malaysian

275

Foreign Nationals

763

Malay IndianChinese Others

121

2
17

135
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•	 Legal and Regulatory Compliance – these cover training 
related to adhering to the relevant laws, regulations, and 
frameworks that guide IPB’s daily operations.

	 Example: MSPO Induction Training, Anti Bribery & Corruption 
Training, Seminar Implikasi AKKP (Pindaan) 2022 dan 
Perundangan Berkaitan kepada Industri

•	 Safety and Health – these cover a wide range of training 
programmes that focus on ensuring a safe working 
environment.

	 Example: Firefighting Training, First Aid Training Refresher, 
Keselamatan Bekerja di Tempat Tinggi

•	 Environmental and Sustainability – these encourage 
sustainability awareness and foster a sense of environmental 
responsibility within the workforce in line with the Group’s 
internal policies and regulatory requirements.

	 Example: Riparian Protection Training, 3R Training, 
Environmental Impact Assessment (“EIA”) Training

Overall, in FY2024, IPB delivered over 12,000 hours of training 
across its workforce, demonstrating its strong commitment to 
employee development and capacity building. These training 
sessions spanned a wide range of topics aimed at enhancing 
operational efficiency, safety, and sustainability practices 
within the Group. However, the Group acknowledges that 
the current tracking system may result in double-counting of 
training hours, as many sessions involve repeat participation 
by the same individuals.

Recognising the importance of accurate performance data, 
IPB is actively exploring more effective methods to monitor 
and record employee participation. This includes implementing 
more robust tracking mechanisms that will allow the Group 
to differentiate between unique and repeated attendance. 
Moving forward, IPB aims to resolve the double-counting 
issue to ensure the integrity and transparency of its training 
performance disclosures, in line with its broader commitment 
to continuous improvement and accountability.

SUCCESSION PLANNING

To ensure that operations can continue with minimal disruptions 
when a senior management position becomes available, the 
Group has developed its succession plan. Through this plan, a 
list of criteria required for the vacant position is prepared to 
select key talent with the potential to fulfil these roles. These 
talents are then provided with tailored training programmes to 
provide a seamless transition for when the time comes to take 
on their predecessor’s mantles. The Managing Director (“MD”) 
directly oversees this process to ensure that the succession 
planning stays aligned with the Group’s needs.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND WELFARE

In line with IPB’s efforts to improve employee morale and 
retention, the Group offers an array of benefits and competitive 
compensation packages to all employees. These benefits comply 
with and exceed the stipulations outlined by the Employment Act 
1955, are regularly benchmarked against industry standards and 
cover salaries, bonuses, various forms of leaves, healthcare, 
and a variety of other monetary and non-monetary rewards. 
Additionally, workers are provided with a comprehensive 
insurance plan and housing for workers with activities within the 
Group’s estates.

While these benefits raise the morale of all employees, it is 
imperative for IPB to ensure the wellbeing of workers staying 
within the Group’s plantations. The Group’s efforts in improving 
their livelihoods have led to various infrastructure projects 
within the estates, providing housing, schools, sports grounds, 
community halls for badminton and hosting events, daycare 
for children, treated water supplies, and places of worship to 
accommodate the various beliefs held by IPB’s employees.

Total Training Hours per Employment Category

2023 2024

 32.0 

 614.0 

 1,722.5 

 2,825.5 

 4,187.5 

 151.5 

 584.0 

 2,558.5 

 3,623.0 

 5,768.5 

Board of 
Directors

Management

Executive

Non-Executive

Labourers
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EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT

To further promote the well-being and happiness of IPB’s 
employees, the Group regularly provides estate-organised 
engagements that promote health, recognise and celebrate 
diversity, and nurture a spirit of community. Throughout 
FY2024, IPB has organised the several activities, including

•	 SJI Family and Sport Day
•	 Woman Health and Children Immunisation Campaign
•	 Majlis Berbuka Puasa Bersama Chairman
•	 Hari Raya Celebration
•	 Harvest Festival Celebration
•	 “Peresmian and Graduation 2024” for Community Learning 
Centre (CLC) SD2 Serijaya

•	 Christmas Celebration

	 Manager Trip 14th December 2024 – A Memorable Retreat at Shangri-La Rasa 
Ria, Kota Kinabalu!

	 IPB’s Chairman joining in the breaking of fast (iftar) with employees

	 SJI Hari Raya Celebration 	 A healthcare professional vaccinating a worker’s child at a medical clinic in IPB’s 
estate

	 IPB’s Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) officiating the opening ceremony of SJI 
Family and Sports Day 2024

	 Enthusiastic players competing in a badminton competition at SJI’s Family and 
Sports Day 2024
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH (“OSH”)

IPB is committed to providing the safest working environment 
for all employees, ensuring that all operations remain incident-
free through the Group’s prioritisation of safety over other 
concerns. Throughout the Group’s operations, employees 
and contractors are instructed to prioritise their well-being, 
emphasising the shared responsibility held by both the Group 
and its staff in enabling a safe working environment. An open 
communication channel for reporting safety concerns and 
incidents is provided to identify and manage potential or 
occurring OSH issues to ensure that all risks are minimised to 
the highest possible extent.

The Group’s commitment to ensuring the safety of its 
employees not only ensures that its operations maintain 
compliance with the relevant regulatory bodies but also 
promotes a safe and secure work environment that allows 
employees to thrive without worry.

OSH Measures and Impact

IPB takes active measures to mitigate and prevent any OSH 
issues, including workplace hazards, injuries, illnesses, and 
fatalities, from occurring throughout its operations. The 
implementation of preventative measures is crucial to the 
Group’s OSH management policy, improving both the physical 
and mental health of employees while simultaneously reducing 
healthcare costs for treating injured staff. These policies also 
ensure that no workers are involved in activities that have a 
high incidence or high risk of specific diseases. In addition to 
providing a safe workspace for its employees, this improves 
the Group’s reputation as a caring organisation that does 
everything in its power to protect its workforce. 

Recognising the significance of effective OSH measures, the 
Group provides training and education on OSH policies and 
standards, which includes but is not limited to:

•	 New employee orientation
•	 Periodic refresher courses
•	 Specialised training based on job roles and potential hazards
•	 Safety training

	 SJI Christmas Celebration

•	 Toolbox Meetings (Safety Meetings)
•	 Hazard assessment
•	 Safety equipment
•	 Incident Investigations
•	 Safety Audits and Inspections
•	 Emergency Response Drills
•	 Near-Miss Reporting Systems
•	 Accident investigations 

Overall, throughout FY2024, IPB has conducted 458.5 hours 
of training specifically covering safety and health. These 
programmes were attended by a total of 2,354 employees in 
total. As with general training in the Training and Employee 
Development section, there is an element of double counting 
as many of these programmes are attended by the same 
employees. This is something the Group aims to rectify in the 
future through more accurate data tracking.

Risk Mitigation Approach

In addition to IPB’s OSH measures, the Group remains 
vigilant in eliminating OSH risks through a thorough risk 
mitigation strategy. This is done through the Group’s Hazard 
Identification, Risk Assessment, and Risk Control (“HIRARC”) 
method alongside the Safety and Health Department for any 
activities, especially ones involving new operational machinery. 
The Group also extends this to its direct associates through the 
Contractual Agreements with suppliers and contractors.

Regular Reporting

To improve the transparency of the Group’s OSH performance, 
IPB regularly reports all OSH-related information to 
management, safety committees, and other relevant 
stakeholders. This includes safety-related KPIs that are 
frequently benchmarked with existing OSH targets. All OSH-
related matters and reporting activities are overseen and 
conducted by the Group’s Safety Officer.

The Group also undergoes annual health audits with the 
involvement of the Department of Occupational Safety and 
Health (“DOSH”) Malaysia, in accordance with the requirements 
set by the MSPO Certification.

Employee Representative Engagement

To ensure that OSH policies and implementations are relevant to 
the needs of staff members, the Group conducts Occupational 
Safety and Health meetings three times a month with worker 
representatives. These representatives are tasked with 
providing feedback on potential risks and voicing out concerns 
experienced by representatives and their colleagues. The 
representatives are chosen from strategic locations, ensuring 
that all of the Group’s workers are represented by formal joint 
management-worker health and safety committees.
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OSH Policy

The Group’s OSH policies and OSH Management System 
(“OSHMS”) were created by IPB’s leadership and OSH 
professionals, aligned with the requirements of laws such 
as the Occupational Safety and Health Act (“OSHA”) 1994. 
Every employee is required to follow these policies to ensure 
workplace safety.

As IPB’s primary subsidiary, SJI has a well-defined health and 
safety policy in addition to the Group’s existing OSH policies. 
This is integrated into the contracts SJI enters with external 
contractors, specifying the safety standards, procedures, and 
expectations that contractors must adhere to while working on 
company premises or undertaking company projects. Through 
the implementation of this policy, SJI is targeting to reduce OSH 
incidents by 5% every year.

OSH Targets and Performance

IPB’s commitment to safeguarding the safety of its employees 
has led to the development of targets focused on this aspect. 
These specific, measurable, and time-bound targets are 
taken into consideration when updating and creating new 
safety strategies, ensuring that the Group stays ahead in all 
safety-related initiatives. In the Group’s effort to establish 
transparency, IPB regularly communicates the Group’s OSH 
performance to employees and other stakeholders.

The Group’s OSH performance is regularly reviewed, ensuring 
that its current progress and targets do not fall behind industry 
standards. In cases where OSH performance does not meet set 
targets, either due to the quantity or severity of incidents, IPB 
takes immediate action to identify and implement corrective 
measures.

OSH 
Performance FY2022 FY2023 FY2024

Total Man-hours 
Worked

487,920 472,674 518,752

Fatalities 0 0 0

Injury Rate 6.15 7.62 6.17

Lost-Time 
Incident Rate 
(“LTIR”)

6.56 7.62 6.17

Note: Injury Rate and LTIR have been calculated based on 200,000 
hours

Data Collection and Verification

OSH data is collected to measure the Group’s performance 
with established targets and benchmarks, used for reporting 
purposes, and in maintaining compliance with regulatory 
bodies. In addition to fatalities, injury rate, and LTIR, IPB also 
collects the number of workplace incidents, near misses, safety 
inspections, and compliance with safety procedures, among 
other relevant metrics. 

These OSH data are verified through both internal and external 
assurance through independent third parties such as the 
Timber Legality Assurance System (“TLAS”), DOSH, and MSPO 
Certificate bodies.

Accident Investigation

As part of IPB’s OSHMS, the Group conducts thorough 
investigations in cases where an accident has occurred. 
The investigation will be spearheaded by the HSE Assistant 
Manager and an estate representative to identify the cause of 
the incident, subsequently recommending corrective actions 
to prevent future incidents. These acts may include reviewing 
and updating HIRARC and OSH SOPs alongside providing more 
training for workers.

Access to Healthcare Services

IPB’s dedication to maintaining the health and well-being of its 
workers has led to the creation of non-occupational medical 
and healthcare services. These services are unique to IPB as an 
oil palm player as the Group’s operations are mainly conducted 
in rural areas, where external medical assistance may be 
difficult to reach. All employees under IPB are entitled to this 
healthcare service, which facilitates access to professional 
healthcare providers, medical screenings, vaccination clinics, 
and health risk assessments that are capable of treating a wide 
variety of diseases including malaria, and tuberculosis.

While all employees have access to IPB’s healthcare facilities, 
this system was created with special attention to workers at risk 
of chemical exposure, such as fertilisers, pesticides, and premix 
station operators.

LOCAL COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

While the Group is dedicated to maintaining the wellbeing 
of its employees, IPB recognises the impact it has towards 
maintaining harmony with locals and providing both direct and 
indirect economic value wherever the Group operates. This 
commitment to becoming a responsible corporate citizen has 
led to numerous investments and engagement programmes, 
resulting in over RM205,000 of donations and investments with 
approximately 22 beneficiary organisations in FY2024. 
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Organisation Type of Engagement

Dewan Perniagaan Tionghua Tawau Sabah Welfare Fund

Persatuan Bolasepak Daerah Kota Marudu Community Sports Competition

Sabah Chinese High School Underprivileged Students

Sabah Housing and Real Estate Developers Association Charity Golf Tournament 2024

Lions Club of Tawau Central Cataray Eye Surgery Carnival

Tabung Pendidikan Negeri Sabah (“TPNS”) Welfare Fund

Persatuan Ibu Bapa Dan Guru SK Luasong Tawau PIBG Charity Funds

Lions Club of Tawau Host Bursary Project

Sabah Chinese High School Charity Fund

Junior Chamber International Tawau (M) Charity Aokam Project

Lintas Superstore Sdn Bhd Charity Food Basket For Flood Victims

PIBG SMK Umas Umas Tawau PIBG Charity Funds

Panitia Percikan Sabindo Community Sports Competition

Montfort Youth Training Centre Welfare Fund

Persatuan Ibu Bapa Dan Guru SJK (C) Hing Hwa PIBG Charity Funds

The Institution of Engineers, Malaysia (Sabah Branch) Sponsorship For Young Engineers

Pertubuhan Dusun Islam Sabah Welfare Fund

Uni Ys Sdn Bhd Uni College Sabah Foundation’s 10th Anniversary for 
Education Purpose

Yayasan Sabah Compliance Awards Night 

Persatuan Ibu Bapa Dan Guru SK Luasong Tawau PIBG Charity Funds

Hing Hwa School Management Committee Welfare Fund

PIBG SK Balung PIBG Fund

“Supporting education, empowering futures! IPB’s CSR donation to SMK Umas reflects the Group’s commitment to community 
growth. #CSR #MakingADifference”#CorporateSocialResponsibility”.
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BURSA ESG PERFORMANCE DATA TABLE

Indicator Measurement Unit 2024

Bursa (Anti-corruption)

Bursa C1(a) Percentage of employees who
have received training on anti-corruption by
employee category

Management Percentage 73.68

Executive Percentage 93.48

Non-executive/Technical Staff Percentage 86.26

General Workers Percentage 0.36

Bursa C1(b) Percentage of operations
assessed for corruption-related risks

Percentage 60.00

Bursa C1(c) Confirmed incidents of
corruption and action taken

Number 0

Bursa (Community/Society)

Bursa C2(a) Total amount invested in the
community where the target beneficiaries
are external to the listed issuer

MYR 205,000.00

Bursa C2(b) Total number of beneficiaries of
the investment in communities

Number 22

Bursa (Diversity)

Bursa C3(a) Percentage of employees by
gender and age group, for each employee
category

Age Group by Employee Category

Management Under 30 Percentage 0.00

Management Between 30-50 Percentage 36.84

Management Above 50 Percentage 63.16

Executive Under 30 Percentage 23.91

Executive Between 30-50 Percentage 52.18

Executive Above 50 Percentage 23.91

Non-executive/Technical Staff Under 30 Percentage 48.09

Non-executive/Technical Staff Between
30-50

Percentage 48.86

Non-executive/Technical Staff Above 50 Percentage 3.05

General Workers Under 30 Percentage 24.43

General Workers Between 30-50 Percentage 62.64

General Workers Above 50 Percentage 12.93

Gender Group by Employee Category

Management Male Percentage 84.21

Management Female Percentage 15.79

Executive Male Percentage 82.61

Executive Female Percentage 17.39

Non-executive/Technical Staff Male Percentage 52.67

Non-executive/Technical Staff Female Percentage 47.33

General Workers Male Percentage 68.98

General Workers Female Percentage 31.02

Bursa C3(b) Percentage of directors by
gender and age group

Male Percentage 87.50

Female Percentage 12.50

Under 30 Percentage 0.00

Between 30-50 Percentage 0.00

Above 50 Percentage 100.00

Bursa (Energy management)

Bursa C4(a) Total energy consumption Megawatt 8,978.99

Bursa (Health and safety)

Bursa C5(a) Number of work-related
fatalities

Number 0

Bursa C5(b) Lost time incident rate ("LTIR") Rate 6.17

Bursa C5(c) Number of employees trained
on health and safety standards

Number 2,354

Bursa (Labour practices and standards)

Bursa C6(a) Total hours of training by
employee category

Management Hours 584

Executive Hours 2,559

Non-executive/Technical Staff Hours 3,623

General Workers Hours 5,769

Bursa C6(b) Percentage of employees that
are contractors or temporary staff

Percentage 0.00

Internal assurance External assurance No assurance (*)Restated

Indicator Measurement Unit 2024

Bursa (Anti-corruption)

Bursa C1(a) Percentage of employees who
have received training on anti-corruption by
employee category

Management Percentage 73.68

Executive Percentage 93.48

Non-executive/Technical Staff Percentage 86.26

General Workers Percentage 0.36

Bursa C1(b) Percentage of operations
assessed for corruption-related risks

Percentage 60.00

Bursa C1(c) Confirmed incidents of
corruption and action taken

Number 0

Bursa (Community/Society)

Bursa C2(a) Total amount invested in the
community where the target beneficiaries
are external to the listed issuer

MYR 205,000.00

Bursa C2(b) Total number of beneficiaries of
the investment in communities

Number 22

Bursa (Diversity)

Bursa C3(a) Percentage of employees by
gender and age group, for each employee
category

Age Group by Employee Category

Management Under 30 Percentage 0.00

Management Between 30-50 Percentage 36.84

Management Above 50 Percentage 63.16

Executive Under 30 Percentage 23.91

Executive Between 30-50 Percentage 52.18

Executive Above 50 Percentage 23.91

Non-executive/Technical Staff Under 30 Percentage 48.09

Non-executive/Technical Staff Between
30-50

Percentage 48.86

Non-executive/Technical Staff Above 50 Percentage 3.05

General Workers Under 30 Percentage 24.43

General Workers Between 30-50 Percentage 62.64

General Workers Above 50 Percentage 12.93

Gender Group by Employee Category

Management Male Percentage 84.21

Management Female Percentage 15.79

Executive Male Percentage 82.61

Executive Female Percentage 17.39

Non-executive/Technical Staff Male Percentage 52.67

Non-executive/Technical Staff Female Percentage 47.33

General Workers Male Percentage 68.98

General Workers Female Percentage 31.02

Bursa C3(b) Percentage of directors by
gender and age group

Male Percentage 87.50

Female Percentage 12.50

Under 30 Percentage 0.00

Between 30-50 Percentage 0.00

Above 50 Percentage 100.00

Bursa (Energy management)

Bursa C4(a) Total energy consumption Megawatt 8,978.99

Bursa (Health and safety)

Bursa C5(a) Number of work-related
fatalities

Number 0

Bursa C5(b) Lost time incident rate ("LTIR") Rate 6.17

Bursa C5(c) Number of employees trained
on health and safety standards

Number 2,354

Bursa (Labour practices and standards)

Bursa C6(a) Total hours of training by
employee category

Management Hours 584

Executive Hours 2,559

Non-executive/Technical Staff Hours 3,623

General Workers Hours 5,769

Bursa C6(b) Percentage of employees that
are contractors or temporary staff

Percentage 0.00

Internal assurance External assurance No assurance (*)Restated

APPENDICES
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Indicator Measurement Unit 2024

Bursa (Anti-corruption)

Bursa C1(a) Percentage of employees who
have received training on anti-corruption by
employee category

Management Percentage 73.68

Executive Percentage 93.48

Non-executive/Technical Staff Percentage 86.26

General Workers Percentage 0.36

Bursa C1(b) Percentage of operations
assessed for corruption-related risks

Percentage 60.00

Bursa C1(c) Confirmed incidents of
corruption and action taken

Number 0

Bursa (Community/Society)

Bursa C2(a) Total amount invested in the
community where the target beneficiaries
are external to the listed issuer

MYR 205,000.00

Bursa C2(b) Total number of beneficiaries of
the investment in communities

Number 22

Bursa (Diversity)

Bursa C3(a) Percentage of employees by
gender and age group, for each employee
category

Age Group by Employee Category

Management Under 30 Percentage 0.00

Management Between 30-50 Percentage 36.84

Management Above 50 Percentage 63.16

Executive Under 30 Percentage 23.91

Executive Between 30-50 Percentage 52.18

Executive Above 50 Percentage 23.91

Non-executive/Technical Staff Under 30 Percentage 48.09

Non-executive/Technical Staff Between
30-50

Percentage 48.86

Non-executive/Technical Staff Above 50 Percentage 3.05

General Workers Under 30 Percentage 24.43

General Workers Between 30-50 Percentage 62.64

General Workers Above 50 Percentage 12.93

Gender Group by Employee Category

Management Male Percentage 84.21

Management Female Percentage 15.79

Executive Male Percentage 82.61

Executive Female Percentage 17.39

Non-executive/Technical Staff Male Percentage 52.67

Non-executive/Technical Staff Female Percentage 47.33

General Workers Male Percentage 68.98

General Workers Female Percentage 31.02

Bursa C3(b) Percentage of directors by
gender and age group

Male Percentage 87.50

Female Percentage 12.50

Under 30 Percentage 0.00

Between 30-50 Percentage 0.00

Above 50 Percentage 100.00

Bursa (Energy management)

Bursa C4(a) Total energy consumption Megawatt 8,978.99

Bursa (Health and safety)

Bursa C5(a) Number of work-related
fatalities

Number 0

Bursa C5(b) Lost time incident rate ("LTIR") Rate 6.17

Bursa C5(c) Number of employees trained
on health and safety standards

Number 2,354

Bursa (Labour practices and standards)

Bursa C6(a) Total hours of training by
employee category

Management Hours 584

Executive Hours 2,559

Non-executive/Technical Staff Hours 3,623

General Workers Hours 5,769

Bursa C6(b) Percentage of employees that
are contractors or temporary staff

Percentage 0.00

Internal assurance External assurance No assurance (*)Restated

Indicator Measurement Unit 2024

Bursa (Anti-corruption)

Bursa C1(a) Percentage of employees who
have received training on anti-corruption by
employee category

Management Percentage 73.68

Executive Percentage 93.48

Non-executive/Technical Staff Percentage 86.26

General Workers Percentage 0.36

Bursa C1(b) Percentage of operations
assessed for corruption-related risks

Percentage 60.00

Bursa C1(c) Confirmed incidents of
corruption and action taken

Number 0

Bursa (Community/Society)

Bursa C2(a) Total amount invested in the
community where the target beneficiaries
are external to the listed issuer

MYR 205,000.00

Bursa C2(b) Total number of beneficiaries of
the investment in communities

Number 22

Bursa (Diversity)

Bursa C3(a) Percentage of employees by
gender and age group, for each employee
category

Age Group by Employee Category

Management Under 30 Percentage 0.00

Management Between 30-50 Percentage 36.84

Management Above 50 Percentage 63.16

Executive Under 30 Percentage 23.91

Executive Between 30-50 Percentage 52.18

Executive Above 50 Percentage 23.91

Non-executive/Technical Staff Under 30 Percentage 48.09

Non-executive/Technical Staff Between
30-50

Percentage 48.86

Non-executive/Technical Staff Above 50 Percentage 3.05

General Workers Under 30 Percentage 24.43

General Workers Between 30-50 Percentage 62.64

General Workers Above 50 Percentage 12.93

Gender Group by Employee Category

Management Male Percentage 84.21

Management Female Percentage 15.79

Executive Male Percentage 82.61

Executive Female Percentage 17.39

Non-executive/Technical Staff Male Percentage 52.67

Non-executive/Technical Staff Female Percentage 47.33

General Workers Male Percentage 68.98

General Workers Female Percentage 31.02

Bursa C3(b) Percentage of directors by
gender and age group

Male Percentage 87.50

Female Percentage 12.50

Under 30 Percentage 0.00

Between 30-50 Percentage 0.00

Above 50 Percentage 100.00

Bursa (Energy management)

Bursa C4(a) Total energy consumption Megawatt 8,978.99

Bursa (Health and safety)

Bursa C5(a) Number of work-related
fatalities

Number 0

Bursa C5(b) Lost time incident rate ("LTIR") Rate 6.17

Bursa C5(c) Number of employees trained
on health and safety standards

Number 2,354

Bursa (Labour practices and standards)

Bursa C6(a) Total hours of training by
employee category

Management Hours 584

Executive Hours 2,559

Non-executive/Technical Staff Hours 3,623

General Workers Hours 5,769

Bursa C6(b) Percentage of employees that
are contractors or temporary staff

Percentage 0.00

Internal assurance External assurance No assurance (*)Restated

Indicator Measurement Unit 2024
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Internal assurance External assurance No assurance (*)Restated

Indicator Measurement Unit 2024
Bursa C6(c) Total number of employee
turnover by employee category

Management Number 1

Executive Number 5

Non-executive/Technical Staff Number 13

General Workers Number 135

Bursa C6(d) Number of substantiated
complaints concerning human rights
violations

Number 0

Bursa (Supply chain management)

Bursa C7(a) Proportion of spending on local
suppliers

Percentage 100.00

Bursa (Data privacy and security)

Bursa C8(a) Number of substantiated
complaints concerning breaches of
customer privacy and losses of customer
data

Number 0

Bursa (Water)

Bursa C9(a) Total volume of water used Megalitres 1,995.148406

Bursa (Waste management)

Bursa C10(a) Total waste generated Metric tonnes 922.52

Bursa C10(a)(i) Total waste diverted from
disposal

Metric tonnes 0.37

Bursa C10(a)(ii) Total waste directed to
disposal

Metric tonnes 922.15

Bursa (Emissions management)

Bursa C11(a) Scope 1 emissions in tonnes
of CO2e

Metric tonnes 0.24

Bursa C11(b) Scope 2 emissions in tonnes
of CO2e

Metric tonnes 0.00

Bursa C11(c) Scope 3 emissions in tonnes
of CO2e (at least for the categories of
business travel and employee commuting)

Metric tonnes 266.15

Internal assurance External assurance No assurance (*)Restated

Indicator Measurement Unit 2024
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Internal assurance External assurance No assurance (*)Restated
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Indicator Measurement Unit 2024
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Percentage 60.00

Bursa C1(c) Confirmed incidents of
corruption and action taken

Number 0
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Executive Hours 2,559

Non-executive/Technical Staff Hours 3,623

General Workers Hours 5,769

Bursa C6(b) Percentage of employees that
are contractors or temporary staff

Percentage 0.00

Internal assurance External assurance No assurance (*)Restated

Indicator Measurement Unit 2024
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Indicator Measurement Unit 2024
Bursa C6(c) Total number of employee
turnover by employee category

Management Number 1
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General Workers Number 135
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Bursa C8(a) Number of substantiated
complaints concerning breaches of
customer privacy and losses of customer
data

Number 0

Bursa (Water)

Bursa C9(a) Total volume of water used Megalitres 1,995.148406

Bursa (Waste management)

Bursa C10(a) Total waste generated Metric tonnes 922.52

Bursa C10(a)(i) Total waste diverted from
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Internal assurance External assurance No assurance (*)Restated
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GLOBAL REPORTING INITIATIVES (“GRI”) INDEX

Statement of use Innoprise Plantations Berhad has reported the information cited in this GRI content index for the period 
between 1st January and 31st December 2024 with reference to the GRI Standards

GRI 1 used GRI 1: Foundation 2021

GRI STANDARD  DISCLOSURE Location/ 
Page Reference

GRI 2: General 
Disclosures 2021 

2-1 Organisational details 22
2-2 Entities included in the organisation’s sustainability reporting 

21
2-3 Reporting period, frequency and contact point 
2-4 Restatements of information 35, 38, 39
2-5 External assurance NA; no external assurance 

has been conducted for 
non-financial information

2-6 Activities, value chain and other business relationships 22
2-7 Employees 

53-54
2-8 Workers who are not employees
2-9 Governance structure and composition 30-31
2-10 Nomination and selection of the highest governance body Please refer to the Annual 

Report 2024
2-11 Chair of the highest governance body 

30-31

2-12 Role of the highest governance body in overseeing the 
management of impacts 

2-13 Delegation of responsibility for managing impacts 
2-14 Role of the highest governance body in sustainability 

reporting 
2-15 Conflicts of interest Please refer to the Annual 

Report 2024
2-16 Communication of critical concerns 22, 33
2-17 Collective knowledge of the highest governance body 

Please refer to the Annual 
Report 2024

2-18 Evaluation of the performance of the highest governance 
body 

2-19 Remuneration policies 
2-20 Process to determine remuneration 
2-21 Annual total compensation ratio NA
2-22 Statement on sustainable development strategy 22
2-23 Policy commitments 

32-33
2-24 Embedding policy commitments 
2-25 Processes to remediate negative impacts 

332-26 Mechanisms for seeking advice and raising concerns 
2-27 Compliance with laws and regulations 
2-28 Membership associations 22
2-29 Approach to stakeholder engagement 28-29
2-30 Collective bargaining agreements 52

GRI 3: Material Topics 
2021

3-1 Processes to determine material topics
27

3-2 List of material topics
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GRI STANDARD  DISCLOSURE Location/ 
Page Reference

GRI 101: Biodiversity 
2024

3-3 Management of material topics

48-50

101-1 Policies to halt and reverse biodiversity loss
101-2 Management of biodiversity impacts
101-3 Access and benefit-sharing
101-4 Identification of biodiversity impacts
101-5 Locations with biodiversity impacts
101-6 Direct drivers of biodiversity loss
101-7 Changes to the state of biodiversity

GRI 201: Economic 
Performance 2016

3-3 Management of material topics 34-35
201-1 Direct economic value generated and distributed 34
201-2 Financial implications and other risks and opportunities due to 

climate change
40-41

201-3 Defined benefit plan obligations and other retirement plans 55
GRI 204: 
Procurement 
Practices 2016

3-3 Management of material topics
36204-1 Proportion of spending on local suppliers

GRI 205: Anti-
corruption 2016 

3-3 Management of material topics

32
205-2 Communication and training about anti-corruption policies 

and procedures
205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken

GRI 301: Materials 
2016

3-3 Management of material topics
47-48301-1 Materials used by weight or volume

301-2 Recycled input materials used
GRI 302: Energy 2016 3-3 Management of material topics

38-39
302-1 Energy consumption within the organisation
302-3 Energy intensity 35
302-4 Reduction of energy consumption 38-39

GRI 303: Water and 
Effluents 2018 

3-3 Management of material topics

45-46

303-1 Interactions with water as a shared resource
303-2 Management of water discharge-related impacts
303-3 Water withdrawal
303-4 Water discharge
303-5 Water consumption

GRI 305: Emissions 
2016 

3-3 Management of material topics 39-45
305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions 

44305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions
305-3 Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions
305-5 Reduction of GHG emissions 45

GRI 306: Waste 2020 3-3 Management of material topics

46-47

306-1 Waste generation and significant waste-related impacts
306-2 Management of significant waste-related impacts
306-3 Waste generated
306-4 Waste diverted from disposal
306-5 Waste directed to disposal
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GRI STANDARD  DISCLOSURE Location/ 
Page Reference

GRI 401: Employment 
2016

3-3 Management of material topics
52-54

401-1 New employee hires and employees
401-2 Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not provided 

to temporary or part-time employees
55

GRI 403: 
Occupational Health 
and Safety 2018

3-3 Management of material topics

57-58

403-1 Occupational health and safety management system
403-2 Hazard identification, risk assessment, and incident 

investigation
403-3 Occupational health services
403-4 Worker participation, consultation, and communication on 

occupational health and safety
403-5 Worker training on occupational health and safety
403-6 Promotion of worker health
403-7 Prevention and mitigation of occupational health and safety 

impacts directly linked by business relationships
403-8 Workers covered by an occupational health and safety 

management system
403-9 Work-related injuries
403-10 Work-related ill health

GRI 404: Training and 
Education 2016

3-3 Management of material topics
54-55404-2 Programmes for upgrading employee skills and transition 

assistance programmes
GRI 405: Diversity 
and Equal 
Opportunity 2016 

3-3 Management of material topics
53-54405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees

GRI 407: Freedom 
of Association and 
Collective Bargaining 
2016

3-3 Management of material topics

51-52407-1 Operations and suppliers in which the right to freedom of 
association and collective bargaining may be at risk

GRI 408: Child Labour 
2016

3-3 Management of material topics
51-52408-1 Operations and suppliers at significant risk for incidents of 

child labour
GRI 409: Forced or 
Compulsory Labor 
2016 

3-3 Management of material topics
51-52409-1 Operations and suppliers at significant risk for incidents of 

forced or compulsory labour
GRI 413: Local 
Communities 2016 

3-3 Management of material topics
58-59413-1 Operations with local community engagement, impact 

assessments, and development programmes
GRI 418: Customer 
Privacy 2016

3-3 Management of material topics
33418-1 Substantiated complaints concerning breaches of customer 

privacy and losses of customer data
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IFRS CONTENT INDEX

Disclosure IFRS S2 & TCFD Location/Explanation

Governance

a)	 Board Oversight
30-31, 39-40

b)	 Management’s Role

Strategy

a)	 Risks and Opportunities

40-43
b)	 Impact on Business Model and 

Value Chain
c)	 Strategy and Decision-Making
d)	 Financial Position The Group has not integrated climate strategies into the overall financial position of 

IPB, nor has the resilience of strategies been evaluated in any meaningful manner for 
the time being. This is because the Group has only recently conducted the climate risk 
assessment and identification process. 

The proposed strategies will be measured against IPB’s financial position to assess 
resilience in the near future when the Group is ready.

e)	 Resilience of Strategy

Risk Management

a)	 Risk Identification and 
Assessment Process

43b)	 Risk Management Process
c)	 Integration into Overall Risk 

Management

Metrics and Targets

a)	 Metrics Used
44

b)	 Performance Data
c)	 Targets Set 23-26
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The Board of Directors (“Board”) 
of Innoprise Plantations Berhad 
(“IPB” or “the Company”) 
recognises that exercise of 
good corporate governance in 
conducting the business and affairs 
of the Company with integrity, 
transparency and professionalism 
are key components for the 
long-term sustainability of IPB 
Group’s (“the Group”) businesses 
and performance. These will 
not only safeguard and enhance 
shareholders’ investment and 
value but will at the same time 
ensure that the interests of other 
stakeholders are protected.

The Board is therefore committed to 
high standards of corporate governance 
and business practices. Accordingly, 
the Board has adopted IPB Corporate 
Governance Guidelines (“IPB Guidelines”) 
to assist the Board in the exercise of its 
responsibilities. The IPB Guidelines, along 
with the Terms of Reference (“TORs”) of 
the Board and Board Committees, serve 
as the framework for maintaining strong 
corporate governance practices at IPB.

The Board is pleased to present 
this statement, an overview of IPB’s 
corporate governance practices during 
the financial year with reference to 
the three Principles which are set out 
in the Malaysian Code on Corporate 
Governance 2021 (“Code”):

Board leadership and 
effectiveness;

Effective audit and risk 
management; and

Integrity in corporate reporting 
and meaningful relationship with 
stakeholders

This Statement should be read together with the Corporate Governance Report (“CG Report”) which elaborates further 
on the detailed application of each practice as set out in the Code. The CG Report is available on the Company’s website,  
www.innoprise.com.my.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
OVERVIEW STATEMENT

A
B

C
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PRINCIPLE A : Board Leadership and Effectiveness

I.	ROLE  AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

	 The Board currently has overall responsibility for 
overseeing the effective management and control 
of the Group on behalf of IPB’s shareholders and 
supervising executive management’s conduct of the 
Group’s affairs within a controlled authority framework, 
which is designed to enable all aspects of operation are 
prudently and effectively assessed and monitored. The 
Board has adopted a schedule of matters reserved for its 
decision, a copy of which can be found on IPB’s website at  
www.innoprise.com.my.

	 The Board is guided by its Board Charter which sets 
out the Board’s roles, powers, duties and functions. The 
Board Charter can be found online at IPB’s website. The 
structure of the Board ensures that no individual or group 
of individuals dominates the Board’s decision-making 
process. The Board is supported by the Audit Committee, 
Remuneration Committee and N omination Committee. 
Each Board Committee has defined TORs, which can be 
found on IPB’s website.

	 Clear Functions of the Board and Management

	 There is a clear distinction between the roles and 
responsibilities of the Board, Chairman and Managing 
Director, as outlined in the IPB Guidelines. The Board 
is responsible for establishing the strategic objectives 
and policies of the Group to deliver sustainable value 
and long-term success. It provides effective leadership 
through management oversight and robust monitoring of 
performance and governance within the Group.

	 The respective roles of the Chairman and the Managing 
Director are clearly defined so as to promote accountability 
and facilitate division of responsibilities between them 
as a check and balance mechanism. The Board believes 
that the separation of the roles and responsibilities of the 
Chairman and the Managing Director ensures appropriate 
balance of power and authority. The Chairman leads the 
Board by setting the tone at the top, and managing the 
Board effectiveness by focusing on strategy, governance 
and compliance. The Managing Director focuses on the 
business, organisational effectiveness and day-to-day 
management of the Group. He also executes the Board’s 
decisions and strategic policies, leads the management 
executives to oversee the operations of the IPB Group.

	 The Board retains full and effective control of the 
Company. Matters specifically referred to the Board for 
approval include, inter-alia reviewing and approving 
corporate proposals, strategic plans and annual budgets, 

acquisitions and disposals of undertakings and properties 
of a substantial value, major investments and financial 
decisions and changes to the management and control 
structure within the Group, including key policies and 
procedures and delegated authority limits.

	 The Board delegates some of its function to the 
Committees of the Board which operate within clearly 
defined TORs with a view to assist in the fulfillment of its 
responsibilities. Chairmen of the various Committees 
report to the Board with recommendation on all matters 
considered at its meeting. In addition, minutes of each 
Board Committee meeting is circulated to all Board 
members in order to keep the Board abreast of the actions 
and decisions taken by each Board Committee.

	 The Board plays an active role in the development of 
the Group’s strategic plan with a view to maximising 
shareholder value and promoting sustainability. This 
includes review, comment and provides final approval of 
the Group’s strategic plan prepared by management. In 
conjunction with this, the Board also reviews and approves 
the annual budget for the ensuing year and monitors 
management’s implementation and performance in 
alignment with the agreed strategic plan.

	 The Board carries out periodic review of the achievements 
by the various operating segments against their respective 
business targets to determine whether these divisions are 
efficiently managed. Financial statements are reviewed by 
the Board before being released to public through Bursa 
LINK. 

	 Some of the matters considered by the Board in relation to 
the strategic priorities are disclosed in the CG Report.

	 Company Secretary

	 The Board is supported by two (2) qualified Company 
Secretaries of which one (1) is a member of the Malaysian 
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators 
(“MAICSA”) and one (1) is licensed by the Registrar, who 
both undertake the role jointly. The Company Secretaries 
ensure that all governance matters and Board policies and 
procedures are followed and provide advisory services to 
the Board on corporate administration and governance 
matters including compliance with relevant laws, rules and 
regulations. 

	 All Directors have access to the advice and services of the 
Company Secretaries, whose appointment and removal is 
a matter for the Board, to whom the Company Secretaries 
are directly accountable.
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PRINCIPLE A  
Board Leadership and Effectiveness (Continued) 

I.	ROLE  AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD 
(CONTINUED)

	 Supply and Access to Information and Advice

	 The Directors have access to all information within the 
Company, whether as a full board or in their individual 
capacity, to the extent that the information required is 
pertinent to the discharge of their duties as Directors. 

	 For each Board and Committee meeting, the meeting 
papers are, to the extent feasible, provided/made available 
5 working days prior to each meeting so that Directors have 
sufficient time to read and understand the information and 
obtain further information, clarification or explanation, 
where necessary. Adequate time is allocated for Directors 
to raise other matters not covered by the formal agenda.

	 The Board has also put into place a procedure for Directors, 
whether as a full Board or in their individual capacity, to 
take independent professional advice at the Company’s 
expense, if necessary. Details of such procedures are 
disclosed in the IPB Corporate Governance Guidelines.

	 Management will make all information readily available to 
the professional advisers and make themselves available to 
such advisers, if requested in order to facilitate the effective 
solution of the Directors’ concerns. The findings of the 
advisers will then be put before the Board for determination 
of any action that may be required by the Company.

	 Management may, from time to time, be requested to 
attend Board meetings to present and provide additional 
information on matters being discussed and to respond to 
any queries that the Directors may have.

	 Code of Ethics

	 The Board is guided by a high standard of ethical conduct in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Company Directors 
as established by the Companies Commission of Malaysia. 
The Board is ultimately responsible for the implementation 
of this Code of Ethics. 

	 The Board has delegated to the N omination Committee 
the responsibility to administer this Code of Ethics. The 
procedures which are set out in the IPB Guidelines are 
disclosed in the CG Report.

	 IPB has a Code of Ethics to govern the employees. The 
provisions set out in the Code of Ethics ensure compliance 
with laws and regulations, sound employment practices, 
confidentiality and privacy. It also includes amongst 

others, provisions on conflicts of interest, anti-bribery 
and the protection and proper use of IPB’s assets and 
resources. To tackle new challenges, this Code of Ethics 
has been expanded to include anti-corruption and money 
laundering provisions.

	 Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy (“ABC Policy”)

	 The Group is committed to conducting its business 
in an ethical and responsible manner, upholding the 
highest standards of integrity. The Group has in place 
an ABC Policy that provides clarity on the oversight and 
responsibilities, particularly in the area of anti-bribery 
and anti-corruption. The objective of this Policy is to 
communicate to both the employees and the general public 
of the Company’s commitment to combat bribery and 
corruption. It is essential that the policy is strictly adhered 
to without any compromise.

	 The Group’s policy on anti-bribery and anti-corruption 
is readily available on the Company’s website for easy 
reference. The Group conducts periodic reviews at least 
once every three (3) years to evaluate the performance, 
efficiency and effectiveness of its anti-bribery and 
corruption program, as well as the risk management 
system.

	 Whistle-Blowing Policy

	 The Board has adopted a Whistle-Blowing Policy that 
outlines the principles underpinning the policy and 
grievance procedures. This policy aims to encourage the 
reporting of any misconduct, wrongdoings, corruption 
and instances of fraud, waste, and/or abuse involving 
the resources of the Group, in good faith, with the 
confidence that stakeholders making such reports will, to 
the extent possible, be protected from reprisal. The Group 
is committed to absolute confidentiality and fairness in 
relation to the matters raised.

	 Details of whistle-blowing channel are available on the 
Company’s website at www.innoprise.com.my.

	 Governing Sustainability

	 The Board together with the senior management is 
responsible for the governance of sustainability within the 
Company. This includes setting the Company’s sustainability 
strategies, priorities and targets. Details of the sustainability 
governance framework, the Group’s strategies, priorities, 
targets and their performance against these targets are 
disclosed in the Sustainability Report of IPB Group, which 
are set out in this Annual Report.
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PRINCIPLE A  
Board Leadership and Effectiveness (Continued) 

II.	 BOARD COMPOSITION AND INDEPENDENCE

	 IPB Board currently consists of seven (7) members of 
which three (3) are Independent Non-Executive Directors 
including one (1) female Director, two (2) Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Directors, one (1) Executive Director and 
one (1) Managing Director. The Chairman is an Independent 
Non-Executive Director. 

	 The Board composition complies with the Main Market 
Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad 
(“Bursa Securities”) (“Listing Requirements”) that requires 
a minimum of two (2) Directors or one-third of the Board, 
whichever is higher, to be independent directors.

	 The Board consists of a majority of Non-Executive Directors 
and the Independent Directors are able to exercise strong 
independent judgement and provide balance to the Board 
with their unbiased and independent views, advice and 
judgement in all Board deliberations. The composition of 
the Board continues to provide the Group with a wealth of 
knowledge and experience to draw from a comprehensive 
mix of skills which includes financial, technical, public relations, 
accountancy, legal and business expertise that is important 
for the continued successful direction of the Group.

	 The Board, through its N omination Committee, reviews 
annually the size, composition and diversity of the Board 
and each Board Committee, and the skills and core 
competencies of its members, to ensure an appropriate 
balance and diversity of skills and experience. The Board 
and its N omination Committee have upon their annual 
assessment, concluded that the current Board size and 
composition of a balanced mix of skills, knowledge and 
experience in the business and management fields are 
appropriate and adequate to enable the Board to carry 
out its responsibilities in an effective and efficient manner.

	 Fit and Proper Policy

	 In line with the amendments to the Main Market Listing 
Requirements, the Group adopted the Fit and Proper Policy 
(“Policy”), setting out the criteria for new appointments and 
re-election of directors of the Group and its subsidiaries. 
This Policy serves as a guide to the Nomination Committee 
and the Board in their review and assessment of candidates 
that are to be appointed to the Board as well as directors 
who are seeking re-election.

	 The Policy includes assessing criteria such as probity, 
personal integrity, reputation, experience, and 
competency, as well as their commitment to fulfilling the 
required time and obligations to ensure that all individuals 
appointed as directors meet the necessary ethical and 
professional standards required for the position. 

	 The Policy is available on the Company’s website at  
www.innoprise.com.my. 

	 Annual Assessment of Independent Directors

	 The Independent Non-Executive Directors play a crucial 
role in bringing objectivity to the decisions made by the 
Board. They provide independent judgement, experience 
and objectivity without being subordinated to operational 
considerations. They help to ensure that the interests 
of all stakeholders are taken into account and that the 
relevant issues are subjected to objective and impartial 
consideration by the Board.

	 All Independent Directors are required to assess their 
level of independence annually by completing the form 
of annual assessment of independence of independent 
directors for submission to the N omination Committee 
for review and assessment. The Chairperson of the 
Nomination Committee shall then report the findings and/
or recommendations to the Board.

	 For the financial year ended 31 December 2024, each of 
the three (3) Independent Non-Executive Directors had 
provided an annual confirmation of his/her independence 
to the Board based on its policy on criteria of assessing 
independence in line with the definition of “independence 
directors” prescribed by the Listing Requirements. The 
Nomination Committee and the Board had assessed the 
three (3) Independent Non-Executive Directors of the 
Company, namely Datuk Hj. Majin Bin Hj. Ajing, Datuk 
Hajah Mary @ Mariati Robert and Lim Ted Hing and were 
satisfied with the level of independence demonstrated by 
all the Independent Directors and their ability to act in the 
best interest of the Company. Each Independent Director 
has retained their independence throughout the tenure 
and had not in any circumstances formed any association 
with management that might compromise their ability to 
exercise independent judgement.

	 Tenure of Independent Director

	 The Board believes that the interests of all stakeholders 
are best served if its composition includes a blend of 
experience and tenure among Directors. The Board is of the 
view that the ability of long serving independent directors 
to remain independent and to discharge their duties 
with integrity and competency should not be measured 
solely by tenure of service or any pre-determined age. 
Instead, a Director’s health, attitude, integrity, ability for 
dispassionate discourse, business knowledge or judgement, 
and the discharge of his duties and responsibilities in the 
best interest of the IPB Group, are also valid criteria to 
determine his independence and effectiveness. Their long 
service should not affect their independence as they are 
independent-minded and they continue to provide the 
necessary checks and balances in the best interest of the 
Company.
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PRINCIPLE A  
Board Leadership and Effectiveness (Continued) 

II.	 BOARD COMPOSITION AND INDEPENDENCE 
(CONTINUED)

	 Tenure of Independent Director (Continued)

	 The Code stated that the tenure of an Independent 
Director should not exceed a cumulative term limit of 
nine (9) years. Upon completion of nine (9) years, an 
Independent Director may continue to serve on the 
Board as Non-Independent Director or to seek annual 
shareholders’ approval if the Board intends to retain an 
Independent Director beyond nine (9) years. 

	 Notwithstanding the above, as at the date of this Statement, 
none of the Independent Director has served for more than 
nine (9) years on the Board.

	 Diversity

	 The Board acknowledges the importance of Board 
diversity, including gender, ethnicity, age and business 
experience, to the effective functioning of the Board. 
While it is important to promote such diversity, the normal 
selection criteria of a Director, based on effective blend of 
competencies, skills, extensive experience and knowledge 
in areas identified by the Board should remain a priority so 
as not to compromise on effectiveness in carrying out the 
Board’s functions and duties.

	 While the Board does not have a specific policy on setting 
targets for women candidates and ethnicity, the Board 
will as best as it can, ensure that its composition not only 
reflects the diversity as recommended by the Code but 
also has the right mix of skills and balance to contribute to 
the achievement of the Group’s goals. The Board, through 
its N omination Committee will evaluate and match the 
criteria of future potential nominees to the Board as well 
as considering the boardroom diversity. 

	 The board, through its Nomination Committee will continue 
to review the balance, experience and skills of the Board, 
paying attention to the Board’s gender diversity.

	 The Group also does not have a specific policy on 
setting targets for women representation in the senior 
management due to the nature of its primary business. 
The Company practices equal employment opportunities 
for all qualified individuals to create a workforce that 
is fair and inclusive and seeks to retain and attract the 
best people to do the job. The Company rewards and 
promotes employees based on assessment of individual 
performance, capability and potential. The Company is 

committed to providing opportunities that allow individuals 
to reach their full potential irrespective of individual 
background or difference.

	 Appointment of New Directors

	 A formal and transparent procedure, which includes the Fit 
and Proper Policy has been established for the appointment 
of new Directors to the Board. The Nomination Committee 
is empowered to identify and recommend suitable 
Directors to fill new positions created by expansion and 
vacancies that occur by resignation, retirement or for any 
other reason. 

	 Selection of candidates to be considered for appointment 
as Directors is facilitated through recommendations from:

(a)	 the Managing Director, other Directors or shareholders 
for executive position;

(b)	 Non-Executive and/or Independent Directors or non-
major controlling shareholders for non-executive 
position; and

(c)	 external parties including the Company’s contacts 
in related industries as well as independent sources 
such as women directors’ registry, finance, legal and 
accounting professions. 

	 A comprehensive and independent assessment of the 
candidate will be conducted by the Nomination Committee 
without any influence from the major controlling 
shareholders, Managing Director or Executive Director.

	 In considering candidates as potential Directors, the 
Nomination Committee takes into account the following 
criteria other than those as outlined in the Fit and Proper 
Policy:

→	 skills, knowledge, expertise and experience;
→	 character, integrity and professionalism;
→	 perceived ability to work cohesively with other 

members of the Board;
→	 number of directorships and other external obligations 

which may affect the Director’s commitment, including 
time commitment and value contribution;

→	 diversity in age, gender and experience/background; 
and

→	 such other relevant factors as may be determined by 
the Nomination Committee which would contribute to 
the Board’s collective skills. 

	 whilst taking into account the current and future needs 
of the Company, boardroom diversity and other soft 
attributes required as Directors.
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PRINCIPLE A  
Board Leadership and Effectiveness (Continued) 

III 	FOSTER  COMMITMENT 

	 Time Commitment

	 The Board has adopted a policy whereby all its Board members are required to notify the Chairman of the Board before 
accepting any new directorship and to indicate the time expected to be spent on the new appointment. 

	 A schedule of Board and Board Committee meetings set for a whole financial year is prepared in advance and tabled to the 
Board for approval before the commencement of a new financial year to enable the Directors to plan ahead and allocate time 
in their respective schedules.

	 During the financial year, the Board met four (4) times, whereat it deliberated and considered various matters including 
the Group’s financial results, major investment and strategic decisions, business plan and direction of the Group. Details of 
attendance of each Board member are as follows:

Name 23/02/24 23/05/24 19/08/24 25/11/24 Total

Datuk Hj. Majin Bin Hj. Ajing 4/4
Tan Aik Kiong 4/4
Dato’ Sri Haji Gulamhaidar @ Yusof Bin Khan Bahadar, J.P. 2/4
Datuk Jasnih Bin Daya 3/4
Datuk Hajah Mary @ Mariati Robert 4/4
Lim Ted Hing 4/4
Ng Chee Fen 4/4

	 All the Directors of the Company have complied with the Listing Requirements of not holding more than five (5) directorships 
in listed issuers at any given time.

	 Directors’ Training

	 All Directors receive a comprehensive briefing on first 
appointment, with subsequent updating as necessary. They 
were also provided with a Directors’ manual containing 
amongst others, the background information on IPB Group, 
IPB Guidelines and other relevant policies for their reference.

	 All Directors have attended the Mandatory Accreditation 
Programme (MAP) Part I and Part II: Leading for Impact 
organised by Institute of Corporate Directors Malaysia, 
except for Independent Non-Executive Director, Lim Ted 
Hing, who has completed MAP Part I and is scheduled to 
attend MAP Part II on 9-10 July 2025. The Board, through 
the Nomination Committee had undertaken an assessment 
of the training needs of each Director for the financial year 
under review and concluded that all Board members have 
vast experience and extensive knowledge in managing the 
core business of the Group. Nonetheless, the Directors are 
encouraged to attend appropriate training programmes 
to ensure that they keep abreast with various issues facing 
the changing business environment within which the Group 
operates to effectively discharge their duties as Directors.

	 For the year under review, all Directors had attended 
various seminars, talk, briefing, webinars and/or workshop 

either collectively or individually, details of which are set 
out in the CG Report.

IV	 BOARD COMMITTEES

	 Nomination Committee

	 The Board has established a Nomination Committee which 
currently comprises two (2) Independent Non-Executive 
Director and one (1) Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director. The members of the N omination Committee, 
chaired by a Senior Independent Director, are as follows:

→	 Datuk Hajah Mary @ Mariati Robert (Chairperson)
→	 Dato’ Sri Haji Gulamhaidar @ Yusof Bin Khan Bahadar, J.P.
→	 Lim Ted Hing 

	 The N omination Committee is responsible for reviewing 
the Board’s succession plans, training for Directors and 
assessing the effectiveness of the Board and Board 
Committees. The Committee is governed by its TORs which 
is made available on IPB’s website.

	 The Nomination Committee convened one (1) meeting for 
the financial year under review and all the members of the 
Nomination Committee attended the meeting.
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PRINCIPLE A  
Board Leadership and Effectiveness (Continued) 

IV	 BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

	 Annual Assessment

	 The Board has adopted a formal process to be carried 
out by the N omination Committee for reviewing its own 
effectiveness and that of its individual Directors and 
Board Committees and assessing the independence of 
its Independent Directors. The process will also take into 
account the fulfillment of the respective TORs of the Board 
and Board Committees.

	 Details of the evaluation process and criteria as well as 
summary of the activities undertaken by the Nomination 
Committee during 2024 are disclosed in the CG Report.

	 The results of the annual assessment of the Board and 
Board Committees for the financial year under review 
revealed that there are no items with the rating of 2 
(needs improvement) or below or exceptional matters 
being brought up by the Directors. The Board and Board 
Committees had carried out their duties well and amicably 
and the functioning of the Board and Board Committees 
remain highly effective. The Board agreed that the Board 
as a whole, Board Committees and all Directors had 
performed well for the financial year under review.

	 The Nomination Committee also satisfied with the existing 
composition of the Board and Board Committees and was 
of the view that with the current mix of skills, knowledge, 
experience and strength of the Directors, the Board and 
the respective Board Committees were able to discharge 
their duties effectively.

	 The Directors who are due for retirement and re-election 
pursuant to Clause 100 of the Company’s Constitution 
are Tan Aik Kiong and Ng Chee Fen. The Nomination 
Committee has recommended their re-election at the 
forthcoming AGM.

	 Future priorities of the Nomination Committee include the 
following:

→	 reviewing the overall composition of the Board, in 
terms of the appropriate size, skills, experience and 
qualification, paying attention to the Board’s gender 
diversity and number of Independent Directors.

→	 considering the engagement of external Board 
evaluation facilitator/consultant.

	 For the purpose of determining the eligibility of the 
Directors to stand for re-election at the forthcoming AGM, 
the Board through its Nomination Committee had assessed 
the performance and contribution of each of the retiring 
Directors. Besides, the aforesaid retiring Directors were 
also assessed by the Nomination Committee Chairperson 
based on the IPB Group Directors’ Fit and Proper 
Policy. Based on the results of the respective Directors’ 
performance and fit and proper evaluations conducted, 
the Board is satisfied with the Directors’ performance 
and the level of contribution to the Board through their 
knowledge, skills and commitment as well as their abilities 
to act in the best interest of the Company. In addition, 
the Independent Directors standing for re-election has 
also provided his/her annual declaration/confirmation of 
independence. Premised on this, the Board has accepted 
the N omination Committee’s recommendation for their  
re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

	 The N omination Committee shall continue to review 
the overall composition of the Board, in terms of the 
appropriate size, skills, experience and qualification, 
paying attention to the Board’s gender diversity and 
number of Independent Directors.

	 Remuneration Committee

	 The Board has established a Remuneration Committee and 
currently comprises two (2) Independent Non-Executive 
Directors and one (1) Executive Director as follows:

→	 Lim Ted Hing (Chairperson)
→	 Tan Aik Kiong 
→	 Datuk Hajah Mary @ Mariati Robert	

	 The Remuneration Committee’s primary responsibility 
is to recommend to the Board the remuneration of the 
Executive Directors and senior management staff in all its 
forms, drawing from outside advice as necessary. 

	 The Remuneration Committee assists the Board in 
developing a policy on remuneration of Directors to 
attract and retain Directors and ensure that rewards and 
remuneration packages commensurate with each of their 
expected responsibilities and contribution to growth and 
long-term profitability of the Company. 
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PRINCIPLE A  
Board Leadership and Effectiveness (Continued) 

IV	 BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

	 The remuneration of the Executive Directors is structured on the basis of linking rewards to corporate and individual 
performance. The Executive Directors play no part in deciding their own remuneration and the Directors concerned shall 
abstain from all discussion pertaining to their remuneration. 

	 The level of remuneration for N on-Executive Directors reflects the experience and level of responsibilities. The Board 
as a whole determines the remuneration package of Non-Executive Directors. The annual Directors’ fees payable to 
Non-Executive Directors are subject to shareholders’ approval at the AGM based on the recommendation of the Board. 
Additional allowances are paid to certain Non-Executive Directors in accordance with the number of Board Committee 
meetings attended during the financial year.

	 The Board approved the Remuneration Committee recommendation to seek shareholders’ approval at the 30th AGM for 
payment of Directors’ Fees and Directors’ Benefits of an amount up to RM600,000 and RM80,000 respectively, from 23 May 
2024 until the next AGM of the Company in accordance with Section 230 of the Companies Act 2016.

	 Details of the remuneration of the Directors of the Company for the financial year under review are disclosed in the CG Report.

	 The Remuneration Committee convened one (1) meeting for the financial year under review and all members of the 
Remuneration Committee attended the meeting.

PRINCIPLE B : Effective Audit and Risk Management

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises 
three (3) members, all of whom are Non-Executive Directors 
with a majority of them being Independent Directors. The 
Audit Committee is chaired by an Independent Non-Executive 
Director who is not the Chairman of the Board. None of the 
Audit Committee members were former audit partners who 
are required to observe a cooling-off period of at least three 
(3) years before being appointed in accordance with the TORs.

The Audit Committee has a key role in the oversight of the 
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control 
systems of the Company. Its key function is to assist the Board 
to assess the risks and control environment, oversee the 
financial reporting process, evaluate the internal and external 
audit process, and review any conflicts of interest situations and 
related party transactions. The roles and responsibilities of the 
Audit Committee are governed by its TORs which is periodically 
assessed, reviewed and updated by the Audit Committee or as 
and when there are changes to the regulatory requirements 
and direction or strategies of the Company that may affect the 
Audit Committee’s role. 

The term of office and performance of the Audit Committee 
and each of its members are reviewed annually by the Board 
through the N omination Committee, to ensure the Audit 
Committee and members have carried out their duties in 
accordance with their TORs.

The Audit Committee is authorised by the Board to investigate 
any matter within its TORs and to have the resources in order to 
perform its duties and responsibilities as set out in its TORs. The 
Audit Committee’s TORs are made available on the Company’s 
website at www.innoprise.com.my and its report is set out in the 
ensuing pages of this Annual Report.

The Company’s financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2024 are prepared in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2016 and applicable financial 
reporting standards in Malaysia. The Board is responsible to 
ensure that the financial statements give a true and fair view 
and balanced and understandable assessment of the state of 
affairs of the Company and of the Group. The Statement of 
Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the preparation of the 
annual audited financial statements is set out in the ensuing 
pages of this Annual Report.

The Audit Committee assists the Board to review the adequacy 
and integrity of the Group’s financial administration and 
reporting, internal control and risk management systems. 

During the year under review, the Audit Committee reviewed the 
Company’s quarterly results and annual financial statements 
prior to recommending them for the Board’s approval and 
release to public through Bursa LINK.
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PRINCIPLE B  
Effective Audit and Risk Management (Continued) 

AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

The Chief Financial Officer formally presented the Company’s 
quarter-to-quarter and year-to-date financial performance 
against budget as well as performance of each business 
segment. The Chief Financial Officer also provided assurance 
to the Audit Committee that adequate processes and controls 
were in place for an effective and efficient financial statement 
close process, that appropriate accounting policies had 
been adopted and applied consistently and that the relevant 
financial statements gave a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Group.

In addition, the Head of Internal Audit also undertook 
independent assessment of the system of internal control and 
assured the Audit Committee that no material issue or major 
deficiency had been noted which posed a high risk to the overall 
system of internal control under review. 

ASSESSMENT OF SUITABILITY AND INDEPENDENCE OF 
EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Board through the Audit Committee maintains a formal 
and transparent relationship with the Company’s external 
auditors. The external auditors are invited to attend the Audit 
Committee meetings and AGMs and are available to answer 
shareholders’ questions on the conduct of the statutory audit 
and the preparation and content of their audit report.

The Audit Committee undertakes annual independent 
assessment of the external auditors, details of which are 
disclosed in the CG Report. The Audit Committee continually 
reviews and approves the nature and extent of non-audit 
services provided to the Group by the external auditors to 
ensure that external auditors’ independence and objectivity 
are safeguarded. The external auditors have presented 
their Annual Transparency Reporting and provided written 
assurances to the Audit Committee on their independence.

Overall, the Audit Committee was satisfied with the suitability 
of Messrs. Ernst & Young PLT as external auditors of the 
Group based on the quality of audit services and sufficiency of 
resources provided by them.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL AUDIT

The Board recognises the importance of risk management 
and internal controls in the overall management process. 
It is responsible for maintaining a sound system of risk 
management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ 
investment and the Company’s assets, and is supported by the 
Audit Committee to ensure the risks in the Group are identified 
and managed with appropriate risk management system.

The Board has established framework and policies to ensure 
that risk management and internal controls across the various 
risk classes are managed within risk appetite set by the Board. 
To ensure their continuous effectiveness, the framework 
and policies are reviewed periodically, and when there are 
significant regulatory changes. Risk management is an ongoing 
process facilitated by Internal Audit. The assessments together 
with mitigating measures are presented to the Audit Committee 
on quarterly basis for deliberation.

The Company has put in place a comprehensive system of 
internal controls which is embodied within the Standard 
Operating Procedures covering financial controls, operational 
and compliance controls and risk management. The Company 
will continue to review, add on or update the system to be in 
line with the changes in the operating environment. The Board 
seeks regular assurance on the continuity and effectiveness of 
the internal control system through independent appraisals by 
the internal and external auditors. Information on the Group’s 
internal control and risk management are presented in the 
Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control.

In addition to routine business, the Audit Committee through 
the internal audit function actively reviews:

→	 whether the systems in place are being followed;
→	 risk register at every meeting as on-going process for 

risk identification, assessment and mitigation on Group’s 
operation; and

→	 audit findings are discussed with management for 
execution and implementation.

The Company has established an internal audit function which 
reports directly to the Audit Committee. The internal audit 
department communicates regularly with the members of 
the Audit Committee and the Head of Internal Audit is invited 
to attend meetings of the Audit Committee. Internal audit 
activities, all of which are risk-based, are performed by a team 
of appropriate, qualified and experienced employees. Further 
information on internal audit function is set out in the Audit 
Committee Report of this Annual Report and CG Report.
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PRINCIPLE C : Integrity in Corporate Reporting and Meaningful Relationship with 
Stakeholders

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

IPB Group is committed to engaging all stakeholders in a timely, 
effective and transparent manner. The Group has established 
a comprehensive website at www.innoprise.com.my, which 
includes a dedicated section on Investor Relations, to support 
its communication with the investment community. Investor 
enquiries maybe directed to our Executive Director, Ng Chee 
Fen at cheefen@innoprise.com.my. Stakeholders who wish to 
reach the respective divisions of the Group can do so through 
the ‘Contact Us’ section of the Company’s website. 

The stakeholder groups whose activities could have significant 
impact on IPB Group’s business are carefully identified and are 
engaged at various platforms and intervals throughout the year. 
A variety of engagement initiatives including direct meetings 
and dialogues with community are constantly conducted. The 
Group also actively seeks solutions to grievances and disputes 
through negotiations and other due processes. The Company’s 
Sustainability Team has a dedicated section to address any 
enquires or grievances relating to sustainability issues. A 
summary of the stakeholder engagement can be found in the 
Sustainability Report 2024.

CORPORATE DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company’s Corporate Disclosure Policy is designed to 
ensure the timely and equal release of material price-sensitive 
information to the market. This policy establishes procedures 
to ensure that Directors and employees are aware of the 
Company’s disclosure obligations and procedures, and have 
accountability for the Company’s compliance with those 
obligations.

The Company has also put in place the precautions to 
be observed in order to keep the information completely 
confidential. The Board is mindful that information which is 
expected to be material must be announced immediately.

LEVERAGE ON INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

The Company maintains a website at www.innoprise.com.my  
for shareholders and the public to access information on 
amongst others, the Company’s background, business activities 
and products, annual reports, corporate responsibility, 
shareholders’ rights, updates on its various news and events 
and financial performance. In addition, the Board has also 
established a dedicated section for corporate governance 
on the Company’s website where information on the Board 
Charter, shareholders’ rights, code of ethics and conducts, 
anti-bribery and corruption and whistle-blowing and Directors’ 
Fit and Proper Policy can be accessed.

The Board also encourages other channel of communication 
with shareholders. For this purpose, shareholders and other 
stakeholders may convey their concerns relating to the 
Company to the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director, 
Lim Ted Hing. At all times, shareholders may contact the 
Company Secretary for information on the Company.

ENCOURAGE SHAREHOLDER PARTICIPATION AT 
GENERAL MEETINGS

The AGM is the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders, 
who are given the opportunity to enquire and seek clarification 
on the operations and financial performance of the Group. 
Hence, the Chairman and the Board encourage shareholders 
to attend and participate in the AGM and any general meetings 
of the Company. Barring any unforeseen circumstances, all 
Directors have always used their best endeavours to attend 
general meetings. The respective Chairman of the Audit 
Committee, N omination Committee and Remuneration 
Committee are also available to provide meaningful response 
to any question raised by shareholders. 

In line with Practice 13.1 of the Code, the Notice of the 30th AGM 
and a copy of the Company’s annual report were issued at least 
28 days before the AGM date. The shareholders were given the 
opportunity to seek clarification on the Company’s financial 
statements and other items for adoption at the meetings 
before the resolutions were put to vote. It has always been 
the practice for the Chairman to provide ample time for the 
Question & Answer section at the AGM and for suggestions and 
comments given by shareholders to be noted by management 
for consideration. Where it is not possible to provide immediate 
answers to shareholders’ enquiries, the Board will undertake to 
provide the answer after the meeting via email. 

An independent scrutineer was appointed to validate all the 
votes cast. The poll results were announced by the scrutineer 
and displayed on screen before the closure of the AGM. The 
poll results were also announced by the Company via Bursa 
LINK on the same day for the benefit of all shareholders. The 
minutes of the AGM was published on the Company’s website 
within 30 days after the conclusion of the AGM.
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PRINCIPLE C  
Integrity in Corporate Reporting and Meaningful Relationship with Stakeholders (Continued) 

KEY FOCUS AREAS AND FUTURE PRIORITIES

The Board recognises the critical role of ESG integration in the Group's operations. In FY2024, the Group reassessed its material 
sustainability matters, identifying 10 key priorities, and strengthened governance to enhance Board oversight.

The Group is developing a framework to measure and track sustainability performance, setting clear targets aligned with global 
goals. A phased roadmap will outline short- to long-term objectives. Proactively addressing regulatory and climate challenges, the 
Group is enhancing climate resilience through scenario analysis to mitigate risks and seize opportunities. These efforts align with 
IFRS requirements, with updates to follow in future reports, ensuring long-term sustainability and business resilience.

While the Board does not currently have a formal gender diversity policy, it recognises that the organisation's future success 
depends on cultivating a diverse pipeline of skilled leaders at all levels. The Board believes in appointing members based on a 
balanced mix of skills, experience, industry knowledge, and independence, alongside a commitment to merit-based talent 
development. Going forward, gender diversity will be one of the factors to be considered in evaluating prospective candidates 
when board vacancies arise.

ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION 

1.	 Utilisation of Proceeds

	 No proceeds were raised by the Company from any corporate proposal during the financial year.

2.	A udit and Non-Audit Fees

	 The amount of fees paid or payable to the External Auditors, Messrs. Ernst & Young PLT and its affiliates, in relation to the audit 
and non-audit services rendered to the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

Group
RM

Company
RM

Audit fees 184,000 105,000

Non-audit fees 46,000 9,000

3.	 Material Contracts 

	 During the financial year under review, save as disclosed in the next section on Recurrent Related Party Transactions, there 
were no material contracts entered into by the Company and/or its subsidiaries involving Directors’ and major shareholders’ 
interests which were still subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

	
4.	 Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature

	 At the last AGM of the Company held on 23 May 2024, the Company had obtained a mandate from its shareholders 
(“Shareholders’ Mandate”) to allow the Company and/or its subsidiaries to enter into Recurrent Related Party Transactions 
of a Revenue or Trading N ature (“Recurrent Transactions”). In accordance with Paragraph 10.09(2)(b) of the Listing 
Requirements, details of the Recurrent Transactions conducted during the financial year ended 31 December 2024 pursuant 
to the Shareholders’ Mandate are as follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
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PRINCIPLE C  
Integrity in Corporate Reporting and Meaningful Relationship with Stakeholders (Continued) 

ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4.	 Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature (Continued)

Name of
Companies Related parties Class of related party

Nature of
Recurrent
Transactions

Aggregate value 
of transactions 

made during 
the financial year 

(RM)

Serijaya Industri
Sdn. Bhd.
(Seller)

TSH Plantation
Management
Sdn. Bhd. 
(“TSHPM”) 
(Buyer)

TSHPM is 24% owned by TSH 
Resources Berhad (“TSHR”) and 
76% owned by TSH Plantation 
Sdn. Bhd. (“TSHP”) which in turn 
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
TSHR, a major shareholder of the 
Company.

Sale of oil palm 
fresh fruit 
bunches.

375,161

Serijaya Industri
Sdn. Bhd.
(Seller)

TSHPM
(Buyer)

Same as disclosed above. Sale of Empty 
Fruit Bunches, 
Fibre and Shell.

Nil

Serijaya Industri
Sdn. Bhd.
(Buyer)

Benta Wawasan 
Sdn Bhd (“BWSB”)
(Seller)

BWSB is a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Innoprise Corporation Sdn 
Bhd, a major shareholder of the 
Company.

Purchase of oil 
palm fresh fruit 
bunches.

Nil

Serijaya Industri
Sdn. Bhd.
(Seller)

TSH-Wilmar  
Sdn. Bhd. 
(“TSHW”) (Buyer)

TSHW is 50% owned by TSHR, 
a major shareholder of the 
Company.

Sale of crude
palm oil.

249,927,650

Serijaya Industri
Sdn. Bhd.
(Seller)

TSHW
(Buyer)

Same as disclosed above. Sale of palm 
kernel. 

26,516,083

Serijaya Industri
Sdn. Bhd.
(Buyer)

TSH Biotech Sdn 
Bhd (“TSHB”) 
(Seller)

TSHB is a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of TSHP which in turn is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of TSHR, a major 
shareholder of the Company.

Purchase of tree 
seedlings.

848,580

	 This Statement has been reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors on 21 April 2025.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that 
the Group has a sound system of internal control and risk 
management practices for good corporate governance as 
well as periodically reviewing its adequacy and integrity to 
safeguard shareholders’ investments, customers’ interests 
and Group assets. A good control system will assist the Group 
in achieving its corporate objectives. However, due to inherent 
limitations, the risk management and internal control system is 
designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 
achieve the business objectives. The system can only be relied 
on to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement of financial information and against 
any mismanagement or fraud resulting in financial losses. The 
concept of reasonable assurance also recognises that the cost 
of control procedures should not exceed the expected benefits.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management is regarded by the Board as an important 
aspect of the Group’s operations with the objective of 
maintaining a sound system of internal control to ensure that 
the Group’s assets are well protected and shareholders’ value 
is enhanced.

IPB has established an Enterprise Risk Management 
framework. The framework provides a structured approach 
towards identifying, measuring, managing, monitoring and 
reporting key risks affecting the Group’s business operations. 
Key risks identified are assessed for their likelihood and impact 
should the risks materialise. Upon identifying, assessing and 
prioritising the risks, steps have to be taken to mitigate them. 
These procedures are subjected to periodic review in an effort 
to cater to process and risk changes.

Within the framework, the Board retains the overall risk 
management responsibility by performing risk oversight and 
delegate day-to-day decisions to the Managing Director and 

Senior Management team. Besides, the Internal Auditors are 
to independently examine and verify the risk management 
framework for its completeness and reliability.

As an ongoing compliance effort with regard to Section 17A of 
the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission (Amendment) Act 
2018, management ensures that refresher courses and exams 
are being rolled out. These courses act as a reminder for the 
initial anti-bribery training received in the preceding year. 
Broadly, the Group focuses on managing two types of risks, 
strategic and operational. Strategic risks are caused by events 
that are external to the Group, but have a significant impact 
on its strategic decisions or activities. These are dealt with by 
the Board.

Operational risks are inherent in the activities within the 
different business units or subsidiaries of the Group. These 
risks are the responsibility of the various business units or 
department heads. However, the Group impresses on all its 
employees that everyone at IPB Group is responsible for good 
risk management practices.

KEY RISKS IN 2024

Price fluctuations

Crude Palm Oil (“CPO”) prices tend to be cyclical and fluctuate 
in accordance with the global supply and demand of major oils 
and fats; and edible oil prices such as soybean, sunflower and 
rapeseed oil which are substitutes for palm oil.

Although the movement in CPO prices is beyond IPB Group’s 
control, the Management mitigates the adverse effect of 
fluctuation in CPO and palm kernel prices by entering into short-
term forward contracts with its major customers. In addition, 
the management constantly analyses and monitors the global 
demand patterns and trends for oils and fats, particularly palm oil 
to make prompt and informed decisions regarding its CPO sales.

The Board of Directors of IPB (“Board”) is pleased to provide the 
following Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control pursuant 
to paragraph 15.26(b) of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Main 
Market Listing Requirements (“Main Market Listing Requirements”).
Set out below is the Board’s Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control which outlines the nature and state of risk 
management and internal control of the Group during the year under review, and up to the date of this Annual Report.
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Weather conditions

Extreme weather conditions, including both drought (El Nino) 
and prolonged rainy seasons (La Nina) may adversely impact 
estate operations. Prolonged dry weather brought on by El Nino 
causes moisture stress in palms and can lead to crop reduction 
in the medium and longer terms. On the other hand, prolonged 
rainy seasons may also affect the progress and effectiveness of 
field maintenance programmes as well as hamper harvesting 
and logistic activities.

IPB Group has implemented several measures to alleviate 
problems associated with unfavourable weather conditions 
i.e. wet and dry weather. For example, to mitigate issues 
arising from wet weather, the Group has setup a dedicated 
road maintenance team to tackle the damaged roads, 
collapsed bridges and culverts. During dry weather, fire 
patrols are constantly on guard for any potential fire hazards 
and palm oil mill and housing quarters are equipped with fire-
fighting equipment as an emergency safety measure. F ire-
fighting training is conducted in-house in all units in ensuring 
preparedness during the dry weather.

Labour force

IPB Group respects, supports and upholds fundamental 
human rights, and does not engage in any form of illegal, 
forced, bonded or human trafficking and takes appropriate 
measures to prevent the use of such labour in connection with 
its operations.

The Group is committed in absorbing all employer related 
recruitment fees. Employment of child labour is prohibited 
within IPB Group’s operations. Appropriate remedial/follow up 
actions shall be imposed in the event any child abuse is found, in 
order to protect the welfare of the child.

IPB Group adopts measures to promote the retention of 
employees by providing formal training, standard operating 
procedures, competitive remuneration, housing and amenities 
and a harmonious working environment. The well-being of 
the Group’s employees have always been the Group’s utmost 
priority. The Group constantly emphasises the importance of 
safety and health, as well as a conducive working and living 
environment for employees and their families. Over the years, 
the Group has been steadfast in taking concrete steps to 
upgrade and conduct regular maintenance on existing housing 
facilities while constructing new houses to meet ongoing 
requirements.

The Group is currently in the process of mechanising certain 
field operations to reduce dependency on labour. To date, the 
Group has not encountered any serious labour shortages or any 
significant labour dispute that could potentially result in a major 
disruption in the daily operations. In addition, the Group has 
also appointed experienced estate managers to manage the 

estates and trainings are regularly conducted, with the purpose 
of recruiting and training suitable local workers to mitigate any 
labour shortage and maintain operating standards.

Internal Control

The process is periodically reviewed by the Board through the 
Audit Committee and is guided by the publication – Statement on 
Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors 
of Listed Issuers issued by the Taskforce on Internal Control.

The key processes that the Directors established with regards 
to the system of internal control are as follows:-

→	 Organisational structure with defined reporting line.
→	 Adoption of clearly documented standard operating 

procedures covering key processes. These established 
procedures define the level of authorities and lines of 
responsibilities from operating units up to the Group 
corporate level to ensure accountability for risk 
management and control activities.

→	 Establishment of comprehensive budgeting and 
forecasting system. Each operating unit submits a budget 
annually for approval by the Board. The actual results are 
reported, analysed and monitored against the budget.

→	 Comprehensive management and financial information 
are provided to the Board to facilitate decision making.

→	 Regular Board and Management meetings to assess 
the Group’s performance and continuous monitoring of 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control 
framework.

→	 Corporate policy on zero tolerance pertaining to fraud and 
criminal breach of trust.

→	 Establishment of a system of governance through its 
Directors’ Fit and Proper Policy, Board Charter, Code 
of Ethics and Conducts, Shareholders Rights, Corporate 
Disclosures Policy and Procedures, Whistle-Blowing Policy, 
Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy, Terms of Reference of 
Audit Committee and Terms of Reference of Nomination 
Committee. 

→	 Adequate insurance coverage on major assets to prevent 
material losses and reduce potential contingent liabilities.

Internal Audit Function

→	 Internal Audit function is established to assist in providing 
assurance on the effectiveness of the internal control 
system within the Group. Internal auditors conduct regular 
visits to review the effectiveness of the control procedures 
in place and to ensure accurate and timely financial 
management reporting.

→	 The internal audit department reports directly to the Audit 
Committee. U pon conducting reviews on the system of 
internal control and effectiveness of processes that are in 
place, internal audit reports are prepared and presented 
to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis or earlier, as 
appropriate.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 
AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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Internal Audit Function (Continued)

→	 The internal audit function adopts a risk-based approach and prepares its audit plan based on the risk profiles of the key 
business units of the Group after taking into consideration inputs of Senior Management and the Audit Committee.

→	 Internal audit department also conducts subsequent follow-up reviews to ensure Management has dealt with audit 
recommendations and taken appropriate actions satisfactorily.

REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The external auditors have reviewed this Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control pursuant to the scope set out in 
Audit and Assurance Practice Guide 3, Guidance for Auditors on Engagements to report on the Statement on Risk Management 
and Internal Control included in the Annual Report (“AAPG 3”) issued by the Malaysia Institute of Accountants (“MIA”) for inclusion 
in the Annual Report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024, and reported to the Board that nothing has come to their 
attention that causes them to believe the Statement of the group intended to be included in the Annual Report of the Group, in all 
material aspects, has not been prepared in accordance with the disclosures required by paragraphs 41 and 42 of the Statement on 
Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers, or is factually inaccurate.

AAPG 3 does not require the external auditors to consider whether the Directors’ Statement on Risk Management and Internal 
Control covers all risks and controls, or to form an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management 
and internal control system including the assessment and opinion by the Directors and management thereon. The report from 
the external auditors was made solely for, and directed solely to the Board of Directors in connection with their compliance with 
the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and for no other purposes or parties. The external auditors do not 
assume responsibility to any person other than the Board of Directors in respect of any aspect of this report.

CONCLUSION

The Board has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system through the above 
activities and is not aware of any significant weaknesses or deficiencies in the Group’s risk management and internal control 
practices for the year under review and to the date of this report. The Board has also obtained assurance from the Executive 
Director and the Head of Finance that the risk management and internal control system are in place and operating effectively.

This statement has been reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors on 21 April 2025.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 
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The Board is pleased to present the following report on the Audit 
Committee and its activities for the financial year ended 31 December 
2024.

AUDIT COMMITTEE COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises the following Non-Executive Directors, a majority of whom are 
Independent Directors and is chaired by an Independent Non-Executive Director; 

Lim Ted Hing
Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director
(Member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants)

Dato’ Sri Haji Gulamhaidar @ Yusof Bin Khan Bahadar, J.P. 
Member, Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Datuk Hajah Mary @ Mariati Robert
Member, Independent Non-Executive Director

The Audit Committee met five (5) times during the year to discharge its duties and responsibilities. Attendance of members of the 
Audit Committee during 2024 is shown in the table below.

Name 23/02/24 08/04/24 23/05/24 19/08/24 25/11/24 Total

Lim Ted Hing 5/5

Dato’ Sri Haji Gulamhaidar @ Yusof Bin Khan 
Bahadar, J.P. 3/5

Datuk Hajah Mary @ Mariati Robert 5/5

During the financial year, the Audit Committee had engaged on a continuous basis with senior management, Internal Auditors and 
the external auditors in order to keep abreast of matters and issues affecting the Group. The Audit Committee Chairman will report 
to the Board, matters of significant concern as when raised by the internal and external auditors and present the Audit Committee’s 
recommendations to the Board for approval.

The Company Secretary acts as the secretary to the Audit Committee. Minutes of meeting are distributed electronically to all the 
Audit Committee members for the perusal prior to confirmation of the minutes at the following Audit Committee meeting. The 
Audit Committee may request for clarification or raise comments before the minutes are tabled for confirmation. The minutes 
are signed by the Chairman of the meeting as a correct record of the proceedings of the meeting. Minutes of the Audit Committee 
meeting are also circulated to the Board for notation. 

TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Audit Committee is responsible amongst others, to review and monitor the system of internal control and audit process and 
to ensure that the Company’s financial statements comply with applicable financial reporting standards as this is integral to the 
reliability of financial statements. 

The Audit Committee is governed by its terms of reference which will be periodically reviewed and updated. The terms of reference 
are made available on the Company’s website at www.innoprise.com.my.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
REPORT
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REVIEW OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

An annual assessment and evaluation on the performance and effectiveness of the Audit Committee was undertaken by the Board 
of Directors through its Nomination Committee for the financial year ended 31 December 2024. The Audit Committee was assessed 
based on the following six key areas and the Board was satisfied that the Audit Committee had carried out its duties and functions 
in accordance with its terms of reference. 

•	 Composition and quality
•	 Process and procedures
•	 Communications and information
•	 Oversight of the financial reporting process including internal controls
•	 Oversight audit functions
•	 Financial literacy

The Board is satisfied that the Audit Committee and its members discharged their duties and responsibilities in accordance with the 
Audit Committee’s terms of reference.

TRAINING

For the year under review, all members of the Audit Committee had attended various webinar, seminars, talk, briefing and/or 
workshop either collectively or individually, details of which are set out in the CG Report. 

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES

Summary of works undertaken by the Audit Committee during the financial year encompasses the following:

1.	 Financial Reporting and Compliance

	 During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the unaudited quarterly financial statements and annual audited consolidated 
financial statements to ensure compliance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), the requirements of 
the Companies Act, 2016 and Paragraph 9.22, including Appendix 9B of the Listing Requirements, focusing particularly on 
changes in or implementation of major accounting policy changes, significant and unusual events and significant adjustments 
resulting from the audit. 

	 The Audit Committee’s recommendations were presented at the respective Board meetings held subsequently for approval.

	 To safeguard the integrity of financial statements of IPB, the Executive Director had given assurance to the Audit Committee that:

(a)	 adequate processes and controls were in place for an effective and efficient financial statement close process; 

(b)	 appropriate accounting policies had been adopted and applied consistently; 

(c)	 the relevant financial statements gave a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the IPB Group;

(d)	 the going concern basis applied in the annual financial statements and condensed consolidated financial statements was 
appropriate; and

(e)	 prudent judgements and reasonable estimates had been made in accordance with the requirements set out in the MFRSs 
and Listing Requirements.

2.	E xternal Audit

	 During the year under review, the Audit Committee had two (2) meetings and one (1) private session with Messrs Ernst & Young 
PLT. The private sessions were held without the presence of the Executive Directors, management or internal auditors. The 
Audit Committee reviewed with Messrs Ernst & Young PLT on matters relating to the audit of the statutory accounts, audit report 
and recommendations made by them in their management letter and the adequacy of management’s responses thereto. The 
Audit Committee also reviewed the non-audit services provided by Messrs Ernst & Young PLT and the aggregate amount of 
fees paid to them taking into consideration the process and requirements including fee threshold established under the policy 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
REPORT
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2.	E xternal Audit (Continued)

	 and was satisfied that they were not likely to create any conflicts of interest nor impair the independence and objectivity of 
the external auditors. As acknowledged by the external auditors, the Audit Committee was satisfied with the cooperation 
extended by management during the course of audit.

	 In the private sessions held with Messrs Ernst & Young PLT, the Audit Committee discussed the audit findings and other 
observations the external auditors may have during their audit process. There were no major concerns raised by the external 
auditors at the meetings.

	 In April 2024, the Audit Committee evaluated the performance of the external auditors based on four (4) key areas, 
namely quality of service, sufficiency of resources, communication with management and independence, objectivity and 
professionalism. The Audit Committee assessed the performance of the lead engagement partner and the engagement team 
based on the private sessions held between the Audit Committee and the external auditors. The Audit Committee had also 
invited management to join the assessment as they had substantial contact with the external audit team throughout the year. 
Being satisfied with the external auditors’ performance, technical competency, audit independence, adequacy of experience 
and resources of the firm as well as active engagement during the audit process, the Audit Committee recommended to the 
Board for approval of the re-appointment of Messrs Ernst & Young PLT as external auditors of the Company. At the last 
Annual General Meeting held on 23 May 2024, the shareholders had approved the re-appointment of Messrs Ernst & Young 
PLT as auditors of the Company. 

	 In November 2024, the Audit Committee reviewed the 2024 audit planning memorandum prepared by Messrs Ernst & Young 
PLT outlining their scope of work, approach which includes the procedures to be performed by the external auditors during 
their annual visits to the Group’s estates and mills, deliverables and proposed fees for the statutory audit and non-statutory 
audit. The Audit Committee had also reviewed and discussed the key audit matters (“KAMs”), details are reflected in the 
financial statements of this Annual Report.

	 The external auditors had provided written confirmations of their independence to the Audit Committee that they are and have 
been independent throughout the conduct of the audit engagement in accordance with the terms of all relevant professional 
and regulatory requirements. 

	 Similar evaluation on the performance of Messrs Ernst & Young PLT was carried out in April 2025 and the Audit Committee 
recommended the re-appointment of Messrs Ernst & Young PLT as external auditors of the Company for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2025.

	 The Audit Committee shall continue to review KAMs raised by the external auditors as part of its focus areas for 2025 in 
addition to its routine business. 

3.	 Internal Audit

	 The Audit Committee reviewed and approved the annual audit plan for 2024 having regard to the adequacy of scope and 
coverage of the activities of the Group. The internal audit team conducted the audit activities based on the audit plan approved 
by the Audit Committee.

	 The Internal Auditor attended the Audit Committee meetings and presented on inter-alia, summaries of the audit reports 
issued, audit recommendations provided by the internal auditors and management’s response thereto and corrective actions 
taken by management on audit issues raised by the internal auditors.

	 The Audit Committee also reviewed the performance appraisal of the internal audit members and was generally satisfied with 
the performance of the internal audit function.

4.	 Recurrent Related Party Transactions

	 All recurrent related party transactions entered into by the Group were reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure that 
they were conducted on an arm’s length commercial term and rate, which are not more favorable to the related parties than 
those generally available to the public. Reporting system and procedures were also reviewed to ascertain that the established 
guidelines and procedures have been complied with.

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
REPORT



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

85Annual Report 2024

5.	 Other Matters

	 The Audit Committee reviewed and evaluated the questionnaires completed by the Executive Director on information relating 
to risk and control environment of the Group. With the assistance of the internal audit department which reports directly to 
the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee completed its review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's systems of 
internal control and reported its findings and recommendations to the Board. The Audit Committee was satisfied that controls 
in place are adequate and functioning properly to address the risks. The Audit Committee was also satisfied with the assurance 
provided by the Internal Auditor that no material issue or major deficiency had been noted which posed a high risk to the 
overall system of internal control under review. 

	 The Audit Committee also reviewed the dividends proposed by management to ensure consistency with the Company’s long 
term dividend payout policy, taking into account the Company’s profits, cash flow and capital investment requirements. The 
Audit Committee also reviewed the solvency tests undertaken by the management and was satisfied with the results which 
showed that the Company is able to pay its debt as and when the debts become due within 12 months after distribution of said 
dividends, pursuant to Section 132(3) of the Companies Act 2016. Accordingly, the Audit Committee resolved to recommend 
the declaration of the said interim single-tier dividends for Board’s approval.

	 The Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control and the Audit Committee Report for inclusion in this Annual Report 
were reviewed by the Audit Committee prior to Board’s approval. 

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company established an Internal Audit Department which reports directly to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. The 
Internal Audit Department assists the Audit Committee in the discharge of its duties and responsibilities. Its key role is to provide 
independent and objective assurance designed to add value and assist the Group in accomplishing its objectives by bringing a 
systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.

The internal audit activities, all of which are risk-based were established after taken into consideration of the key business units of 
the Group and input from senior management and the Audit Committee members.

Every quarter, the Internal Audit Department submits a report on their audit findings and recommendations to the Audit Committee 
for its review and deliberation. The Internal Auditor attends these meetings to present the internal audit findings and makes 
appropriate recommendations on areas of concern within the Company and the Group.

For the year under review, the activities undertaken by internal audit are as follows:

(a)	 Developed an annual audit plan using a risk-based approach, taking into consideration of the key business units of the Group 
and input from senior management and the Audit Committee members.

(b)	 Provided independent assessment and objective assurance over the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management and 
internal control processes via structured reviews of units and operations identified in the annual audit plan.

(c) 	 Provided independent and objective reviews of the adequacy and relevance of internal controls enforced to mitigate the risk 
exposures. 

(d)	 Ascertained the level of compliance with established policies and procedures of the Company.

(e) 	 Recommended improvements and enhancements to the existing system of internal controls and work procedures/processes.

In addition, the Internal Audit Team of the Company’s holding company undertook an internal audit of the main operating subsidiary 
of the Company. The audit report and management’s response were tabled and discussed at Audit Committee Meeting. 

The total cost incurred in managing the Internal Audit Department in 2024 was about RM160,156.30.

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
REPORT
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN 
RESPECT OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board of Directors is required under Paragraph 15.26 (a) of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities to issue a statement 
explaining its responsibility for preparing the annual audited financial statements.

The Directors are required by the Companies Act, 2016 (“the Act”) to prepare financial statements for each financial year which 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at the end of the financial year and the results and 
cash flows of the Group and of the Company for that financial year.

The Directors consider that, in preparing the financial statements of the Group and the Company for the financial year ended 31 
December 2024 set out on pages 98 to 148 of this Annual Report, the Group and the Company have used appropriate accounting 
policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. The Directors also consider 
that all applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia have been followed and confirm that the financial statements have 
been prepared on a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company and its subsidiaries keep accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and of the Company and which enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the provision of the Act.

The Directors are also responsible for the assets of the Group and hence, for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Board has also ensured that the quarterly and annual financial statements of the Group and of the Company are released to 
the Bursa Malaysia in a timely manner in order to keep our investing public informed of the Group’s latest development.
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DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT
Directors’ report

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and provision of management services to subsidiaries. The principal 
activities of the subsidiaries are stated in Note 16 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature 
of the principal activities during the financial year.

Results

Group
RM

Company
RM

Profit net of tax 86,544,945 78,152,513

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as disclosed in the financial 
statements.

In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were not 
substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

Issue of shares and debentures 

There were no issuances of shares or debentures during the financial year.

Share options

No option was granted by the Company to any parties to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial year.

Dividends

The amounts of dividends paid by the Company since 31 December 2023 were as follows:

RM

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2023 as reported in the directors’ report of that year:

Fourth interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of RM0.03 per share on 478,857,950 ordinary shares, declared 
on 23 February 2024 and paid on 21 March 2024 14,365,738
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Dividends (continued)

The amounts of dividends paid by the Company since 31 December 2023 were as follows (continued):

RM

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2024:

First interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of RM0.0225 per share on 478,857,950 ordinary shares, 
declared on 23 May 2024 and paid on 28 June 2024 10,774,305

Second interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of RM0.03 per share on 478,857,950 ordinary shares, 
declared on 19 August 2024 and paid on 20 September 2024 14,365,738

Third interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of RM0.038 per share on 478,857,950 ordinary shares,  
declared on 25 November 2024 and paid on 23 December 2024 18,196,602

57,702,383

Subsequent to financial year end, a fourth interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend in respect of the financial year ended  
31 December 2024, of RM0.065 per share on 478,857,950 ordinary shares, amounting to RM31,125,767 was declared on  
24 February 2025 and paid on 26 March 2025.

The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this dividend. The dividend will be accounted for in equity as 
an appropriation of retained earnings in the financial year ending 31 December 2025.

Directors

The names of the directors of the Company in office since the beginning of the financial year to the date of this report are:

Datuk Hj. Majin Bin Hj. Ajing*

Tan Aik Kiong*

Dato’ Sri Haji Gulamhaidar @ Yusof Bin Khan Bahadar, J.P.* 

Datuk Jasnih Bin Daya*

Datuk Hajah Mary @ Mariati Robert

Lim Ted Hing

Ng Chee Fen*

*	 These directors are also directors of the Company’s subsidiaries.

Directors’ Report

The directors of the Company’s subsidiaries in office since the beginning of the financial year to the date of this report (not including 
those directors listed above) are:

Datuk Juil Bin Nuatim

Datuk Saharuddin Bin Salleh

Ong Chu Yaw

DIRECTORS’
REPORT
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Directors’ benefits 

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which the Company 
was a party, whereby the directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company 
or any other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than benefits 
included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors or the fixed salary of a full-time 
employee of the Company as shown below) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with any 
director or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest. 

The directors’ benefits are as follows:

Group
RM

Company
RM

Fees 398,400 254,400

Salaries and/or other emoluments 1,867,511 10,500

Benefits-in-kind 6,500 -

Total (Note 10) 2,272,411 264,900

Indemnities to directors and officers

There were no indemnities given or insurance effected during the financial year, for any person who is or has been the director or 
officer of the Group or of the Company. 

Directors’ interests

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of directors in office at the end of the financial year in shares in 
the Company during the financial year were as follows:

Number of ordinary shares

1.1.2024 Acquired Sold 31.12.2024

Direct interest:

Datuk Hj. Majin Bin Hj. Ajing 75,000 - - 75,000

Tan Aik Kiong 750,000 - - 750,000

None of the other directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in shares in the Company or its related 
corporations during the financial year.

Holding entities

The Company is a 50.22% owned subsidiary of Innoprise Corporation Sdn. Bhd., a company incorporated and domiciled in 
Malaysia, which in turn is 97.63% owned by Yayasan Sabah, established under the Sabah Foundation Enactment, 1966.

DIRECTORS’
REPORT
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Other statutory information

(a)	 Before the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group 
and of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps:

(i)	 to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance 
for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that there were no known bad debts and that adequate allowance had 
been made for doubtful debts; and

(ii)	 to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting records in the 
ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

(b)	 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:

(i)	 it necessary to write off any bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in respect of the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; and

(ii)	 the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

(c)	 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render adherence 
to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

(d)	 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading.

(e)	 At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i)	 any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which 
secures the liabilities of any other person; or

(ii)	 any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

(f)	 In the opinion of the directors:

(i)	 no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve 
months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet 
their obligations when they fall due; and

(ii)	 no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the financial 
year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group or of the 
Company for the financial year in which this report is made.

DIRECTORS’
REPORT
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Auditors 

The auditors, Ernst & Young PLT, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Auditors’ remunerations are as follows:

Group
RM

Company
RM

Ernst & Young PLT 184,000 105,000

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young PLT, as part of the terms of its 
audit engagement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount). No payment has been made 
to indemnify Ernst & Young PLT for the financial year ended 31 December 2024. 

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 21 April 2025.

Tan Aik Kiong	 Ng Chee Fen

DIRECTORS’
REPORT
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Section 251(2) of the Companies Act, 2016

Statutory Declaration
Pursuant to Section 251(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 2016

We, Tan Aik Kiong and Ng Chee Fen, being two of the directors of Innoprise Plantations Berhad, do hereby state that, in the opinion 
of the directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 98 to 148 give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and of their financial performance and their cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with MFRS Accounting Standards, IFRS Accounting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 21 April 2025. 

Tan Aik Kiong	 Ng Chee Fen

I, Ng Chee Fen, being the director primarily responsible for the financial management of Innoprise Plantations Berhad, do solemnly 
and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 98 to 148 are in my opinion correct, and I make 
this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations 
Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by
the abovenamed Ng Chee Fen at
Tawau in the State of Sabah	 Ng Chee Fen
on 21 April 2025.	 (MIA 42907)

Before me,
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
to the Members of Innoprise Plantations Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia)

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Innoprise Plantations Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial position 
as at 31 December 2024 of the Group and of the Company, and statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and notes 
to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information, as set out on pages 98 to 148.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the 
Company as at 31 December 2024, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with MFRS Accounting Standards, IFRS Accounting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

Independence and other ethical responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and 
Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year. We have determined that there are no key audit matters 
to communicate in our report on the financial statements of the Company. The key audit matter for the audit of the financial 
statements of the Group is described below. This matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements of 
the Group as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter. For the matter 
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of 
our report, including in relation to this matter. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond 
to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including 
the procedures performed to address the matter below, provide the basis of our audit opinion on the accompanying financial 
statements.

Valuation of biological assets – plantation trees

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s plantation trees was carried at RM29.3 million. The plantation trees are measured at cost 
on initial recognition and at fair value less costs to sell (“FVLCTS”) at the end of each reporting period. 

The valuation was carried out by an independent valuer with inputs and assumptions provided by an independent forester. The 
fair value was estimated based on FVLCTS which involved discounting the net future cash flows expected to be generated from 
the plantation trees, at an appropriate discount rate. The key assumptions used to determine FVLCTS include the estimated 
harvestable volume of plantation trees, the selling price of the harvestable logs and the estimated cost of extraction and delivery. 
The harvestable volume of plantation trees was estimated by the forester during the financial year. Due to the nature of fair value 
being inherently judgemental and the significant estimates involved, we have identified this to be a key audit matter. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
to the Members of Innoprise Plantations Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia)

Key audit matters (continued)

Valuation of biological assets – plantation trees (continued)

As part of the audit, we performed the following procedures: 

•	 Evaluated the appropriateness of the valuation technique applied by the Group in estimating the FVLCTS of the plantation 
trees. 

•	 Assessed the key assumptions made by the Group, the valuer and the forester in determining the fair value, including 
comparing selling prices to available market prices and evaluated the cost of extraction and delivery against recent actual 
costs incurred.

•	 Assessed the reasonableness of the discount rate used by comparing it to similar entities in the industry. 
•	 Assessed the competency, capability and objectivity of the independent valuer and forester involved in assessing the 

harvestable volume of the plantation trees. 

We have also considered the disclosures in Note 14 to the financial statements and other disclosures included in the material 
accounting policies in Note 2.6(ii) to the financial statements, as well as in the significant accounting estimates in Note 3.2(b)(ii) to 
the financial statements. 

Information other than the financial statements and auditors’ report thereon

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the Company and our auditors’ 
report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ report, and the Annual Report, which is expected to be made 
available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements of the 
Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors of the Company and take 
appropriate action.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with MFRS Accounting Standards, IFRS Accounting Standards and the requirements 
of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s 
and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s 
internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s or the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group and of 
the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for the purposes of the group audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Independent Auditors’ Report 
to the Members of Innoprise Plantations Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia)
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
to the Members of Innoprise Plantations Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia)

Other matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the Companies Act, 2016 
in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

ERNST & YOUNG PLT	AU  YONG SWEE YIN
202006000003 (LLP0022760-LCA) & AF 0039	 No.03101/02/2026 J
Chartered Accountants	 Chartered Accountant

Kota Kinabalu, Malaysia
21 April 2025



INNOPRISE PLANTATIONS BERHAD98

Financial Statements

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Group Company

Note 2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Revenue 4 276,818,894 223,643,975 79,019,000 53,019,000

Cost of sales (163,661,299) (155,610,281) - -

Gross profit 113,157,595 68,033,694 79,019,000 53,019,000

Other items of income
Interest income 5 565,071 374,502 - -

Other income 6 8,169,441 6,724,173 - -

Other items of expense
Administrative expenses (8,188,300) (6,480,874) (866,487) (810,552)

Finance costs 7 (152,523) (153,417) - -

Profit before tax 8 113,551,284 68,498,078 78,152,513 52,208,448

Income tax expense 11 (27,006,339) (16,107,278) - -

Profit net of tax, representing total 
comprehensive income for the year 86,544,945 52,390,800 78,152,513 52,208,448

Earnings per share attributable to the owners of 
the Company (sen):

Basic 12 18.07 10.94

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2024

Group Company

Note 2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 338,493,284 342,653,704 1,598 2,042

Biological assets 14 29,282,601 19,428,218 - -

Right-of-use assets 15 2,027,112 2,068,650 - -

Investments in subsidiaries 16 - - 245,855,384 245,855,384

Other receivables 18 400,424 535,192 - -

370,203,421 364,685,764 245,856,982 245,857,426

Current assets
Biological assets 14 8,868,631 4,173,971 - -

Inventories 17 8,745,773 8,797,393 - -

Trade and other receivables 18 6,707,367 7,063,445 34,481,672 14,407,074

Investment securities 19 - 1,003,021 - -

Cash and bank balances 20 42,287,692 16,082,023 69,945 78,166

66,609,463 37,119,853 34,551,617 14,485,240

Total assets 436,812,884 401,805,617 280,408,599 260,342,666

Equity and liabilities
Current liabilities
Lease liabilities 15 41,538 44,765 - -

Trade and other payables 22 23,281,003 20,610,494 124,867 509,064

Income tax payable 9,221,453 4,684,194 - -

32,543,994 25,339,453 124,867 509,064

Net current assets 34,065,469 11,780,400 34,426,750 13,976,176

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 23 65,558,712 66,560,237 - -

Lease liabilities 15 1,981,724 2,020,035 - -

67,540,436 68,580,272 - -

Total liabilities 100,084,430 93,919,725 124,867 509,064

Net assets 336,728,454 307,885,892 280,283,732 259,833,602

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company
Share capital 24 239,675,958 239,675,958 239,675,958 239,675,958

Retained earnings 97,052,496 68,209,934 40,607,774 20,157,644

Total equity 336,728,454 307,885,892 280,283,732 259,833,602

Total equity and liabilities 436,812,884 401,805,617 280,408,599 260,342,666

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Note

Share 
capital

(Note 24)
RM

Retained
earnings

RM

Total
equity

RM

Group
At 1 January 2024 239,675,958 68,209,934 307,885,892

Profit net of tax, representing total comprehensive income for  
the year - 86,544,945 86,544,945

Transactions with owners
Dividends on ordinary shares 32 - (57,702,383) (57,702,383)

At 31 December 2024 239,675,958 97,052,496 336,728,454

At 1 January 2023 239,675,958 61,310,640 300,986,598

Profit net of tax, representing total comprehensive income for  
the year - 52,390,800 52,390,800

Transactions with owners
Dividends on ordinary shares 32 - (45,491,506) (45,491,506)

At 31 December 2023 239,675,958 68,209,934 307,885,892

Company
At 1 January 2024 239,675,958 20,157,644 259,833,602

Profit net of tax, representing total comprehensive income for  
the year - 78,152,513 78,152,513

Transactions with owners
Dividends on ordinary shares 32 - (57,702,383) (57,702,383)

At 31 December 2024 239,675,958 40,607,774 280,283,732

At 1 January 2023 239,675,958 13,440,702 253,116,660

Profit net of tax, representing total comprehensive income for  
the year - 52,208,448 52,208,448

Transactions with owners
Dividends on ordinary shares 32 - (45,491,506) (45,491,506)

At 31 December 2023 239,675,958 20,157,644 259,833,602

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Group Company

Note 2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Operating activities
Profit before tax 113,551,284 68,498,078 78,152,513 52,208,448

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8 26,962,641 25,539,306 444 706

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8 41,538 44,014 - -

Dividend income 6/4 (94,565) (3,021) (79,019,000) (53,019,000)

Gain on disposal of plant and equipment 6 (112,968) (44,997) - -

Reversal of allowance for expected credit losses 
on other receivable 6 - (71,112) - -

Interest income 5 (565,071) (374,502) - -

Interest expense 7 152,523 153,417 - -

Property, plant and equipment written off 8 1,722 3 - -

Fair value changes of biological assets, net 6 (4,694,660) (3,478) - -

Total adjustments 21,691,160 25,239,630 (79,018,556) (53,018,294)

Operating cash flows before changes in  
working capital 135,242,444 93,737,708 (866,043) (809,846)

Changes in working capital:

Decrease in inventories 51,620 4,934,014 - -

Decrease/(increase) in receivables 490,846 (2,582,436) 58,944,402 45,894,924

Increase/(decrease) in payables 2,670,509 (4,063,619) (384,197) 396,735

Total changes in working capital 3,212,975 (1,712,041) 58,560,205 46,291,659



INNOPRISE PLANTATIONS BERHAD102

Financial Statements

Statements of Cash Flows 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Group Company

Note 2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Cash flow from operations 138,455,419 92,025,667 57,694,162 45,481,813

Interest received 565,071 374,502 - -

Interest paid (152,523) (153,417) - -

Income tax paid (23,470,605) (20,331,641) - -

Net cash flows from operating activities 115,397,362 71,915,111 57,694,162 45,481,813

Investing activities
Additions in biological assets (9,854,383) (7,368,350) - -

Dividends received 94,565 3,021 - -

Increase in pledged deposits (15,336) (11,828) - -

Acquisition of investment securities (10,000,000) (1,003,021) - -

Proceeds from redemption of investment securities 11,003,021 - - -

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 13 (22,922,975) (24,217,927) - -

Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 232,000 45,000 - -

Net cash flows used in investing activities (31,463,108) (32,553,105) - -

Financing activities
Dividends paid 32 (57,702,383) (45,491,506) (57,702,383) (45,491,506)

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 15 (41,538) (44,772) - -

Net cash flows used in financing activities (57,743,921) (45,536,278) (57,702,383) (45,491,506)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 26,190,333 (6,174,272) (8,221) (9,693)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 15,487,742 21,662,014 78,166 87,859

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 20 41,678,075 15,487,742 69,945 78,166

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



103Annual Report 2024

Financial Statements

Notes to the financial statements 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

1.	 Corporate information 

	 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed on the Main Market 
of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 
6th Floor, Menara Tun Mustapha, Likas Bay, 88000 Kota Kinabalu, Sabah. 

	
	 The Company is a 50.22% owned subsidiary of Innoprise Corporation Sdn. Bhd., a company incorporated and domiciled in 

Malaysia, which in turn is 97.63% owned by Yayasan Sabah, established under the Sabah Foundation Enactment, 1966.
	
	 The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and provision of management services to its subsidiaries. 

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are stated in Note 16 to the financial statements. There have been no significant 
changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.

2.	Mate rial accounting policy information
	

2.1	 Basis of preparation

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with MFRS Accounting 
Standards (“MFRS”), IFRS Accounting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

	
	 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies 

below.

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is also the 
functional currency of the Company.

2.2	 Changes in accounting policies

	 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except that, in the current 
financial year, the Group and Company adopted the following standards and amended standards (“pronouncements”) 
which are effective for annual financial periods as follows:

Description

Effective for
 annual periods

 beginning on 
or after

Amendments to MFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024

Amendments to MFRS 101: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and  
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024

Amendments to MFRS 107 and MFRS 7: Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024

	 The adoption of these pronouncements did not have any impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company.
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2.	Mate rial accounting policy information (continued)

2.3	 Standards issued but not yet effective 

	 The pronouncements that are issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group and the Company’s 
financial statements are disclosed below. The Group and the Company intend to adopt these pronouncements, if 
applicable, when they become effective.

Description

Effective for
 annual periods

 beginning on 
or after

Amendments to MFRS 121: Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025

Annual Improvements to MFRS Accounting Standards – Volume 11 1 January 2026

Amendments to MFRS 9 and MFRS 7: Contracts Referencing Nature–dependent Electricity 1 January 2026

Amendments to MFRS 9 and MFRS 7: Financial Instrument and MFRS 7: Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures: Amendments to Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments 1 January 2026

MFRS 18: Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027

MFRS 19: Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosure 1 January 2027

Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture Deferred

	 Other than MFRS 18, the pronouncements are not expected to have any material impact to the financial statements of 
the Group and the Company upon initial application. The Group is still assessing the impact to the financial statements, 
if any, upon the initial application of MFRS 18.

2.4	 Basis of consolidation

	 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the 
reporting date. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group 
controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:

(i)	 Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee);

(ii)	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
(iii)	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

	 Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and 
when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant 
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(i)	 The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee;
(ii)	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(iii)	 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

	 The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control 
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 
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2.	Mate rial accounting policy information (continued)

2.4	 Basis of consolidation (continued)

	 Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When 
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line 
with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

	 A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-
controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any 
investment retained is recognised at fair value.

	 When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss calculated as the difference between: (i) the aggregate of 
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest, and (ii) the previous carrying 
amount of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest, is recognised in profit or loss. 
The subsidiary’s cumulative gain or loss which has been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in equity are reclassified to profit or loss or where applicable, transferred directly to retained earnings. The fair value 
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the cost on initial 
recognition of the investment.

2.5	 Property, plant and equipment

	 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Group and the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

	 Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced 
in intervals, such parts are recognised as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. 
Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the property, plant 
and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

	 Bearer plants of oil palms consist of accumulated plantation development costs incurred from land clearing to the point 
of maturity of the crop cultivated. Capitalisation of plantation development and other operating costs ceases upon 
the point of maturity, which is approximately 3 years. When a bearer crop has reached the end of its useful life and is 
replanted, the carrying amount of the old bearer plants are derecognised, and the costs of the new bearer plants are 
treated as a replacement of the old bearer plants and capitalised.

	 Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

-	 Buildings	 10 - 50 years
-	 Bearer plants – oil palm	 21 years
-	 Plantation infrastructure	 50 years
-	 Motor vehicles	 10 years
-	 Equipment, furniture and fittings	 10 years
-	 Plant and machinery 	 10 years

	 Assets under construction included in property, plant and equipment as capital work-in-progress are not depreciated 
as these assets are not yet available for use.
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2.	Mate rial accounting policy information (continued)

2.5	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

	 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

	 The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

	 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in the profit or loss in the 
year the asset is derecognised.

2.6	 Biological assets 

(i)	 Fresh Fruit Bunches (“FFB”) prior to harvest

	 Biological assets classified as current assets comprised produce growing on bearer plants, i.e. oil palm FFB. FFB 
are measured at fair value less costs to sell. Any gains or losses arises from changes in the fair value less costs to 
sell are recognised in profit or loss. Fair value is determined based on the present value of expected net cash flows 
from the biological assets. The expected net cash flows are estimated using the expected output method and the 
estimated market price of the biological assets.

(ii)	P lantation trees

	 Biological assets classified as non-current assets represent standing growing trees to be harvested upon maturity. 
These plantation trees are measured at fair value less costs to sell. Any gains or losses arises from changes in the 
fair value less costs to sell are recognised in profit or loss. 

2.7	I mpairment of non-financial assets

	 The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group or 
the Company makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

	 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. For the 
purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash flows (cash-generating units (“CGU”)). 

	 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset 
is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to those units or groups of units and then, to 
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis. 

	 Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

	 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had 
no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 
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2.	Mate rial accounting policy information (continued)

2.8	 Current versus non-current classification

	 The Group and the Company present assets and liabilities in statements of financial position based on current/non-
current classification. An asset is current when it is:

-	 expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;
-	 held primarily for the purpose of trading;
-	 expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or
-	 cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve 

months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current. A liability is current when:

-	 it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;
-	 it is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
-	 it is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or
-	 there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting 

period.

	 The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counter party, result in its settlement by the issue of equity 
instruments do not affects its classification.

	 The Group and the Company classify all other liabilities as non-current.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

2.9	F inancial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement

	 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. 

(i)	 Financial assets

	I nitial recognition and measurement

	 Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (“OCI”), and fair value through profit or loss. 

	 The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not 
contain a significant financing component or for which the practical expedient has been applied, the Group and 
the Company initially measure a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component 
or for which the practical expedient has been applied are measured at the transaction price determined under 
MFRS 15.

	 In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs 
to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)’ on the principal amount 
outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. Financial 
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective 
of the business model.
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2.	Mate rial accounting policy information (continued)

2.9	F inancial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

(i)	 Financial assets (continued)

	I nitial recognition and measurement (continued)

	 The business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate 
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, 
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a 
business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows while financial 
assets classified and measured at fair value through OCI are held within a business model with the objective of 
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.

	 Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation 
or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the 
Group or the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

	 Subsequent measurement

	 For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories: 

- 	 Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments).
- 	 Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments).
- 	 Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon 

derecognition (equity instruments). 
-	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

	 Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

	 Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (“EIR”) method 
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, 
modified or impaired. 

	 Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt instruments) 

	 For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income and impairment losses or reversals are 
recognised in profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. 
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change 
recognised in OCI is recycled to profit or loss. 

	 Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments) 

	 Upon initial recognition, the Group and the Company can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as 
equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under MFRS 
132 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis. 

	 Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other 
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the Group or the Company 
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains 
are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment 
assessment. 
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2.	Mate rial accounting policy information (continued)

2.9	F inancial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

(i)	 Financial assets (continued)

	 Subsequent measurement (continued)

	F inancial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to 
be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose 
of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with 
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified 
at amortised cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be designated at fair 
value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting 
mismatch. 

	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value 
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

	 This category includes investment securities which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value 
through OCI. Dividends on investment securities are also recognised as other income in the statement of profit or 
loss when the right of payment has been established. 

	 Derecognition

	 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
primarily derecognised when: 

-	 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

-	 The Group or the Company have transferred their rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has 
assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group or the Company have transferred substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group or the Company have neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but have transferred control of the asset. 

	 When the Group or the Company have transferred their rights to receive cash flows from an asset or have entered 
into a pass-through arrangement, they evaluate if, and to what extent, they have retained the risks and rewards 
of ownership. When they have neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the 
asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group or the Company continues to recognise the transferred 
asset to the extent of their continuing involvement. In that case, an associated liability is also recognised. The 
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that 
the Group or the Company have retained. 

	 Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group or the 
Company could be required to repay.



INNOPRISE PLANTATIONS BERHAD110

Financial Statements

Notes to the financial statements 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2.	Mate rial accounting policy information (continued)

2.9	F inancial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

(i)	 Financial assets (continued)

	 Subsequent measurement (continued)

	 Impairment 

	 The Group and the Company recognise an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments 
carried at amortised cost and fair value through OCI, contract assets and lease receivables. ECLs are based on 
the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
expected to be received, discounted at the original effective interest rate (“EIR”). The expected cash flows 
will include cash flows from the sale of collaterals held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the 
contractual terms.

	 ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are 
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected 
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

	 For trade receivables, a simplified approach is applied in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track 
changes in credit risk, but instead recognised as a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date, 
estimated based on historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors 
and the economic environment.

	 A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

(ii)	 Financial liabilities

	I nitial recognition and measurement

	 Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate.

	 All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, 
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings 
including bank overdrafts, and lease liabilities.

	 Subsequent measurement

	 For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories:

-	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
-	 Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings).
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2.	Mate rial accounting policy information (continued)

2.9	F inancial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

(ii)	 Financial liabilities (continued)

	 Subsequent measurement (continued)

	 For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories: (continued)

	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

	 Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near 
term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group or the Company that 
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by MFRS 9. Separated embedded 
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

	 Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

	 Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the 
initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in MFRS 9 are satisfied. The Group and the Company have not 
designated any financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss.

	F inancial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

	 After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well 
as through the EIR amortisation process.

	 Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that 
are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

	 Derecognition 

	 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as 
the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

(iii)	 Offsetting

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.	Mate rial accounting policy information (continued)

2.10	F inancial guarantee contract

	 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due.

	 Financial guarantees issued are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequently they are measured 
at the higher of the amount of the loss allowances; and the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the 
cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with MFRS 15.

2.11	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand and demand deposits that are readily convertible 
to known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These also include bank 
overdrafts that form an integral part of the Group’s cash management. 

2.12	I nventories

	 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location and condition are accounted for as follows:

-	 Palm oil products: cost of raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and appropriate proportions of 
manufacturing overheads based on normal operating capacity.

-	 Consumable stores and supplies: purchase costs and expenses in bringing them into store on a weighted average 
cost method.

	 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

2.13	 Provisions

	 Provisions are recognised when the Group or the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and the 
amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

	 Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer 
probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the 
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage 
of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.14	 Employee benefits

(a)	 Short term benefits

	 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year in which the 
associated services are rendered by employees. Short term accumulating compensated absences such as paid 
annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future 
compensated absences. Short term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised 
when the absences occur.
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2.	Mate rial accounting policy information (continued)

2.14	 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)	 Defined contribution plans

	 Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions 
into separate entities or funds and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if any 
of the funds do not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee services in the current 
and preceding financial years. Such contributions are recognised as an expense in the profit or loss as incurred. 
As required by law, companies in Malaysia make such contributions to the Employees Provident Fund.

2.15	L eases

	 The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

	 As lessee

	 The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets 
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(i)	R ight-of-use-assets

	 The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying 
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets 
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. 

	 Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated 
useful lives of the assets, as follows:

	 Leasehold land	 Remaining lease period of 52 years

	 If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise 
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

	 The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. The policy for the recognition and measurement of 
impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2.7.

(ii)	L ease liabilities

	 At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value 
of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including  
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an 
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also 
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of 
penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group or the Company exercising the option to 
terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense (unless 
they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment 
occurs.
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2.	Mate rial accounting policy information (continued)

2.15	L eases (continued)

(ii)	L ease liabilities (continued)

	 In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses their incremental borrowing rate at the 
lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced 
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a 
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments 
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment 
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

	 The Group’s lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 15.

(iii)	 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

	 The Group and the Company apply the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., 
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a 
purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that are considered 
to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

	A s lessor

	 Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset 
are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms 
and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in 
negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease 
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rental are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are 
earned.

2.16	F air value measurement

	 The Group and the Company measure financial instruments, such as, derivatives, and non-financial assets such as 
investment properties, at fair value at each reporting date. Also, fair values of financial instruments measured at 
amortised cost are disclosed in Note 28.

	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

-	 In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
-	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

	 The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group or by the Company.

	 The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

	 A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would 
use the asset in its highest and best use.
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2.	Mate rial accounting policy information (continued)

2.16	F air value measurement (continued)

	 The Group and the Company use valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the 
use of unobservable inputs.

	 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole:

-	 Level 1 	-	 Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

-	 Level 2 	-	 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
directly or indirectly observable.

-	 Level 3 	-	 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
unobservable.

	 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group and the Company 
determine whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

	 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group and the Company have determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy, as 
explained above.

2.17	R evenue

(a)	R evenue from contracts with customers 

	 Sale of plantation produce

	 The Group’s revenue is derived mainly from agricultural produce such as crude palm oil (“CPO”), fresh fruit 
bunches (“FFB”) and palm kernel (“PK”).

	 Revenue from sale of agricultural produce is recognised net of discount at the point in time when control of the 
goods is transferred to the customer.

	 The transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation based on the standalone selling price of the 
goods.

	 There is no element of financing present as the Group’s sale of goods are either on cash terms (immediate 
payments or advance payment not exceeding 30 days); or on credit terms of up to 30 days.

(b)	O ther sources of revenue

	 Revenue from other sources is recognised as follows:

(i)	 dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(ii)	 interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis that reflects the effective yield on the assets.

(iii)	 rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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2.	Mate rial accounting policy information (continued)

2.18	 Taxes

(a)	C urrent income tax

	 Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount 
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

	 Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised 
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

(b)	 Deferred tax

	 Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

	 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

-	 when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in 
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

-	 in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of 
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilised except:

-	 when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

-	 in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax 
assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the 
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be utilised.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date.

	 Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax 
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.

	 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority.
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2.	Mate rial accounting policy information (continued)

2.19	 Segment reporting

	 For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products and services 
which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance of the 
respective segments under their charge. The segment manager report directly to the management of the Company 
who regularly review the segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess the segment 
performance. Additional disclosures on each of these segments are shown in Note 31, including the factors used to 
identify the reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

2.20	 Share capital and share issuance expenses

	 Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds received. Incremental transaction costs directly attributable to the 
issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in 
equity in the period in which they are declared.

2.21	 Contingencies

	 A contingent liability is:

(a)	 a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group or of the 
Company; or

(b)	 a present obligation that arises from past events but it is not recognised because:

(i)	 it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; or

(ii)	 the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

	 A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group or of 
the Company. 

	 Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial position of the Group and of the 
Company.

3.	 Significant accounting judgements and estimates 

	 The preparation of the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure 
of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes 
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods.

	 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made various judgements. Those which 
management has assessed to have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements have 
been discussed in the individual notes of the related financial statement line items.

	 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, 
are described in the individual notes of the related financial statement line items below. The Group based its assumptions and 
estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions 
about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the 
control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
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3.	 Significant accounting judgements and estimates (continued)

3.1	 Judgements made in applying accounting policies

	 There are no critical judgements made by the management in the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s 
accounting policies on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

3.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

	 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below.

(a)	P rovisions/contingent liability

	 Provisions are recognised in accordance with the accounting policy in Note 2.13. As detailed in Note 26, the 
Group was served with an invoice claiming for the variable lease payments for 2018 amounting to RM4,261,721 
with respect to the land used for the Group’s oil palm plantation. Variable lease rental payments for 2018, 2019, 
2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 amounting to RM4,261,721, RM3,210,593, RM6,322,110, RM14,706,925, 
RM19,519,265, RM15,480,031 and RM20,592,480 respectively were not accrued in the financial statements on 
the grounds that a valid 3rd Supplemental Agreement was signed between the parties. 

	 Management has assessed the likelihood of the outcome of the matter and concluded that it should be disclosed 
as a possible contingent liability after counsels from the Group’s solicitor. In the event of an adverse outcome 
resulting from negotiation with Benta Wawasan Sdn. Bhd., the lease rental obligations may need to be revised 
and could adversely affect future financial performance and position of the Group.

(b)	B iological assets

	 The Group carries its biological assets at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

(i)	O il palm fresh fruit bunches 

	 The determination of the fair value of oil palm FFB requires the use of estimates on the projected harvest 
quantities and market price of FFB as at the reporting date. 

	 The carrying amount and key assumptions used to determine the fair value of the biological assets are 
further disclosed in Note 14.

(ii)	P lantation trees

	 Plantation trees are stated at fair value less estimated cost to sell at the harvesting stage and is categorised 
as Level 3 measurement in terms of fair value measurement hierarchy as established by MFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement. The quantity of harvestable trees was assessed by an independent forester and the fair 
value was estimated by an external independent valuer appointed by the Group. 

	 In arriving at the fair value, the key assumptions used are the estimated harvestable volume of plantation 
trees, the selling price of the harvestable logs, the estimated cost of extraction and delivery and the 
discount rate. The valuation assumed that the harvested logs will be sold locally. All changes in fair value 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

	 The impact of changes in significant assumptions on the fair value of plantation trees is disclosed in Note 
14.
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4.	Re venue

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Revenue from contracts with customers:
Types of goods or services
Sale of oil palm fresh fruit bunches 375,161 - - -

Sale of crude palm oil 249,927,650 204,863,628 - -

Sale of palm kernel 26,516,083 18,780,347 - -

276,818,894 223,643,975 - -

Timing of revenue recognition 
At a point in time 276,818,894 223,643,975 - -

	 Revenue from contracts with customers

	 Nature of goods and services 

	 Group

Nature of 
goods or services

Timing of 
recognition or

 method used 
to recognise

 revenue

Significant
 payment 

terms

Variable 
element in

 consideration

Obligation
 for returns 

or refunds Warranty

Sale of agricultural 
produce

Revenue from sale of
 agricultural produce 
is recognised net of 

discount at the point in 
time when control of the
 goods is transferred to 

the customer. 

Credit period
 of 3 days 

(2023: 3 days)
 from invoice 

date.

Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable

	 There are no material unsatisfied performance obligations at the end of the financial year.

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Revenue from other sources
Dividend income - - 79,019,000 53,019,000
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5.	Inte rest income

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Interest income from current accounts 548,759 362,674 - -

Interest income from deposits 16,312 11,828 - -

565,071 374,502 - -

6.	 Other income

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Dividend income from investment securities 94,565 3,021 - -

Fair value changes of biological assets, net 4,694,660 3,478 - -

Gain on disposal of plant and equipment 112,968 44,997 - -

Miscellaneous income 279,181 1,933,106 - -

Reversal of allowance for expected credit losses on 
other receivable (Note 18) - 71,112 - -

Rental income 1,800 1,800 - -

Sale of empty shell - 31,433 - -

Sale of fibre 187,329 49,043 - -

Sale of sludge oil 2,798,938 4,586,183 - -

8,169,441 6,724,173 - -

7.	F inance costs

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Interest expense on:

Other interest - 469 - -

Lease liabilities (Note 15) 152,523 152,948 - -

152,523 153,417 - -
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8.	 Profit before tax

	 The following items have been included in arriving at profit before tax:

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Employee benefits expense (Note 9) 53,395,641 49,431,003 1,500 1,500

Non-executive directors’ remuneration (Note 10) 407,400 406,860 263,400 262,860

Auditors’ remuneration:

-	 Statutory audits:

-	 Current year 184,000 146,200 105,000 81,600

-	 Under/(over) provision in respect of previous 
	 years 16,300 (6,850) 11,400 4,050

-	 Other services 6,000 5,500 6,000 5,500

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
(Note 13) 26,962,641 25,539,306 444 706

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15) 41,538 44,014 - -

Management fees expense - - 105,615 105,615

Property, plant and equipment written off 1,722 3 - -

Rental expense relating to short-term leases  
(Note 15) 179,866 171,316 55,575 42,750

9.	 Employee benefits expense

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Salaries and wages 54,274,978 50,277,083 1,500 1,500

Contributions to defined contribution plan 1,762,885 1,397,765 - -

Social security contributions 362,256 257,761 - -

Employment Insurance System contributions 15,450 14,604 - -

56,415,569 51,947,213 1,500 1,500

Less:	 Amount capitalised in property, plant and
	 	 	 	 equipment (Note 13) (113,911) (123,226) - -

	 	 	 Amount capitalised in biological assets  
	 	 	 (Note 14) (2,906,017) (2,392,984) - -

53,395,641 49,431,003 1,500 1,500

	 Included in employee benefits expense of the Group and the Company are executive directors’ remuneration amounting to 
RM1,858,511 (2023: RM1,151,779) and RM1,500 (2023: RM1,500), respectively, as further disclosed in Note 10.
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10.	 Directors’ remuneration

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Executive directors’ remuneration (Note 9):

-	 Salaries and other emoluments 1,858,511 1,151,779 1,500 1,500

Non-executive directors’ remuneration (Note 8):

-	 Fees 398,400 396,860 254,400 252,860

-	 Other emoluments 9,000 10,000 9,000 10,000

407,400 406,860 263,400 262,860

Total directors’ remuneration 2,265,911 1,558,639 264,900 264,360

Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind 6,500 6,500 - -

Total directors’ remuneration including  
benefits-in-kind (Note 27(b)) 2,272,411 1,565,139 264,900 264,360

11.	Inco me tax expense

	M ajor components of income tax expense

	 The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are:

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Statements of comprehensive income
Current income tax:

Current year 28,067,399 17,734,309 - -

Over provision in respect of previous years (59,535) (5,668) - -

28,007,864 17,728,641 - -

Deferred tax (Note 23):

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary 
differences (1,251,895) (1,390,543) - -

Under/(over) provision in respect of previous years 250,370 (230,820) - -

(1,001,525) (1,621,363) - -

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 27,006,339 16,107,278 - -
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11.	Inco me tax expense (continued)

	R econciliation between tax expense and accounting profit

	 The reconciliations between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable corporate tax rate 
of the Group and of the Company for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Accounting profit before tax 113,551,284 68,498,078 78,152,513 52,208,448

Tax at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24% (2023: 24%) 27,252,308 16,439,539 18,756,603 12,530,028

Adjustments:

Non-deductible expenses 405,781 386,187 207,957 194,532

Income not subject to tax (18,571) (17,067) (18,964,560) (12,724,560)

Effect of tax exemption# (824,014) (464,893) - -

Under/(over) provision of deferred tax in respect of 
previous years 250,370 (230,820) - -

Over provision of current income tax in respect of 
previous years (59,535) (5,668) - -

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 27,006,339 16,107,278 - -

	 Income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24% (2023: 24%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. 

#	 A subsidiary, IPB Bio Energy Sdn. Bhd., has been granted Pioneer Status under Section 127 of the Income Tax Act, 
1967, with 100% tax exemption on the subsidiary’s statutory income from the operation of a biomass plant for a period 
of 10 years effective 31 December 2014 to 30 December 2024. 

12.	 Earnings per share

	 Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year, net of tax, attributable to the owners of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

	 The following table reflects the profit and share data used in the computation of basic earnings per share calculations:

Group

2024
RM

2023
RM

Profit net of tax attributable to the owners of the Company used in the computation of  
basic earnings per share (RM) 86,544,945 52,390,800

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 478,857,950 478,857,950

Basic earnings per share (sen) 18.07 10.94

	 There is no dilution in earnings per share for the current and previous financial year end as there are no dilutive potential 
ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the reporting period.

	 There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of authorisation 
of these financial statements.
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13.	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Equipment,
furniture 

and fittings
RM

Company
At 31 December 2024
Cost
At 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 132,019

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2024 129,977

Depreciation charge for the year (Note 8) 444

At 31 December 2024 130,421

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2024 1,598

At 31 December 2023
Cost
At 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 132,019

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2023 129,271

Depreciation charge for the year (Note 8) 706

At 31 December 2023 129,977

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2023 2,042

	 During the financial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment by the following means:

Group

2024
RM

2023
RM

Cash 22,922,975 24,217,927

Depreciation capitalised - 28,322 

22,922,975 24,246,249
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13.	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

	 Bearer plants

	 Included in costs of bearer plants incurred during the financial year are:

Group

2024
RM

2023
RM

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment - 28,322

Employee benefits expense (Note 9) 113,911 123,226

	 The oil palm plantation, palm oil mill and related infrastructure of the Group are sited on a parcel of land leased from Benta 
Wawasan Sdn. Bhd. (Note 15 and Note 26). 

	 Rights, titles and interests of the Group on the oil palm plantation land are pledged to a bank for loans and borrowings 
granted to a subsidiary as stated in Note 21.

14.	 Biological assets

Group

2024
RM

2023
RM

Current
Oil palm Fresh Fruit Bunches (“FFB”)
At 1 January 4,173,971 4,170,493

Transfer to produce stocks (4,173,971) (4,170,493)

Changes in fair value 8,868,631 4,173,971

At 31 December 8,868,631 4,173,971

Non-current
Plantation trees
At 1 January 19,428,218 12,059,868

Additions 9,854,383 7,368,350

At 31 December 29,282,601 19,428,218

Biological assets of the Group comprise:

Oil palm fresh fruit bunches 8,868,631 4,173,971

Plantation trees 29,282,601 19,428,218

38,151,232 23,602,189

	 Biological assets of the Group comprise oil palm FFB prior to harvest and plantation trees.
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14.	 Biological assets (continued)

	O il palm FFB

	 The valuation model adopted by the Group considers the present value of the net cash flows expected to be generated from 
the sale of FFB.

	 To arrive at the fair value of FFB, the management considered the oil content of the unripe FFB and derived the assumption 
that the net cash flows to be generated from FFB more than 4 weeks prior to harvest to be negligible. Therefore, the quantity 
of unripe FFB on bearer plants of up to 4 weeks prior to harvest was used for valuation purposes. The net present value of 
cash flows is then determined with reference to the average selling price of FFB determined at the reporting date. Costs to 
sell, which include harvesting and transportation cost, are deducted in arriving at the net cash flow to be generated.

	 The changes in fair value of the biological assets in each accounting period are recognised in profit or loss.

	 The Group’s biological assets were fair valued within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Fair value assessments have been 
completed consistently using the same valuation techniques.

	 The key assumptions used to determine the fair value are as follows:

Group

2024
RM

2023
RM

Oil palm FFB:

FFB production (MT) 22,690 21,430

Average FFB selling price (RM/MT) 912 553

	 Sensitivity analysis – Oil palm FFB

	 A 10% increase/decrease in the average oil palm FFB selling price (RM/MT) would result in the following changes to the fair 
value of the biological assets:

Group

2024
RM

2023
RM

10% increase 1,077,777 617,210

10% decrease (1,077,777) (617,210)

	P lantation trees

	 Included in additions to plantation trees during the financial year are:

Group

2024
RM

2023
RM

Employee benefits expense (Note 9) 2,906,017 2,392,984

	 Plantation trees represent standing growing Laran (Neolamarckia cadamba) trees planted as inter-cropping with oil palm at 
Kalabakan, Sabah.

	 As at the reporting date, the Group has 3,389 hectares (2023: 2,734 hectares) of leased land planted with plantation trees 
which are immature that have not yet reached the desired stage of growth that are harvestable.
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14.	 Biological assets (continued)

	 Fair value of plantation trees

	 The Group engaged an independent valuer to estimate the fair value of the plantation trees as at 31 December 2024 based 
on information and assumptions issued by an independent forester. The valuation was based on the highest and best use of 
the biological assets which is the harvesting of timber at their maturity. 

	 The following table shows the valuation techniques used and the significant unobservable inputs used. 

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

Inter-relationship between key 
unobservable inputs and fair value 
measurement

The valuation model is based on 
the discounted cash flows of the 
projections, projected for a future 
period ranging from five years to 
10 years. The expected net cash 
flows are discounted using a post-
tax risk adjusted discount rate. 

•	 Estimated log selling price
•	 Estimated harvestable volume  
(yield per hectare)

•	 Estimated extraction and delivery 
costs

•	 Post-tax risk adjusted discount rate

The estimated fair value would increase/
(decrease) if: 
•	 The estimated log price were higher/
(lower);

•	 The estimated yield per hectare were 
higher/(lower);

•	 The estimated cost of extraction and 
delivery were lower/(higher); and

•	 The post-tax risk adjusted discount 
rate was lower/(higher).

	 The fair value measurements for the plantation trees have been categorised as Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the 
valuation techniques used.

	 Sensitivity analysis

	 Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, 
would have affected the valuations by the amounts shown below.

Group

2024
RM

2023
RM

Harvestable volume

-	 Increase by 5% 1,958,000 1,217,000

-	 Decrease by 5% (1,958,000) (1,217,000)

Selling price

-	 Increase by 5% 5,889,000 3,299,000

-	 Decrease by 5% (5,889,000) (3,299,000)

Cost to sell

-	 Increase by 5% (2,945,000) (1,660,000)

-	 Decrease by 5% 2,945,000 1,660,000

Discount rate

-	 Increase by 1% (1,993,000) (1,532,000)

-	 Decrease by 1% 2,148,000 1,651,000
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15.	Leases

	 Group as a lessee

	 The Group has lease contracts for land used in its operations. 

	 The Group and the Company apply the short-term lease recognition exemption to their short-term leases of office space. 
Lease payments for short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

	 Serijaya Industri Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Agreement for Oil Palm Plantation 
dated 18 November 2005 with Benta Wawasan Sdn. Bhd. (the licensee of the land) to develop a parcel of land measuring 
approximately 22,763 hectares situated in the locality of Gunung Rara/Kalabakan, Sabah. Pursuant to the agreement, 
Serijaya Industri Sdn. Bhd. is granted the permission to develop the said land into an oil palm plantation for a period of 30 
years. On 29 August 2013, the tenure for the permission to develop the said land into oil palm plantation was extended to 60 
years. 

	 On 9 July 2018, both parties entered into a Third Supplemental Agreement of the Agreement for Oil Palm Plantation, 
whereby the subsidiary should pay rental of RM2,201,502 covering the period from year 2018 to year 2070, in an equal 
annual rent of RM41,538 and interest on the total outstanding rental sum at the rate of 8% per annum on a reducing balance 
basis.

	 Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets of the Group recognised and the movements during the period:

Leasehold
land

RM

Cost
As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024 2,288,720

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 January 2023 176,056

Depreciation charge for the year (Note 8) 44,014

As at 31 December 2023 220,070

Depreciation charge for the year (Note 8) 41,538

As at 31 December 2024 261,608

Net carrying amount
As at 31 December 2023 2,068,650

As at 31 December 2024 2,027,112
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15.	Leases  (continued)

	 Group as a lessee (continued)

	 Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities of the Group and the movements during the period:

Leasehold
land

RM

As at 1 January 2023 2,109,572

Accretion of interest (Note 7) 152,948

Payments (197,720)

As at 31 December 2023 2,064,800

Accretion of interest (Note 7) 152,523

Payments (194,061)

As at 31 December 2024 2,023,262

Interest 
rate % Maturity RM

2024
Current 8% 2025 41,538

Non-current 8% 2026 - 2070 1,981,724

2,023,262

2023
Current 8% 2024 44,765

Non-current 8% 2025 - 2070 2,020,035

2,064,800

	 The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets (Note 8) 41,538 44,014 - -

Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 7) 152,523 152,948 - -

Rental expense relating to short-term leases (Note 8) 179,866 171,316 55,575 42,750

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 373,927 368,278 55,575 42,750

	 The Group and the Company had total cash outflows for leases of RM373,927 (2023: RM369,036) and RM55,575 (2023: 
RM42,750) respectively. As at the reporting date, the Group and the Company have committed to short-term leases and the 
total commitment at the date was RM36,008 (2023: RM211,599) and RM25,650 (2023: RM76,950).
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16.	In vestments in subsidiaries

Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

Unquoted shares, at cost

-	 Ordinary shares 21,050,000 21,050,000

-	 Redeemable convertible non- cumulative preference shares 223,650,000 223,650,000

244,700,000 244,700,000

ESOS granted to employees of subsidiaries 1,155,384 1,155,384

245,855,384 245,855,384

	 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Proportion of ownership
interest held by the Group*

Name of subsidiaries

Country of 
incorporation/principal
place of business Principal activities

2024
%

2023
%

Serijaya Industri Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Operation of oil palm 
plantations and palm oil mill

100 100

IPB Bio Energy Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Producer and supplier of 
renewable energy

100 100

*	 Equals to the proportion of voting rights held. 

	 All the subsidiaries are audited by Ernst & Young PLT, Malaysia.

17.	In ventories

Group

2024
RM

2023
RM

Cost
Fresh fruit bunches 101,457 150,266

Stores and supplies 4,606,848 4,891,194

Crude palm oil 3,510,141 3,508,338

Palm kernel 527,327 247,595

8,745,773 8,797,393

	 During the year, the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales of the Group was RM163,661,299  
(2023: RM155,610,281).
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18.	 Trade and other receivables

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Current
Trade receivables
Company related to a corporate shareholder of  
the Company 4,847,096 5,409,898 - -

Other receivables
Amounts due from related parties:

-	 subsidiaries - - 6,474,598 -

-	 companies related to a corporate shareholder  
	 of the Company 98,962 157,644 - -

Deposits 161,336 143,336 7,074 7,074

Dividends receivable - - 28,000,000 14,400,000

Prepayments 739,713 219,592 - -

Sundry receivables 872,844 1,145,559 - -

1,872,855 1,666,131 34,481,672 14,407,074

Less:	 Allowance for expected credit losses  
	 	 	 - sundry receivables (12,584) (12,584) - -

1,860,271 1,653,547 34,481,672 14,407,074

6,707,367 7,063,445 34,481,672 14,407,074

Non-current 
Other receivables
Sundry receivables 470,384 605,152 - -

Less:	 Allowance for expected credit losses (69,960) (69,960) - -

400,424 535,192 - -

Total trade and other receivables 7,107,791 7,598,637 34,481,672 14,407,074

Add:	 Cash and bank balances (Note 20) 42,287,692 16,082,023 69,945 78,166

Less:	 Prepayments (739,713) (219,592) - -

Total financial assets carried at amortised cost 48,655,770 23,461,068 34,551,617 14,485,240

(a)	T rade receivables

	 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and generally on 3 days (2023: 3 days) terms. They are recognised at their 
original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

(b)	A mounts due from subsidiaries

	 Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are repayable upon demand. 
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18.	 Trade and other receivables (continued)

(c)	A mounts due from companies related to a corporate shareholder of the Company

	 These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are repayable upon demand.

(d)	O ther receivable

	E xpected credit losses

	 The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of other receivables computed based on lifetime ECL are as 
follows:

Group

2024
RM

2023
RM

At 1 January 82,544 153,656

Reversal of allowance for expected credit losses (Note 6) - (71,112)

At 31 December 82,544 82,544

19.	In vestment securities

Group

2024
RM

2023
RM

Held for trading investments, at fair value
Quoted money market funds -  1,003,021

Total financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss -  1,003,021

20.	 Cash and bank balances

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Cash on hand and at banks 16,678,075 15,487,742 69,945 78,166

Deposits with licensed bank 25,609,617 594,281 - -

Total cash and bank balances 42,287,692 16,082,023 69,945 78,166

Less:	 Deposits with maturity more than 3 months (609,617) (594,281) - -

Cash and cash equivalents 41,678,075 15,487,742 69,945 78,166
	
	 Deposits with licensed bank of the Group amounting to RM609,617 (2023: RM594,281) are pledged as security for banking 

facilities granted to the Group.

	 Deposits are placed for a period ranging from 1 month to 12 months (2023: 12 months). The weighted average effective 
interest rate of deposits with a licensed bank of the Group as at the reporting date was 3.28% (2023: 2.58%).
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21.	Loans  and Borrowings

	 The Group had secured banking facilities totalling RM37 million for purpose of working capital requirements of the Group. 
The banking facilities were not utilised as at the reporting date. These banking facilities of the Group are secured by the 
following:

(i)	 Corporate guarantees granted by the Company.

(ii) 	 Assignment of rights, title and interest including but not limited to the right to occupy and develop a parcel of land  
(Note 13).

(iii) 	 Pledge of deposits with licensed bank (Note 20).

A reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows:

Non-cash
changes

01.01.2024
RM

Cash flows
RM

Others
RM

31.12.2024
RM

Lease liabilities

-	 current 44,765 (41,538) 38,311 41,538

-	 non-current 2,020,035 - (38,311) 1,981,724

Total 2,064,800 (41,538) - 2,023,262

Non-cash
changes

01.01.2023
RM

Cash flows
RM

Others
RM

31.12.2023
RM

Lease liabilities

-	 current 44,772 (44,772) 44,765 44,765

-	 non-current 2,064,800 - (44,765) 2,020,035

Total 2,109,572 (44,772) - 2,064,800

	 The ‘others’ column is related to reclassification of non-current portion of loans and borrowings due to passage of time.

22.	 Trade and other payables

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Trade payables
Third parties 1,876,870 4,017,565 - -
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22.	 Trade and other payables (continued)

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Other payables
Amounts due to related parties:

-	 subsidiaries - - - 414,049

-	 corporate shareholder of the company 141,566 16,189 - -

-	 companies related to a corporate shareholder of  
	 the company 70,800 15,914 - -

-	 a subsidiary of holding company 455,400 455,400 - -

Accruals 11,041,729 7,130,157 109,275 92,287

Retention sum for contract work 819,323 589,953 - -

Sundry payables 8,875,315 8,385,316 15,592 2,728

21,404,133 16,592,929 124,867 509,064

Total trade and other payables 23,281,003 20,610,494 124,867 509,064

Add:	 Lease liabilities (Note 15) 2,023,262 2,064,800 - -

Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 25,304,265 22,675,294 124,867 509,064

(a)	T rade payables

	 Trade payables are non-interest bearing and the normal credit terms granted to the Group range from one month to 
three months (2023: one month to three months).

(b)	 Sundry payables

	 Sundry payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of 30 to 60 days (2023: 30 to 60 days). 

(c)	A mounts due to related parties

	 These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are repayable upon demand.
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23.	 Deferred tax

As at
 1 January 

2023
RM

Recognised in
 profit or loss

(Note 11)
RM

As at 
31 December

2023
RM

Recognised in
 profit or loss

(Note 11)
RM

As at 
31 December

2024
RM

Group
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment 68,449,168 (1,621,179) 66,827,989 (2,128,243) 64,699,746

Right-of-use assets 742 495,734 496,476 (9,969) 486,507

Biological assets 3,266,069 1,514,255 4,780,324 3,193,446 7,973,770

71,715,979 388,810 72,104,789 1,055,234 73,160,023

Deferred tax assets:
Accrual of land lease rental (1,269,230) - (1,269,230) - (1,269,230)

Lease liabilities - (495,552) (495,552) 9,969 (485,583)

Unabsorbed capital and 
agriculture allowances (2,265,149) (1,514,621) (3,779,770) (2,066,728) (5,846,498)

(3,534,379) (2,010,173) (5,544,552) (2,056,759) (7,601,311)

68,181,600 (1,621,363) 66,560,237 (1,001,525) 65,558,712

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following item:

Group and Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

Unutilised business losses 2,093,350 2,093,350

At statutory tax rate 24% 24%

502,404 502,404

	U nutilised business losses

	 At the reporting date, the Company has business losses that is available for offset against future taxable profits of the 
Company, for which no deferred tax assets are recognised because it is not probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the Company can use the benefits therefrom. The use of these tax losses is subject to the agreement 
of the tax authority and compliance with certain provisions of the tax legislation. Pursuant to Section 44(5F) of the Income 
Tax Act, 1967, the unutilised business losses can only be carried forward until the following year of assessment:

Group and Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

Year of assessment 2028 2,093,350 2,093,350
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24.	 Share capital

Number of ordinary
shares Amount

2024 2023 2024
RM

2023
RM

Issued and fully paid up, at no par value
At 1 January/31 December 478,857,950 478,857,950 239,675,958 239,675,958

	 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares 
carry one vote per share and rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

25.	 Capital commitments

Group

2024
RM

2023
RM

Property, plant and equipment:

	 Approved and contracted for 3,211,240 6,534,958

26.	 Contingent liability

	 Claim made by Benta Wawasan Sdn. Bhd.

	 Based on the Agreement for Oil Palm Plantation entered between Benta Wawasan Sdn. Bhd. (“Benta”) and a subsidiary, 
Serijaya Industri Sdn. Bhd. (“SJI”) dated 18 November 2005 together with the 1st and 2nd Supplemental Agreements (the 
“AOPP Agreements”), SJI would need to pay a variable lease payment based on FFB production starting in 2017. On 9 July 
2018, SJI and Benta entered into a Third Supplemental Agreement (the “3rd Supplemental Agreement”), whereby both 
parties mutually agreed that SJI should pay rental on the land for oil palm plantation of RM2,201,502 covering the period 
from year 2018 to year 2070 in an equal annual payment of RM41,538 and interest on the total outstanding rental sum 
at the rate of 8% per annum on a reducing balance basis. A right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability have been 
accounted for and disclosed in Note 15.

	 Via a letter dated 10 January 2019, Benta informed SJI that the 3rd Supplemental Agreement was not approved by the board 
of directors of Benta. Subsequently, Benta issued a letter dated 6 March 2019 and an invoice dated 8 March 2019, claiming 
for the variable lease payments for year 2017 and year 2018 amounting to RM5,288,459 and RM4,261,721 respectively, 
based on the terms of the AOPP Agreements. The rental for year 2017 of RM5,288,459 has been recognised by the Group. 

	 For the financial year ended 31 December 2018, other than the fixed rental amount of RM41,538, no variable lease payment 
was recognised. The variable lease payments for the financial years ended 31 December 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 
and 2024, should the terms in the AOPP Agreements be applied, amounted to approximately RM3,210,593, RM6,322,110, 
RM14,706,925, RM19,519,265, RM15,480,031 and RM20,592,480 respectively. These amounts were also not recognised 
in these financial statements as the Group believes that the 3rd Supplemental Agreement is a valid and binding agreement 
mutually agreed between the parties.

	 SJI has been advised by its legal counsel that SJI has a strong case to continue and to maintain that the 3rd Supplemental 
Agreement is valid and binding. Further, Benta would be time-barred from commencing an arbitration or court action or 
application to set aside the 3rd Supplemental Agreement on 10 January 2025, which is six years from the date on which Benta 
discovered that the 3rd Supplemental Agreement was not approved by its Board of Directors and the date on which Benta 
wrote to SJI to dispute the same. 
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26.	 Contingent liability (continued)

	 Claim made by Benta Wawasan Sdn. Bhd. (continued)

	 As at the financial year end, Benta has not commenced an arbitration or court action or application (“legal proceedings”) to 
set aside the 3rd Supplemental Agreement. No such legal proceedings were initiated up to 10 January 2025. Consequently, 
the directors are of the view that Benta is time-barred by limitation to commence legal proceedings to set aside the  
3rd Supplemental Agreement. Therefore, the directors are of the view that no contingent liability resulting from this claim 
exists after 10 January 2025.

27.	Re lated party transactions

(a)	 Sale and purchase of goods and services

	 In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following significant 
transactions between the Group and related parties took place at terms agreed between the parties during the 
financial year:

2024
RM

2023
RM

Group
Income
Companies related to a corporate shareholder of the Company:
Sale of oil palm fresh fruit bunches 375,161 -

Sale of crude palm oil 249,927,650 204,863,628

Sale of palm kernel 26,516,083 18,780,347

Sale of shell and fibre 262,138 -

Expenditures
Companies related to holding company:
Purchase of oil palm fresh fruit bunches - 2,027,893

Lease of land 194,061 197,720

Corporate shareholder of the Company - TSH Resources Berhad:
Rental of office 124,291 124,291

Mill management fee 128,128 -

Companies related to a corporate shareholder of the Company:
Rental of heavy equipment - 126,000

Purchase of tree seedlings 848,580 869,760
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27.	Re lated party transactions (continued)

(a)	 Sale and purchase of goods and services (continued)

2024
RM

2023
RM

Company
Expenditures
Subsidiaries:
Management fees 105,615 105,615

Companies related to holding company:
Rental of office 55,575 42,750

	 Information regarding outstanding balances arising from related party transactions as at reporting date are disclosed 
in Note 18 and Note 22.

(b)	 Compensation of key management personnel, who are also directors of the Company and the Group, are as 
follows:

Group Company

2024
RM

2023
RM

2024
RM

2023
RM

Directors’ remuneration (Note 10) 2,272,411 1,565,139 264,900 264,360

28.	Fa ir value of assets and liabilities

Determination of fair value

	 Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of 
fair value

	 The followings are classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are 
reasonable approximation of fair value:

Note

Trade and other receivables 18

Trade and other payables 22

Lease liabilities 15

	 The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair values due to the  
short-term maturities of these instruments or evaluated by the Group based on estimation by discounting expected future 
cash flows at market incremental lending rate for similar types of lending arrangements. 

	 The carrying amounts of the current portion of lease liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair values due to the 
insignificant impact of discounting.

	 The fair values of lease liabilities are estimated by discounting expected future cash flows at market incremental lending rate 
for similar types of lending, borrowing or leasing arrangements at the reporting date.
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28.	Fa ir value of assets and liabilities (continued)

	 Determination of fair value (continued)

	 The following tables provide an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair values at the reporting date analysed by the 
various levels within the fair value hierarchy:

	

Level 1
RM

Level 2
RM

Level 3
RM

Total
RM

Group
Financial assets measured at fair value
2024 

Investment securities - - - -

2023
Investment securities 1,003,021 - - 1,003,021

	 There have been no transfers between the fair value hierarchy during the financial year.

29.	F inancial risk management objectives and policies

	 The Group and the Company is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial instruments. The 
key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and market price risk.

	 The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to the above-mentioned financial 
risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

(a)	 Credit risk

	 Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on its 
obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables. For other financial 
assets (including investment securities and cash and bank balances), the Group minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively 
with high credit rating counterparties.

	 The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased credit 
risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all 
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. 

	 Exposure to credit risk 

	 At the reporting date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by:

-	 The carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the statements of financial position.

-	 A nominal amount of RM37,000,000 (2023: RM37,000,000) relating to corporate guarantee provided by the 
Company to bankers on credit facilities granted to a subsidiary.
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29.	F inancial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(a)	 Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk concentration profile
	
At the reporting date, 100% (2023: 100%) of the Group’s trade receivable was due from one major related party.

	T rade receivables

	 Customer credit risk is managed by the Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating to customer credit 
risk management. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on an extensive credit rating scorecard and individual 
credit limits are defined in accordance with this assessment. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored.

	 The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets 
disclosed in Note 18. The Group does not hold collateral as security.

	 Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivable:

Gross
carrying
amount

RM

Loss 
allowance
 provision

RM

31 December 2024
Current 4,847,096 -

1 to 30 days past due - -

31 to 60 days past due - -

61 to 90 days past due - -

More than 91 days past due - -

4,847,096 -

31 December 2023
Current 5,409,898 -

1 to 30 days past due - -

31 to 60 days past due - -

61 to 90 days past due - -

More than 91 days past due - -

5,409,898 -

(b)	L iquidity risk

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to 
shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the 
maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between 
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities. 
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29.	F inancial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(b)	L iquidity risk (continued)

On demand 
or within 
one year

RM

One to 
five years

RM

Over five
years

RM
Total

RM

Group
2024 

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 5,980,238 470,384 - 6,450,622

Cash and bank balances 42,287,692 - - 42,287,692

Total undiscounted financial assets 48,267,930 470,384 - 48,738,314

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 23,281,003 - - 23,281,003

Lease liabilities 191,074 731,065 4,427,900 5,350,039

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 23,472,077 731,065 4,427,900 28,631,042

Total net undiscounted financial assets/
(liabilities) 24,795,853 (260,681) (4,427,900) 20,107,272

2023 

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 6,856,437 605,152 - 7,461,589

Cash and bank balances 16,082,023 - - 16,082,023

Total undiscounted financial assets 22,938,460 605,152 - 23,543,612

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 20,610,494 - - 20,610,494

Lease liabilities  194,399 744,357 4,605,682 5,544,438

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 20,804,893 744,357 4,605,682 26,154,932

Total net undiscounted financial assets/
(liabilities) 2,133,567 (139,205) (4,605,682) (2,611,320)



INNOPRISE PLANTATIONS BERHAD144

Financial Statements

Notes to the financial statements 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

29.	F inancial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(b)	L iquidity risk (continued)

On demand or within one year

2024
RM

2023
RM

Company
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables 34,481,672 14,407,074

Cash and bank balances 69,945 78,166

Total undiscounted financial assets 34,551,617 14,485,240

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables 124,867 509,064

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 124,867 509,064

Total net undiscounted financial assets 34,426,750 13,976,176

Financial guarantee contracts* 37,000,000 37,000,000

* 	 Based on the maximum that can be called under financial guarantee contacts.

(c)	M arket price risk

	 The Group is exposed to market price risk from its operations. The market price of fresh fruit bunches, crude palm oil 
and palm kernel is determined by the supply, pricing and demand. These factors can result in fluctuations in the market 
price.

30.	 Capital management

	 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy 
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

	 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain 
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders 
or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the financial years ended 31 
December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

	 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group’s policy 
is to keep the gearing ratio below 40%. The Group includes within net debts, loans and borrowings, lease liabilities, trade and 
other payables, less cash and cash equivalents.
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30.	 Capital management (continued)

Group Company

Note
2024

RM
2023

RM
2024

RM
2023

RM

Lease liabilities 15 2,023,262 2,064,800 - -

Trade and other payables 22 23,281,003 20,610,494 124,867 509,064

Less:	 Cash and cash equivalents 20 (41,678,075) (15,487,742) (69,945) (78,166)

Net (cash)/debt (16,373,810) 7,187,552 54,922 430,898

Capital:

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 336,728,454 307,885,892 280,283,732 259,833,602

Capital and net debt N/A* 315,073,444 280,338,654 260,264,500

Gearing ratio N/A* 2% - -

*	 N/A as the Group is in a net cash position.

31.	 Segment information

	 For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their product and services, and has two 
reportable operating segments as follows:

(i)	 Palm and bio-integration	 -	 Cultivation of oil palm and plantation trees, manufacture and sale of crude palm oil 
and palm kernel, and generation and supply of electricity from a biomass plant; and

(ii)	 Corporate	 -	 Group level corporate services and treasury functions.

	 Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about 
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss which, 
in certain respects as explained in the table below, is measured differently from operating profit or loss in the consolidated 
financial statements. Group financing (including finance costs) is managed on a group basis and is not allocated to operating 
segments.

	 Segment analysis by geographical locations has not been presented as the Group’s operations are predominantly conducted 
in Malaysia.
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31.	 Segment information (continued)

Note	 Nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements.

A	 Other material non-cash expenses consist of the following items as presented in the respective notes to the 
financial statements:

2024
RM

2023
RM

Property, plant and equipment written off 1,722 3

Reversal of allowance for expected credit losses on other receivable - (71,112)

1,722 (71,109)

B	 The following items are deducted from segment profit to arrive at profit before tax presented in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income:

2024
RM

2023
RM

Dividend income from subsidiaries (79,019,000) (53,019,000)

C	 Additions to non-current assets consist of:

2024
RM

2023
RM

Property, plant and equipment 22,922,975 24,246,249

Biological assets-plantation trees 9,854,383 7,368,350

32,777,358 31,614,599

32.	 Dividends

2024
RM

2023
RM

Recognised during the financial year
Dividends on ordinary shares:
First interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of RM0.0225 per share in respect of 2024 10,774,305 -

Second interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of RM0.03 per share in respect of 2024 14,365,738 -

Third interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of RM0.038 per share in respect of 2024 18,196,602 -

Fourth interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of RM0.03 per share in respect of 2023 14,365,738 -

First interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of RM0.02 per share in respect of 2023 - 9,577,159

Second interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of RM0.0225 per share in respect of 2023 - 10,774,305

Third interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of RM0.0275 per share in respect of 2023 - 13,168,593

Fourth interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend of RM0.025 per share in respect of 2022 - 11,971,449

57,702,383 45,491,506
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32.	 Dividends (continued)

	 Subsequent to financial year end, a fourth interim single-tier tax-exempt dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 
December 2024, of RM0.065 per share on 478,857,950 ordinary shares, amounting to RM31,125,767 was declared on 24 
February 2025 and paid on 26 March 2025.

	 The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this dividend. The dividend will be accounted for in 
equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the financial year ending 31 December 2025.

33.	 Authorisation of financial statements for issue

	 The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 were authorised for issue by the Board in 
accordance with a resolution of the directors on 21 April 2025.
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SHAREHOLDINGS STRUCTURE 
As at 28 March 2025

Issued & Paid-up Capital	  :	 RM239,675,958
Class of Shares	  :	 Ordinary shares
Voting Rights	  : 	One vote per ordinary share

Distribution of Shareholdings

Size of Shareholdings
No. 

of holders %
No. 

of shares %

1	 -	 99 33 0.52 956 0.00

100	 -	 1,000 1,944 30.38 1,640,092 0.34

1,001	 -	 10,000 3,251 50.81 14,419,919 3.01

10,001	 -	 100,000 1,017 15.90 32,244,773 6.74

100,001	 -	 23,942,898 (*) 149 2.33 84,197,211 17.58

23,942,899	 -	 and above (**) 2 0.03 345,529,999 72.16

Directors’ Holding 2 0.03 825,000 0.17

TOTAL 6,398 100.00 478,857,950 100.00

* 	 - Less than 5% of issued holdings
** 	 - 5% and above of issued holdings

LIST OF TOP 30 SECURITIES ACCOUNT HOLDERS

No. Name
No. 

of shares held %

1. Innoprise Corporation Sdn. Bhd. 240,469,407 50.22

2. TSH Resources Berhad 105,060,592 21.94

3. UOB Kay Hian Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
Exempt AN for UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd (A/C Clients) 21,564,417 4.50

4. Alliance Group Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Pledged Securities Account for Mutual Corridor Sdn. Bhd. (7005036) 6,270,000 1.31

5. Fong Siling 5,000,000 1.04

6. RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Pledged Securities Account for Salbiah Binti Shuib (CEB) 4,075,000 0.85

7. Ronie Tan Choo Seng 1,896,000 0.40

8. Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Pledged Securities Account – Ambank (M) Berhad For Tan Aik Pen (SMART) 1,880,000 0.39

9. Hildegard Maria Scheel 1,636,000 0.34

10. Suresh A/L Thirugnanam  1,450,450 0.30

11. HLB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 
Pledged Securities Account for Teh Sun Nee 1,399,000 0.29

12. CGS International Nominees Malaysia (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Pledged Securities Account for Gan Chee Peng (Connaught-CL) 1,200,000 0.25

13. CGS International Nominees Malaysia (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Pledged Securities Account for Ronie Tan Choo Seng 1,200,000 0.25
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LIST OF TOP 30 SECURITIES ACCOUNT HOLDERS (CONTINUED)

No. Name
No. 

of shares held %

14. Affin Hwang Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Pledged Securities Account for Ronie Tan Choo Seng 1,000,000 0.21

15. Ronie Tan Choo Seng 962,800 0.20

16. HLB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Salbiah Binti Shuib 921,000 0.19

17. HLIB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 
Pledged Securities Account for Yap Qwee Beng 900,000 0.19

18. Tan Aik Pen 875,000 0.18

19. Pacific Trustees Berhad
Exempt An For ET Smart Wealth Sdn Bhd (Clients’ Account) 858,000 0.18

20 Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
The Bank Of New York Mellon For Acadian Emerging Markets Micro-Cap 
Equity Master Fund 826,401 0.17

21. Tan Aik Kiong 750,000 0.16

22. DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
SSBT Fund Omua for Teachers’ Retirement System Of The State Of Illinois 748,500 0.16

23. Leong Kok Khoon 696,700 0.15

24. Foong Hong Meng @ Foong Lai Choong 642,900 0.13

25. Davinder Singh Dhillon 600,000 0.12

26. Ding Siew Choo 600,000 0.12

27. CGS International Nominees Malaysia (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 
Pledged Securities Account for Pang Fong Thau (KKinabalu-CL) 568,600 0.12

28. Hong Weng Hwa 560,450 0.12

29. Ang Kian Kok 502,000 0.11

30. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
Chin Vong 500,000 0.11

TOTAL 405,613,217 84.70

Substantial Shareholdings

According to the register to be kept under Section 144 of the Companies Act 2016, the following is the substantial shareholder 
of the Company having an interest of five percent (5%) or more of the aggregate of the amounts of all the voting shares of the 
Company:

No. Name
No. 

of shares held %

1. Innoprise Corporation Sdn. Bhd. 240,479,407 50.22

2. TSH Resources Berhad 105,060,592 21.94
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Directors’ Shareholdings

According to the register to be kept under Section 59 of the Companies Act, 2016, the directors’ shareholdings in the Company 
are as follows:

No. of shares held

No. Name Direct % Indirect %

1. Datuk Hj. Majin Bin Hj. Ajing 75,000 0.01 - -

2. Tan Aik Kiong 750,000 0.16 - -

Except for Datuk Hj. Majin Bin Hj. Ajing and Tan Aik Kiong, none of the other directors of the Company has any interest, direct or 
indirect, in the shares of the Company.
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NOTICE OF 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the 31st Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Belian Room, 7th Floor, Borneo 
Royale Hotel, Eastern Plaza, Mile 1, Jalan Kuhara, 91000 Tawau, Sabah on Monday, 26 May 2025 at 11:30 am to transact the 
following business:

AGENDA

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.	 To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 and 
the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

2.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for the Group of an amount up to but not exceeding 
RM600,000 from 27 May 2025 until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

3.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ allowances and benefits for the Group of an amount up 
to but not exceeding RM80,000 from 27 May 2025 until the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company.

4.	 To re-elect the following directors retiring pursuant to Clause 100 of the Company’s Constitution:

	 (a) 	 Encik Tan Aik Kiong
	 (b)	 Encik Ng Chee Fen

5.	 To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young PLT as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors 
to fix their remuneration.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
 		
6.	 To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution: 

	OR DINARY RESOLUTION
	 Proposed Renewal of the Existing Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party 

Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature

	 “ THAT, approval be and is hereby given, for the Renewal of the Existing Shareholders’ Mandate for 
the Company and/or its subsidiaries to enter into recurrent related party transactions of a revenue 
or trading nature as set out in Section 2.4.2(a) of the Circular to Shareholders dated 28 April 2025 
with the related parties described therein provided such transactions are necessary for the Group’s 
day to day operations, carried out in the normal course of business, at arm’s length, on normal 
commercial terms, not more favourable to the related parties than those generally available to the 
public and are not to the detriment of the minority shareholders;

		
	 AND THAT, such approval shall continue to be in force until:

(a)	 the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company, at which time it will lapse, 
unless by a resolution passed at the meeting, the authority is renewed; or

(b)	 the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the Company 
after that date is required to be held pursuant to Section 340(2) of the Companies Act 2016 
(“the Act”) (but shall not extend to such extension as may be allowed pursuant to Section 340(4) 
of the Act); or

Please refer to
Explanatory 

Notes (a)

Resolution 1

Resolution 2

Resolution 3
Resolution 4

Resolution 5

Resolution 6
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(c)	 revoked or varied by a resolution passed by the shareholders in general meeting,

	 whichever is the earlier.

	 AND FURTHER THAT the Directors be and are hereby authorised to complete and do such acts and 
things as may be required by the relevant authorities (including executing such documents as may 
be required) to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised by this Ordinary 
Resolution.”

7.	 To transact any other business of the Company of which due notice shall have been given to the 
Company in accordance with the Company’s Constitution and the Act.

By Order of the Board

Dorothy Luk Wei Kam (SSM PC No. 202008001484) (MAICSA7000414)
Chan Ai Hoon (SSM PC No. 202008003338) (LS0000393)
Company Secretaries

Kota Kinabalu, Sabah
Dated: 28 April 2025

NOTES
 
(a)	 A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of him and that 

a proxy need not be a member of the Company.

(b)	 For the purpose of determining member’s eligibility to attend this meeting, only member whose name appears in the Record 
of Depositors as at 19 May 2025 shall be entitled to attend this meeting or appoint proxy to attend and/or vote on his behalf.

 
(c)	 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company, shall be entitled to appoint not more than 

two (2) proxies to attend and vote in his stead at the meeting. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy. 
Where a member appoints two (2) proxies, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholdings to be represented by each 
proxy, failing which the appointment shall be invalid.

(d)	 Where a member of the Company is an Exempt Authorised Nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple 
beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the Exempt 
Authorised Nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

 
(e)	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney or if the appointor is a 

corporation under the seal, and the person so appointed may attend and vote at any meeting at which the appointor is entitled 
to vote.

 
(f)	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 6th Floor, Menara Tun 

Mustapha, Likas Bay, 88400 Kota Kinabalu, Sabah, at least forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the 
meeting or adjourned meeting.

 
(g)	 Pursuant to Paragraph 8.29A(1) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, all resolutions 

set out in this Notice will be put to vote on a poll. 
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EXPLANATORY NOTES
 
(a)	 Audited Financial Statements for Financial Year Ended 31 December 2024

	 Agenda 1 is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 340(1)(a) of the Companies Act 2016 does not require a 
formal approval of the shareholders for the Audited Financial Statements. Hence, it will not be put forward for voting.

	
(b)	 Proposed Renewal of the Existing Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or 

Trading Nature

	 The proposed Resolution 6, if passed, will allow the Company and/or its subsidiaries to enter into recurrent related party 
transactions of a revenue or trading nature with the mandated related parties provided that such transactions are necessary 
for the Group’s day to day operations, carried out in the normal course of business, at arm’s length, on commercial terms which 
are not more favourable to the related parties than those generally available to the public and not detrimental to the minority 
shareholders. Shareholders are directed to refer to the Circular to Shareholders dated 28 April 2025 for more information.

1.	 Details of persons who are standing for election as Directors

	 No individual is seeking election as a Director at the 31st Annual General Meeting of the Company.

STATEMENT ACCOMPANYING 
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

NOTICE OF 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 



INNOPRISE PLANTATIONS BERHAD
Registration No. 199301030333 (285072-M)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

PROXY FORM

CDS Account No.

I/We,  NRIC No./ Passport No. /Company No.

of 

being a *member/members of INNOPRISE PLANTATIONS BERHAD hereby appoint 

NRIC No./Passport No.  of 

or failing him/her  NRIC No./Passport No.

of 

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the 
31st Annual General Meeting of the Company, to be held at Belian Room, 7th Floor, Borneo Royale Hotel, Eastern Plaza, Mile 1, 
Jalan Kuhara, 91000 Tawau, Sabah, on Monday, 26 May 2025 at 11:30 am and any adjournment thereof.

I/We direct my/our proxy to vote for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting as hereinunder indicated.

No. Resolutions FOR AGAINST

1. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for the Group from 27 May 2025 until the next 
Annual General Meeting.

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ allowances and benefits for the Group from 27 May 
2025 until the next Annual General Meeting.

3. To re-elect Encik Tan Aik Kiong as Director.

4. To re-elect Encik Ng Chee Fen as Director.

5. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young PLT as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the 
Directors to fix their remuneration.

6. Proposed Renewal of the Existing Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party 
Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature.

(Please indicate with an “X” in the space provided for each resolution. Unless voting instructions are indicated in the space 
above, the proxy will vote or abstain as he/she thinks fit and if no name is inserted in the space for the name of proxy, the 
Chairman of the Meeting will act as proxy).

Dated this  day of  2025

Signature/Common Seal of Member(s)

Percentage of shareholdings to be represented by proxies:

No. of Shares Percentage
Proxy 1
Proxy 2
Total 100%

No. of Shares held



The Company Secretary
Innoprise Plantations Berhad
Registration No. 199301030333 (285072-M)
6th Floor, Menara Tun Mustapha,
Likas Bay, 88400 Kota Kinabalu, Sabah.
Tel	 : 088 - 326 415
Fax	 : 088 - 432 104

2nd fold here

Fold this for sealing

1st fold here

Affiax
Stamp

NOTES
(a)	 A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of him and that a proxy need not be a member of the Company.

(b)	 For the purpose of determining member’s eligibility to attend this meeting, only member whose name appears in the Record of Depositors as at 19 May 2025 shall be entitled to attend 
this meeting or appoint proxy to attend and/or vote on his behalf.

 
(c)	 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company, shall be entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote in his stead at 

the meeting. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy. Where a member appoints two (2) proxies, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholdings to be 
represented by each proxy, failing which the appointment shall be invalid.

(d)	 Where a member of the Company is an Exempt Authorised Nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus 
account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the Exempt Authorised Nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

 
(e)	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney or if the appointor is a corporation under the seal, and the person so appointed 

may attend and vote at any meeting at which the appointor is entitled to vote.
 
(f)	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 6th Floor, Menara Tun Mustapha, Likas Bay, 88400 Kota Kinabalu, Sabah, at least 

forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting.
 
(g)	 Pursuant to Paragraph 8.29A(1) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, all resolutions set out in this Notice will be put to vote on a poll. 
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